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To Our Shareholders

In my letter to you last year, we reported that Independence Holding Company
(NYSE:IHC) celebrated its 25tH anmversary, listed on the New York Stock Exchange and
produced record operating income in 2004. Although significantly lower investment income
(due primarily to lower bond y1elds) and a contrnurng “soft” medical stop-loss market
prevented IHC from matching its 2004 reported income, we delivered a healthy return to
shareholders in 2005. And, more| importantly, we consider 2005 to have been a watershed
year for IHC because we laid a firm foundation for a much larger, more diversified and,
expectedly, more profitable life and health insurance company.

We believe that the United States is in the midst of a revolution in the way healthcare
is financed; those companies that prosper will be the ones that are able to quickly adapt
through flexible distribution models and new product offerings. There is a discernable
migration away from traditional health insurance plans and toward a wide array of
Consumer Driven Healthcare Plans (“CDHPs”) and specialty products such as short-term
medical (“STM”) and limited medrcal CDHPs most often include increased cost-sharing
using high-deductible health plans wrapped around health reimbursement accounts
(“HRA”) and health savings accounts (“HSA”) with the goal of putting consumers at the
center of healthcare decision-making. All of these products are available to our agent and
customer constituencies.

Through the acquisition of Insurers Administrative Corporation (“IAC”), Health Plan
Administrators (“HPA”), and GroupLink Inc. (“GroupLink”), we have assembled a
management group which has been developing, distributing and administering innovative
fully-insured health and dental’ insurance plans for over 28 years. IHC’s insurance
subsidiaries are distributing a complete array of fully-insured products through over 50,000
general agents, agents and brokers in the majority of states. We believe these producers
comprise one of the largest networks focusmg on the sale of fully-insured health products in
the country, and they will be the engme that drives our growth. Although, at present, many
of our agents may only sell a single health product in our portfolio, our goal is to have our
agents sell all of our products. How will we accomplish this goal? First, we have added to
our senior management team new leaders who have built their careers on serv1cmg health
insurance agents. Second, we are building the IHC brand by telling our story in trade
publications and through 1ndustry events. Third, we are developing various incentive
programs to encourage agents to expand the number of our products they are selling. We
believe it is important to align our interests with those of our agents at a time when many
agents representrng small businesses and individuals are seeking an alternative to the very
large health insurance conglomerates

For 2006, our business planr is to: (i) improve the profitability of our core lines of
business, in particular medical stop-loss, while expanding distribution, (ii) diversify our
product mix by accelerating our expansion into the fully-insured health sector, and thereby
reduce the volatility of our portfolio of insurance products and exposure to market cycles,
(iii) better define and promote our corporate brand, while creating incentives for our agents
to cross-sell our products, and (iv) continue to acquire blocks of life, annuity and dental
business.

Profitability of Core Lines of Business

Medical stop-loss continues to be our largest product line (constituting approximately
$270 million of gross earned premiums), and we are one of the leading writers of this
business in the United States. The reduced profitability of this line in 2005 contributed to
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the decrease in this past year’s earnings, although to a lesser extent than the decrease in
investment earnings as a result of lower bond yields. IHC has always emphasized
underwriting profits and not top line growth, and even in the ‘“soft” medical stop-loss
market of recent years, we have achieved profitable returns. In 2005, the Company
increased rates and made changes as a result of comprehensive auditing and analysis of the
driving factors in our net loss ratios. Based on currently available information, business
incepting in 2005, of which a material portion will be earned and recorded in 2006, is
projected to achieve a net loss ratio that is more favorable than the previous year. We expect
business incepting in 2006 to continue to be profitable. In addition, fully-insured health
business tends to be less volatile and less cyclical in nature than medical stop-loss.
Therefore, as we increase the percentage of our health premiums derived from fully-insured
business, our overall health block should become more predictable.

Expansion of Fully-Insured Health Segment

Beginning in 2001, IHC identified the fully-insured health sector as a natural market to
expand into given our health insurance expertise and (like medical stop-loss) the short-tail
nature of this business. We began slowly by identifying underserved markets and possible
opportunities for investments, acquisitions and strategic alliances. In late 2004, we began
accelerating the process through a strategic alliance with IAC, which was one of the largest
privately-owned administrators of fully-insured small group and individual health plans in
the country. In January 2006, we acquired IAC which has over 380 salaried and contract
employees who currently administer $220 million of individual and group health and life
premiums and premium equivalents, which relates to approximately 125,000 covered lives.
Of this business, 30% is currently insured by Standard Security Life and Madison National
Life. IAC has consistently exceeded profit expectations throughout its 28 year history. Its
state-of-the-art systems, which are readily scaleable, dedication to cost containment
program initiatives, and commitment to obtaining provider discounts are unparalled for a
company of IAC’s size. We are very fortunate to have this talented veteran management
team and support staff join the IHC family.

Through the acquisitions of IAC, HPA and GroupLink, IHC has expanded into
multiple new fully-insured health products, including STM, group major medical, dental
and vision, and we will further expand in 2006 to include major medical for individuals and
families and limited medical. IHC is committed to increasing member involvement in the
health care decision-making process, as demonstrated by the fact that the percentage of our
group and individual major medical business written on high-deductible platforms is
significantly higher than that of other larger health insurers. Most recently, in the first
quarter of 2006, the Company acquired 100% of Community America Insurance Services
Inc. (“CAIS”), which was formed as a joint venture in 2005 to market major medical for
groups, individuals and families (including CDHPs), STM and dental products on behalf of
IHC. CAIS has now acquired a block of approximately $50 million of small group major
medical business (including CDHPs) and key personnel of a marketing and administrative
company. It is anticipated that most of this block will be transitioned to Madison National
Life as of August 1, 2006.

Expansion of Block Acquisitions

ITHC’s acquisition team has a strong track record of acquiring blocks of life and annuity
policies, which in each case have been quite profitable for the Company. Since 1999, the
Company has acquired approximately $450 million of reserves, which is expected to
produce a predictable income stream for IHC over the next 25 years. Although the source




and timing of new acquisitions is unpredictable the Company believes that there exists an
ample supply of acquisition prospects for the remainder of 2006 and beyond. The addition of
GroupLink has now made it poss1b1e to acquire blocks of dental business, and the Company
made its first such acquisition in Hthe first quarter of 2006.

Looking Forward

As we look forward to our next several years, we believe your Company is very well
positioned to continue producing exceptional returns for our shareholders. IHC has posted
net income in 52 consecutive quarters. We are included in the Russell 2000 Index, and
(assuming dividend reinvestment) a $100 investment in IHC on December 31, 2000 would
have been worth $264 as of December 31, 2005, which is a CAGR of appronmately 21.5%.

We are optimistic that our fully-insured health business will grow rapidly and yield
profitable results, primarily because: (i) fully-insured health is a huge market, estimated to
be $500 billion in premiums in the United States; (ii) the acquisition of IAC brings us
28 years of experience and relationships in this market as well as readily scaleable systems;
(ii1) THC has two highly-rated and well-capitalized carriers, a broad and balanced array of
products, and expertise in CDHPs and (iv) we have the ability to cross-sell our products
through 50,000 agents, and the management acumen to know how to do it. We also expect
improved profitability and productlon in our medical stop-loss business, and additional
acquisitions of blocks of businessjin the second half of the year. IHC has approximately
$200 million in stockholders’ equity and over $1 billion of assets, including its 48%
ownership interest in American Independence Corp. (NASDAQ:AMIC). AMIC is an
insurance holding company, with federal net operating loss carryforwards of $278 million, to
which THC cedes 31gn1ﬁcant pOI‘thIlS of its medical stop-loss and fully-insured health lines.
In addition, fixed-income yields ‘have begun to increase in 2006, which should have a
positive effect on investment mcoine

We could not have this optimism without our dedicated staff, management team and
Board of Directors, and without the continuing support of our shareholders.

Very truly yours,

o

Roy T.K. Thung

Chief Executive Officer and President
Dated: April 28, 2006
www.independenceholding.com




PRODUCT LINES
MEDICAL STOP-LOSS

* Employer Medical Stop-Loss

Insurance products that allow self-insured employers to manage the risk of excessive health insurance
exposures by limiting aggregate and specific losses to a predetermined amount.

» Provider Excess Loss/HMO Reinsurance

Insurance and reinsurance products that allow providers, HMOs and managed care organizations to reduce
their risk assumption and/or are otherwise required to purchase coverage by contract or state regulation.

FULLY-INSURED HEALTH PRODUCTS

* Employer-Sponsored Group and Individual Major Medical

Fully-insured major medical coverage designed to work with health reimbursement accounts (“HRA™)
and health savings accounts (“HSA™).

¢+ Short-Term Medical
Fully-insured major medical coverage with a defined duration, which is normally twelve months or less.

» Dental/Vision

Dental indemnity and PPO coverage for small and large employer and affinity groups. Vision benefits for
a specified amount toward eye exams and the purchase of eye glasses and contact lenses.

¢ Limited Medical
Low cost limited health coverage for hourly, part-time and/or seasonal employees.

GROUP DISABILITY, LIFE, ANNUITIES AND DBL

* New York Short-Term DBL/Other Disability

New York State mandated temporary cash payments to replace wages lost as a result of disability due to
non-occupational injury or illness; other miscellaneous disability products.

* Group Long-Term and Short-Term Disability and Group Term Life

An employee benefit under a master employer policy that provides disability income and life insurance
protection.

* Volunteer Firefighters Group Annuity and Term Life

A length of service award program for volunteer firefighters that can be structured as either a defined
benefit or contribution plan and group term life.

INDIVIDUAL LIFE, ANNUITIES AND OTHER

» Military and Government Personnel Individual Life

Individual life insurance with annuity and accumulation fund riders structured to meet the needs of
military and civilian government personnel.

« Acquired Blocks/Other Business
Acquired blocks of policies, including individual life and annuities, pre-need and burial, disability income;

insurance products in runoff status; miscellancous business.

CREDIT LIFE AND DISABILITY

+ Disability income and life insurance protection for the debtor offered by entities that extend or arrange for
the extension of credit.




FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Year Ended December 31

2005

2004

2003

(Dollars in thousands, except

per share amounts)

Income Statement Data: ‘
Total FEVENUES ... ..ottt e $ 296,417

Net investment income ............ S 40,663
Net INCOME . . oot e e e 17,301
Per Share Data: ‘
Diluted net inCOME ... ...ttt 1.21
Cashdividend..... ... ... ... . 0. i, 0.0500
Book value ........... [P U 14.06
Return on beginning book value................ .. .. ... ..... 9.41%
Balance Sheet Data:
Total investments . ................ ......................... 855,804
Total assets .. ........ ...t e e e e 1,150,923
Debt and subordinated debt securities: .. ...................... 50,646
Common stockholders’ equity. ... ... IR 198,751

$225,669
42,915
22,939

1.60

0.0500

13.39
13.58%

720,700
970,082

50,646
188,853

$187,878
35,796
18,593

1.30

0.0278

12.14
12.10%

593,403
898,302

35,182
168,896

OPERATING COMPANIES

Standard Security Life Insurance Compﬁny of New York

Majestic Underwriters LLC

Madison National Life Insurance Company, Inc.

Insurers Administrative Corporation
i
\

GroupLink, Inc.
Health Plan Administrators, Inc.

Community American Insurance Services, Inc.

American Independence Corp. (48% owned)
Independence American Insurance Company
Voorhees Risk Management LLC‘;\

Risk Assessment Strategies, Inc. |

IndependenceCare Holdings LLC “
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Independence Holding Company, a Delaware corporation (NYSE: IHC), is a holding company
principally engaged in the life and héalth insurance business through: (i) its wholly-owned insurance
companies, Standard Security Life Insurance Company of New York (“Standard Security Life”) and
Madison National Life Insurance Company, Inc. (“Madison National Life”); and (ii) its marketing and
administrative companies, including Insurers Administrative Corporation (“IAC”), managing general under-
writers in which it owns a significant iivoting interest (“Affiliated MGUSs”), Health Plan Administrators
(“HPA”), GroupLink Inc. (“GroupLink”) and Community America Insurance Services Inc. (“CAIS”).
These companies are sometimes collectively referred to as the “Insurance Group,” and IHC and its
subsidiaries (including the Insurance Group) are sometimes collectively referred to as the “Company.” The
Company also owns a 48% equity interest in American Independence Corp. (NASDAQ: AMIC) which owns
Independence American Insurance Cornpany (“Independence American”) and several MGU’s.

Standard Security Life, which has ]an A (Excellent) rating from A.M. Best Company, Inc. (“Best”), is
domiciled in New York and licensed as“ an insurance company in all 50 states, the District of Columbia, the
Virgin Islands and Puerto Rico. Madison National Life, which is domiciled in Wisconsin and licensed to sell
insurance products in 49 states, the Dlstnct of Columbia, the Virgin Islands and Guam and is an accredited
reinsurer in New York, has an A- (Excellent) rating from Best. Independence American, which is domiciled
in Delaware and licensed to sell 1nsurance products in 36 states and the District of Columbia, has a B++
(Very Good) rating from Best. The Company has been informed by Best that a Best rating is assigned after an
extensive quantitative and qualitative evaluation of a company’s financial condition and operating performance
and is also based upon factors relevant t¢ policyholders, agents, and intermediaries, and is not directed toward
protection of investors. Best ratings are not recommendations to buy, sell or hold securities of IHC. As further
described below, Standard Security Life and Madison National Life primarily sell health insurance products
through general agents, agents and bro]j(ers Standard Security Life also sells short-term statutory disability
benefit product in New York State (“DBL”) and certain life, annuity and blanket accident coverage sold
primarily in New York State to volunteer emergency personnel. Madison National Life also markets group life
and disability products, primarily in th% Midwest, credit life and disability, individual life and annuities to
military and civilian government emp“loyces, and acquires blocks of life policies from other insurance
companies. Independence American, as further described below, reinsures a significant portion of the Medical
Stop-Loss business written by Standard Security Life and Madison National Life, and anticipates writing

health insurance products on its paper in 2006.

For information pertaining to the Company’s business segments, reference is. made to Note 18 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8.
!
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SAFE HARBOR STATEMENT

From time to time, information projvided by the Company, including but not limited to statements in this
Item and in Item 7, other statements in this report, or other statements made by or on behalf of the Company,
may contain “forward-looking” information within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform
Act of 1995. Such statements involve aunumber of risks, uncertainties and contingencies, many of which are
beyond the Company’s control, whichw may cause actual results, performance or achievements to differ
materially from those anticipated. Set forth in Item 1A are certain such factors identified by the Company.
Additional risks and uncertainties anq contingencies not presently known to the Company or that the
Company currently deems immaterial could also cause the Company’s results, performance or achievements
to differ materially from those predrcted in any forward-looking statement made by or on behalf of the
Company.




DISTRIBUTION

Medical Stop-Loss

The Company markets Medical Stop-Loss primarily through Managing General Underwriters
(“MGUs”) that are non-salaried contractors that receive administrative fees. MGUSs are responsible for
underwriting accounts in accordance with guidelines formulated and approved by the Company, billing and
collecting premiums, paying commissions to agents, third party administrators (“TPAs”) and/or brokers, and
processing claims. The Company is responsible for selecting MGUs, establishing underwriting guidelines,
maintaining approved policy forms and overseeing claims for reimbursement, as well as establishing
appropriate accounting procedures and reserves. In order to accomplish this, the Company audits the MGUY’
underwriting, claims and policy issuance practices to assure compliance with the Company’s guidelines,
provides the MGUs with access to its medical management and cost containment expertise, and reviews cases
that require referral based on the Company’s underwriting guidelines. MGUSs receive fee income, generally 8%
to 12% of gross premium produced by them on behalf of the insurance carriers they represent, and typically
are entitled to additional income based on underwriting results.

During 2005, Standard Security Life and Madison National Life wrote approximately 71.4% of their
Medical Stop-Loss business through the Affiliated MGUS, including those owned by AMIC (Independence-
Care Holdings LLC, Risk Assessment Strategies [nc. and Voorhees Risk Management LLC, d.b.a. Marlton
Risk Group (the “AMIC MGUs")), Majestic Underwriters, LLC (“Majestic”’), and TRU Services, LLC
(“TRU™). During 2005, the Company appointed three new MGUs that are projected to write substantial
premiums in 2006. Since none of these MGUs is owned, and because the premium written by the Affiliated
MGUs decreased in 20083, the percentage of business written by the Affiliated MGU s is expected to decrease
during 2006.

The agents and brokers that produce this business are non-salaried contractors that receive commissions.

Fully-Insured Health

The Company formed a Fully-Insured Health segment (formerly referred to as “Strategic Health”) in
2005. As a result of acquisitions and investments in 2005 and the first quarter of 2006, IHC now owns the
companies that market and administer 100% of its Fully-Insured Health business. TAC, 100% of which THC
acquired in January 2006, is a marketing and administration organization that has been underwriting and
administering individual and group health insurance (including high deductible employer-sponsored Con-
sumer Driven Health Plans (“CDHPs”) since its formation in 1978. IAC has approximately 380 salaried and
contract employees performing all aspects of underwriting, administering, and managing fully-insured group
and individual health insurance on behalf of the Company and other carriers. ITAC reported $26 million of
revenues in 2005 and manages approximately $220 million of individual and group health and life premiums
and premium equivalents for multiple insurers, approximately 30% of which is written by Standard Security
Life and Madison National Life. During the next two years, IHC anticipates that IAC will increase the
business written by IHC’s insurance companies by approximately $100 million, and together will expand
distribution of the Company’s group health products and enter into new product lines including individual
health and limited medical.

In 2005, Strategic Health Associates (“SHA”), a joint venture between IHC and IAC, acquired
interests in HPA and GroupLink. As a result of the acquisition of IAC in January 2006, IHC now owns 100%
of SHA. HPA, which was acquired in January 2005, manages and administers all of the Short-Term Medical
(“STM”) products sold by Standard Security Life, Madison National Life and Independence American in
2005. HPA, which has specialized in STM since 1990, distributes nationally through appointed general agents,
agents and broker relationships. The Company has also begun cross-selling STM through its other distribution
sources (including IAC, GroupLink and the MGUs). GroupLink, 75% of which was acquired in July 2005,
manages and administers all of the dental business sold by Standard Security Life and Madison National Life
in 2005. GroupLink distributes nationally, primarily through a brokerage distribution system utilizing general
agents and brokers. GroupLink also administers dental business for alternative distribution such as dental
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HMO’s and other marketing organizétions, all of which are independent contractors compensated on a
commission only basis. The Company plans to expand its distribution of dental products through new
distribution sources in 2006 including TAC, HPA and CAIS. GroupLink will also administer blocks of dental
business acquired by Madison Natlonal Life as opportunities arise. Collectively, the Fully-Insured Health
segment actively distributes products through over 50,000 general agents, agents and brokers.

CAIS, which is owned 100% by IHC as of March 1, 2006, distributes the Company’s group major
medical, STM and dental products. On March 1, 2006, CAIS merged with another entity (CA Insurance
Services, LLC), in which THC had a 45% ownership interest, with CAIS as the surviving entity. In March
2006, CAIS announced that it has entcred into a definitive agreement subject to certain closing conditions to
acquire a block of approximately $50 million of small group major medical business (including CDHPs and
the key personnel of a marketing and*‘\ administration company). It is anticipated that such business and
personnel would be merged into CAIS’ existing operations such that CAIS will employ approximately
30 marketing representatives and suppo\rt staff promoting THC’s products. Assuming the transaction closes, it
is anticipated that the acquired block! of group major medical business will be transitioned to Madison
National Life as of August 1, 2006.

The Company is developing sevcra[ new Fully-Insured Health products and distribution sources for 2006
and 2007. In 2006, Standard Security Llfe plans to introduce a limited medical policy for hourly workers and
other currently uninsured Americans who cannot afford traditional health insurance. This product will
primarily be distributed for the Company by an agency which has been in this line of business since 1990, and
which currently produces approximately $45 million through two other carriers. The Company also plans to
introduce major medical insurance plang for individuals and families in 2006. It is expected that this product
will be distributed through multiple dlstnbutlon sources, including IAC, CAIS, and a strategic relationship
with a leading broker to market through associations. TAC currently administers a block of approximately
$90 million of such business. 1‘

The agents and brokers that produce this business are non-salaried contractors that receive commissions.

Other Products

The Company’s other products are primarily distributed by general agents, agents and brokers. Standard
Security Life distributes group term lifelinsurance products through MGUs (including its Medical Stop-Loss
MGUs), HMOs, general agents and brokcrs It also markets specialized defined benefit and defined
contribution service award programs w1th separate group life coverage to Volunteer Emergency Services
personnel and blanket accident insurance sold through two specialized general agents. The short-term
statutory disability benefit product in Ncw York State (“DBL”) is marketed primarily through independent
general agents who are paid commlssmns based upon the amount of premiums produced. Madison National
Life’s disability and group life products are primarily sold in the Midwest to school districts, municipalities and
hospital employer groups through a mélnagmg general agent that specializes in these target markets. The
Company also sells through independent general agents and agents. Over 70% of Madison National Life’s
credit insurance net written premium is'derived from financial institutions (banks, thrifts, credit unions and
finance companies). Madison National Life also markets credit products through entities that arrange for the
extension of credit (e.g., automobile, marine and motorcycle dealerships). Madison National Life sells a
whole life product with an annuity rider to military personnel and civil service employees through independent

general agents.

The agents and brokers that produce this business are non-salaried contractors that receive commissions.
!

PRINCIPAL PRODUCTS

Medical Stop-Loss i

The Company is a leading writer néﬁonally of excess or stop-loss insurance for (i) self-insured employer
groups that desire to manage the ﬁhk of large medical claims (“Employer Medical Stop-Loss”);
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(i) providers, managed care organizations, including provider hospital organizations, hospital groups,
physician groups and individual practice associations (collectively, “MCQs™) that have assumed risk and
desire to reduce their claim volatility (“Provider Excess Loss”); and (iii) health maintenance organizations
(“HMOs”) that desire to reduce their claim volatility (“HMO Reinsurance”). Employer Medical Stop-Loss,
Provider Excess Loss and HMO Reinsurance are collectively referred to as “Medical Stop-Loss.”

Standard Security Life was one of the first carriers to market Employer Medical Stop-Loss insurance,
starting in 1987, and the Insurance Group is now one of the largest writers of this product in the United States.
Employer Medical Stop-Loss insurance allows self-insured employers to manage the risk of large medical
claims after a deductible, while permitting them flexibility in designing employee health coverages at a cost
that may be lower than that available through traditional indemnity plans. This coverage is available on either
a specific or a specific and aggregate basis, although the majority of the Insurance Group’s policies cover both
specific and aggregate claims. Plans are designed to fit the identified needs of the self-insured employer by
offering a variety of deductibles (i.e., the level of claims after which the medical stop-loss benefits become
payable).

Standard Security Life is also a leading writer nationally of excess products for the managed health care
market. Provider Excess Loss is marketed to MCOs that have assumed risk (through capitation by an HMO
or otherwise) and desire to reduce their claims volatility and/or are required to purchase coverage by contract
or regulation. HMO Reinsurance is excess coverage for HMOs that desire to reduce their claims volatility
and/or are required to purchase coverage by regulation. Many state regulatory authorities responsible for
HMO oversight require such coverage. This coverage allows HMOs to manage the risk of random high-cost
medical events by limiting specific losses to a pre-determined amount.

THC anticipates growth in this line of business in 2006 as a result of the appointment of new MGUs, but
does not anticipate significant organic growth from the Affiliated MGUs .

Fully-Insured Health Products

Employer-Sponsored Group Major Medical

The Company began selling group major medical insurance (including CDHPs) to small and medium
size employers during 2005, and expects to sell this product in 34 states in 2006. This is fully-insured major
medical coverage designed to work with health reimbursement accounts (“HRA”) and health savings
accounts (“HSA”) which are implemented by employers that wish to provide this benefit as part of an
employee welfare benefit plan. These plans are offered primarily as Preferred Provider Organizations
(“PPO”) plans, and provide a variety of cost-sharing options, including deductibles, coinsurance and
co-payment. CDHPs are designed to provide participants with economic incentives to be informed consumers
of healthcare.

IHC anticipates significant growth in this line of business during the next two years as a result of the
anticipated $50 million block acquisition (see discussion on page five beginning with “CAIS”), other IAC
business, and new business developed by IAC, CAIS and THC.

Short-Term Medical

As a result of the acquisition of HPA, the Company began selling individual short-term major medical
products (“STM”) in 2005. By the end of 2006, the Company expects that the Insurance Group will be
distributing this product in at least 45 states. STM is designed specifically for people with transient needs for
health coverage. Typically, STM products are written as major medical coverage with a defined duration,
which is normally twelve months or less. Among the typical purchasers of short-term products are self-
employed professionals, recent college graduates, persons between jobs, employed individuals not currently
eligible for group insurance, and others who need insurance for a specified period of time. HPA, which was
founded in 1939 and has specialized in STM since 1990, markets nationally through in excess of 40,000
insurance agents and brokers. Standard Security Life and Madison National Life have also begun promoting
STM through their other distribution sources.
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IHC anticipates significant growth in this line of business during the next two years as a result of organic
growth at HPA (due to stable carrier ‘relationships, access to capital to fund marketing plans and system
enhancements, and claims management by IAC) and the increased distribution capabilities of IAC, CAIS
and THC. ‘

Dental/Vision

Standard Security Life and Madison National Life began selling group dental products in late 2005 in the
majority of states. GroupLink administers the majority of IHC’s dental business and is also the primary
distribution source of this line of business. It is anticipated that GroupLink will begin administering the dental
business written through HPA and IAC.

The dental portfolio includes indemnity and PPO plans for employer groups of two or more lives and for
individuals within affinity groups. Emplé)yer plans are offered on both employer paid and employee voluntary
basis. Vision, group life and short term dlsablhty benefits will also be offered by GroupLink thus allowing the
employer to have one bill and enrollment form for these lines of ancillary coverages. Vision plans will offer a

flat reimbursement amount for exams and materials. Life plans will be available on scheduled or percentage of

salary basis and short-term disability wdl be offered as a percentage of salary or flat amount. It is anticipated
that, in 2006, GroupLink will begin admlmstenng the dental business written through HPA and IAC, and

dental blocks acquired by the acquisition group.

IHC anticipates significant growth in this line of business in future years as a result of organic growth at
GroupLink due to the new stable carrler relationships THC offers and the access to capital to fund expanded
marketing plans, as well as the 1ncreased distribution capabilities of IAC, CAIS, HPA and THC.

Major Medical For Individuals and Families

In conjunction with IAC, the Company has developed major medical plans for individuals and families
that include CDHP products, which will be filed in the majority of states. The Company believes that the
demand for individual medical products‘ls growing rapidly due, in part, to employers reducing the number of
employees eligible for group coverage, and in part due to an increase in the number of self-employed
individuals. Most of these products wﬂl‘be Federally-qualified High Deductible Health Plans that allow the
policy or certificate holder to establish an HSA. For these products, each application is individually
underwritten for consideration of covera};ges.

Given the anticipated policy appri‘éval process, the Company does not anticipate selling a significant
amount of this line of business in 2006.11

Limited Medical

The Company has developed a limi%ced medical policy to offer affordable health coverage to hourly, part-
time and/or seasonal employees, which is currently being filed in all 50 states. Limited medical plans are a low
cost alternative to major medical insurf;ance for those uninsured Americans who cannot afford traditional
health insurance. Employers are using these plans to recruit and retain employees, save costs and compete
more effectively. These plans also permit employees who do not otherwise have health insurance to begin to
participate in the healthcare system. !

Given the anticipated policy approval process and the typical lead time for submitting “requests for
proposals” for the limited medical product the Company does not anticipate selling a significant amount of
this line of business in 2006. h

‘\
Group Disability; Life, Annuities and DBL

Group Long-Term and Short-Term Disability

The Company sells group long-term disability (“LTD”) products to employers that wish to provide this
benefit to their employees. Depending o‘f‘n an employer’s requirements, LTD policies (i) cover between 40%

7



and 90% of insurable salary; (ii) have elimination periods (i.e., the period between the commencement of the
disability and the start of benefit payments) of between 30 and 730 days; and (iii) terminate after two, five or
ten years, or extend to age 65 or the employee’s Social Security normal retirement date. Benefit payments are
reduced by social security, workers compensation, pension benefits and other income replacement payments.
Optional benefits are available to employees, including coverage for partial or residual disabilities, survivor
benefits and cost of living adjustments. The Company also markets short-term disability (“STD”) policies
that provide a weekly benefit to disabled employees until the earlier of: recovery from disability, eligibility for
long-term disability benefits or the end of the STD benefit period.

The Company anticipates modest increases in sales by targeting its existing relationships, and maximizing
its traditionally strong sales to school districts, municipalities and hospital employer groups. The Company
intends to begin a strategy to distribute limited amounts of life products and to a lesser extent, disability
products through [AC, GroupLink, CAIS and HPA.

New York Short-Term Disability (DBL)

Standard Security Life markets DBL. All companies with more than one employee in New York State
are required to provide DBL insurance for their employees. DBL coverage provides temporary cash payments
to replace wages lost as a result of disability due to non-occupational injury or illness. The DBL policy
provides for (i) payment of 50% of salary to a maximum of $170 per week; (ii) a maximum of 26 weeks in a
consecutive 52 week period; and (iii) benefit commencement on the eighth consecutive day of disability.
Policies covering fewer than 50 employees have fixed rates approved by the New York State Insurance
Department. Policies covering 50 or more employees are individually underwritten. Standard Security Life
anticipates modest growth in its DBL business through the addition of general agents, strategic marketing
alliances and the acquisition of blocks of business.

Group Term Life and Annuities

Madison National Life and Standard Security Life sell group term life products, including group term
life, accidental death and dismemberment (“AD&D”), supplemental life and supplemental AD&D and
dependent life. As with its group disability business, the Company anticipates modest growth in this line of
business through expansion of its sales of these group term life products through these distribution sources and
IAC, GroupLink, CAIS and HPA. Standard Security Life anticipates modest growth in its specialized
defined benefit and defined contribution service award programs, with separate group life coverage, to
Volunteer Emergency Services personnel.

Individual Life, Annuities and Other

This category includes: (i) insurance products that are in runoff as a result of the Insurance Group’s
decision to discontinue writing such products; (ii) blocks of business that were acquired from other insurance
companies; (iii) individual life and annuities written through Madison National Life’s military and civilian
government employee division; (iv) blanket accident insurance sold through a specialized general agent; and
(v) certain miscellaneous insurance products.

The following lines of Standard Security Life’s in-force business are in runoff: individual accident and
health, individual life, single premium immediate annuities, disability income, accidental medical, accidental
death and AD&D insurance for athletes, executives and entertainers, and miscellaneous insurance business.
Madison National Life’s runoff in this category consists of existing blocks of individual life, including pre-need
(i.e., funeral expense) coverage, traditional and interest-sensitive life blocks which were acquired from 1998 to
2003, individual accident and health products, annual and single premium deferred annuity contracts and
individual annuity contracts.

Credit Life and Disability

Madison National Life sells credit life and disability products that insure a debtor for a value and
duration not to exceed the amount and repayment term of the indebtedness. Credit insurance is composed of
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two basic types of coverage: (i) credit 1ﬂfe insurance provides for a lump sum benefit paid to the creditor upon
the death of the insured debtor to extin”guish or reduce the balance of indebtedness; and (ii) credit disability
insurance provides a monthly beneﬁti’/indemnity (usually a sum equal to the scheduled monthly loan
payment) paid to the creditor in the event of the insured debtor’s total disability until the debtor recovers or is
able to return to gainful employment ojrr until the scheduled expiration of the insurance coverage, whichever

first occurs. |

Generally, Madison National Lif!‘te’s credit insurance coverage parameters are: (i) at inception of
coverage, insureds must be under age 70 for life and under age 66 for disability; (ii) life coverage until the
insured attains the age of 71 and dlsablh‘ty coverage until the insured attains the age of 66; (iii) maximum life
benefit of $110,000 and maximum aggr‘egate disability benefit of $84,000; (iv) maximum monthly disability
indemnity/benefit of $1,200; and (v) maximum term of coverage of 120 months. Its credit insurance products
are marketed and distributed by non-salaried general agents and brokers who receive commissions or service

fees. Madison National Life anticipates' nominal expansion in its credit line in 2006.
:

EARNED PREMIUMS AND LIFE INSURANCE IN-FORCE
| .
The following table sets forth gross direct and assumed earned premiums and premiums earned of the
Insurance Group by principal product ft;ar the years indicated (in thousands):

GROSS DIRECT AND ASSUMED EE;ARNED PREMIUMS
x

i 2005 2004 2003
Medical Stop-Loss ............. L $269,893  $291,832  $257,128
Fully-Insured Health ........... ‘ ....................... 47,032 — —
Group disability; life, annuities ancﬂ\ DBL.................. 79,245 70,934 66,915
Individual life, annuities and other ....................... 31,395 26,313 23,971
Credit life and disability......... e 21,558 20,321 20,126

$449,123  $409,400  $368,140

NET PREMIUMS EARNED

2005 2004 2003
Medical Stop-Loss ............. ittt $128,501 $ 97,140 $ 76,123
Fully-Insured Health ........ ... .. ... ... ... ... ... ... 17,423 — —
Group disability; life, annuities and DBL .................. 41,888 36,734 36,571
Individual life, annuities and other .. ....... ... ... ...... 28,531 20,757 17,558
Credit life and disability............... ... .. ... ....... 20,694 19,436 19,155

$237,037 $174,067 $149,407




The following table summarizes the aggregate life insurance in-force of the Insurance Group (in
thousands):

2005 2004 2003
LIFE INSURANCE IN-FORCE: ‘
GIOUD oottt $5,971,933  $6,055,260  $5,489,162
Individual term.. ... 0. 905,861 277,087 279,411
Individual permanent............ ... ... .. 2,105,946 1,250,440 1,170,459
Credit . ... i e 1,003,090 941,566 860,221
TOTAL LIFE INSURANCE IN-FORCE(1),(2) ....... $9,986,830  $8,524,353  $7,799,253
NEW LIFE INSURANCE:
GIOUD oottt e $ 921,548 § 752,043 $ 845,064
Individual term.......... .. .. .. ... i — 21 318
Individual permanent......... ... .o, 159,323 220,342 149,253
Credit ..o 284,906 299,774 395,250
TOTAL NEW LIFE INSURANCE . .................. $1,365,777 $1,272,180  $1,389,885
NOTES:
(1) Includes participating insurance ..................... $ 200,109 $ 135523 § 134,018
(2) Before ceded reinsurance of:
GIoUD .o $3,270,307  $3,027,135  $3,004,856
Individual ...... .. ... . . . e 160,570 200,593 147,871
Credit .. .. e e 40,580 27,967 19,230
Total ceded reinsurance. .. .......coi i $3,471,457  $3,255,605  $3,171,957

ACQUISITIONS OF POLICY BLOCKS

During 2005, IHC acquired a total of $168.7 million of reserves in the following transactions: (i) effective
January 1, 2005, Madison National Life entered into an agreement with an unaffiliated insurer to 100%
coinsure life insurance policies totaling approximately $10.2 million of reserves; (ii) in January 2005, Madison
National Life purchased certain credit policies totaling approximately $.6 million of reserves from an
unaffiliated insurance company; (iii) in June 2005, Madison National Life entered into a reinsurance and
assumption agreement with an unaffiliated insurance company to assume approximately $120 million of life
and annuity reserves; (iv) in September 2005, Madison National Life assumed approximately $1.7 million of
disability reserves from various state guaranty associations; and(v) in December 2005, Madison National Life
entered into a reinsurance and assumption agreement to assume approximately $36.2 million of life and
annuity reserves from an unaffiliated insurance company

As of January 1, 2005, Standard Security Life reinsured, on a 100% quota basis, a $50 million block of
employer-sponsored group major medical business, and has received regulatory approval of the assumption
certificates in each state. Through December 31, 2005, THC has recorded $13.0 million of net earned
premiums on this block. IHC has already begun distributing this product in 29 states (which is expected to
increase to 34 states once all its filings are approved) through distribution sources including CAIS.

In June 2004, the Company acquired a block of individual annuity and supplementary contracts and life
policies through an assumption reinsurance transaction. The block had reserves of $26.6 million. Madison
National Life assumed responsibility for administration of the block on September 1, 2004,

In December 2003, the Company acquired three blocks of annuity and life policies with reserves
approximating $93 million. Madison National Life acquired two of these blocks of business from active
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companies. These blocks primarily cons1sted of individual annuity contracts plus some supplementary
contracts with combined reserves approx1mat1ng $72 million. Standard Security Life acquired the third block,
which primarily consisted of individual/life insurance and some annuities. The reserves transferred to Standard
Security Life in this acquisition appi‘;'oximated $21 million. The business is being administered through
Madison National Life’s systems and is partially reinsured to Madison National Life.

REINSURANCE AND POLICY RETENTION LIMITS

The Company increased its average retention of the first §1 million of Medical Stop-Loss exposure to
45.3% in 2005 from 34.1% in 2004. [n 2005 and 2004, Standard Security Life and Madison National Life also
ceded, on average, 21.9% and 19.3%, respectively, of their Medical Stop-Loss business to their affiliate,
Independence American. Standard Security Life retained 80% of DBL premium with the balance ceded, as of
July 1, 2004, to Independence American. Retentions on other lines of business remained relatively constant in
2005. The Company has sufficient capital to retain even greater risk, but it purchases quota share reinsurance
and excess reinsurance in amounts deemed appropriate by its risk committee. The Company monitors its
retention amounts by product line, and has the ability to adjust its retention as appropriate.

Reinsurance is used to reduce the potentially adverse financial impact of large individual or group risks,
and to reduce the strain on statutory income and surplus related to new business. By using reinsurance, the
Insurance Group is able to write policies in amounts larger than it could otherwise accept. The amount
reinsured is the portion of each policy in excess of the retention limit on a particular policy. Maximum net
retention limits for Standard Security Lifc at December 31, 2005 were: (i) $210,000 per life on individual life
and corresponding disability waiver of premium; (ii) no retention on accidental death benefits provided by
rider to individual life policies; (iii) up to $1,000,000 on any one medical stop-loss claim; (iv) $2,500 of
monthly benefits on disability income policies; (v) $25,000 on its special disability business; and (vi) up to
$1,000,000 for fully-insured medical in;a calendar year. Standard Security Life also maintains catastrophe
reinsurance in order to protect against partlcularly adverse mortality which might occur with respect to its
overall life business.

At December 31, 2005, maximum cht monthly retention limits on any one life for Madison National Life
were: (1) $5,000 per month on group long-term disability insurance; (i) $1,400 per week on group short-term
disability insurance; (iii) $112,500 per individual on group term life, accidental death benefits, including
supplemental life and accidental death and dismemberment; (iv) $125,000 on substandard ordinary life, group
credit life, group family life and 1nd1v1dua1 ordinary life; (v) up to $1,000,000 on any one medical stop-loss
claim; (vi) $1,200 per month on credit dlsabﬂlty insurance; and (vii) individual monthly benefits from $1,000
to $2,500 depending on recipient age and length of benefit period for individual accident and health insurance;
and (viii) up to $1,000,000 for fully-insired medical in a calendar year.

The following reinsurers represent 81.7% of the total ceded premium for the year ended December 31,
2005:

Independence American Insurance “Co. ............................................ 28.5%
Everest Reinsurance CO. ... ...ttt ittt e e e 18.8%
American Re-Insurance Co. ... .. . e 14.2%
ReliaStar Life Insurance COMPanY .. .. ......it ittt it 13.7%
Transatlantic Reinsurance Company ............................................... _6.5%

81.7%

The Insurance Group remains liable with respect to the insurance in-force which has been reinsured in
the unlikely event that the assuming reinsurers are unable to satisfy their obligations. The Insurance Group
cedes business (i) to its affiliate, Indepeﬁdence American, (ii) to individual reinsurance companies that are
rated “A” or better by Best or (iii) upon provision of adequate security. The ceding of reinsurance does not
discharge the primary liability of the original insurer to the insured. Since the risks under the Insurance
Group’s business are primarily short-term, there would be limited exposure as a result of a change in a
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reinsurer’s creditworthiness during the term of the reinsurance. At December 31, 2005 and 2004, the
Insurance Group’s ceded reinsurance in-force was $3.5 billion and $3.3 billion, respectively.

For further information pertaining to reinsurance, reference is made to Note 17 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements included in Item 8.

INVESTMENTS AND RESERVES

More than 96.9% of the Company’s securities portfolio is managed by employees of IHC and its affiliates,
and ultimate investment authority rests with IHC’s in-house investment group. As a result of the nature of
IHC’s insurance liabilities, IHC endeavors to maintain a significant percentage of its assets in investment
grade securities, cash and cash equivalents. At December 31, 2005, approximately 94.1% of the fixed
maturities were investment grade. The internal investment group provides a summary of the investment
portfolio and the performance thereof at the meetings of the Board of Directors.

As required by insurance laws and regulations, the Insurance Group establishes reserves to meet
obligations on policies in-force. These reserves are amounts which, with additions from premiums expected to
be received and with interest on such reserves at certain assumed rates, are calculated to be sufficient to meet
anticipated future policy obligations. Premiums and reserves are based upon certain assumptions with respect
to mortality, morbidity on health insurance, lapses and interest rates effective at the time the polices are
issued. The Insurance Group also establishes appropriate reserves for substandard business, annuities and
additional policy benefits, such as waiver of premium and accidental death. Standard Security Life and
Madison National Life are also required by law to have an annual asset adequacy analysis, which, in general,
projects the amount and timing of cash flows to the estimated maturity date of liabilities, prepared by the
certifying actuary for each insurance company. Standard Security Life and Madison National Life invest their
respective assets, which support the reserves and other funds in accordance with applicable insurance law,
under the supervision of their respective Boards of Directors. The Company manages interest rate risk seeking
to maintain a portfolio with a duration and average life that falls within the band of the duration and average
life of the applicable liabilities. The Company utilizes options to modify the duration and average life of the
assets.

Under Wisconsin insurance law, there are restrictions relating to the percentage of an insurer’s admitted
assets that may be invested in a specific issuer or in the aggregate in a particular type of investment. With
respect to the portion of an insurer’s assets equal to its liabilities plus a statutorily-determined security surplus
amount, a Wisconsin insurer cannot, for example, invest more than a certain percentage of its assets in non-
amortizable evidences of indebtedness, securities of any one person (other than a subsidiary and the United
States government), or common stock of any corporation and its affiliates (other than a subsidiary).

Under New York insurance law, there are restrictions relating to the amount of an insurer’s admitted
assets that may be invested in a specific issuer or in the aggregate in a particular type of investment. For
example, a New York life insurer cannot invest more than a certain percentage of its admitted assets in
common or preferred shares of any one institution, obligations secured by any one property (other than those
issued, guaranteed or insured by the United States or any state government or agency thereof), or medium and
lower grade obligations. In addition, there are certain qualitative investment restrictions.
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The following table reflects the asset value in dollars (in thousands) and as a percentage of total
investments of the Company as of December 31, 2005:

Carrying % of Total
Investments by Type ; Value Investments

Fixed maturities: 11
United States Government and government agencies and authorities .. $ 85,811 10.0%

Government-sponsored enterpﬁs# ................................ 66,302 . 17%
States, municipalities and political subdivisions .................... 99,006 11.6%
All other corporate securities. ..\ ...t 431,889 50.5%
Total fixed maturities . .......c. .t 683,008 79.8%
Equity securities: |
Industrial, miscellaneous and all ¢ther common stocks .............. 3,522 0.4%
Non-redeemable preferred stocks!. ................ ... .. .. ... . 58,778 6.9%
Total equity securities. . ...... ... i 62,300 7.3%
Short-term investments .......... b e e e 8,810 1.0%
Securities purchased under agreements toresell ............... ... ... 44,399 5.2%
[nvestment partnership interests .......... ........................ 20,519 2.4%
Operating partnership interests ... ... P 6,659 0.8%
Policy loans ... 28,861 3.4%
Ihvestment in trust subsidiaries . ... ..ottt ettt 1,146 0.1%
OFNET .ttt e 102 —
Total investments ............ e $855,804 100.0%

At December 31, 2005, 94.1% of the Company’s fixed maturities were investment grade. The composi-
tion of the Company’s fixed maturities at December 31, 2005, utilizing Standard and Poor’s rating categories,
was as follows: ‘

_(}Egg % Invested
AAA e 50.8%
A A 3.83%
A e e e e e 20.8%
BBB 187%
BB Or JOWET . oo e _59%

100.0%

The Company’s total pre-tax investment performance for each of the last three years is summarized
below, including amounts recognized in net income, and unrealized gains and losses recognized in stockhold-
ers’ equity as accumulated other compreher“lsivc income or loss:

I

. 2005 2004 2003
: (In thousands)

Consolidated Statements of Operation‘é

Net investment income ............ R RRRRRS $ 40,663 $42915 $35,796

Net realized and unrealized gains .. ........................ 2,077 2,394 313

Consolidated Balance Sheets !

Net unrealized losses . ......... ... .0 o i (12,449) (4,713)  (2,366)
Total pre-tax investment performance ....................... $ 30,291  $40,596  $33,743




The above net unrealized losses, which have been recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets,
represent the net change occurring during the year, prior to adjustments for deferred acquisition costs and
deferred income taxes.

COMPETITION AND REGULATION

The Company competes with many larger insurance companies, HMOs and other managed care
organizations. Although most life insurance companies are stock companies, mutual companies also write life
insurance in the United States. Mutual companies may have certain competitive advantages since profits inure
directly to the benefit of the policyholders. HMOs may also have certain competitive advantages since they
are subject to different regulations than insurance companies.

IHC is an insurance holding company; as such, IHC and the Insurance Group are subject to regulation
and supervision by the insurance supervisory agencies of New York in the case of Standard Security Life and
Wisconsin in the case of Madison National Life. Each of Standard Security Life and Madison National Life is
also subject to regulation and supervision in all jurisdictions in which it is licensed to transact business. These
supervisory agencies have broad administrative powers with respect to the granting and revocation of licenses
to transact business, the licensing of agents, the approval of policy forms, the approval of commission rates, the
form and content of mandatory financial statements, reserve requirements and the types and maximum
amounts of investments which may be made. Such regulation is primarily designed for the benefit of
policyholders rather than the stockholders of an insurance company or holding company.

Certain transactions within the holding company system are also subject to regulation and supervision by
such regulatory agencies. Terms of all such transactions must be fair and reasonable. Notice to or prior
approval by the home state insurance department is required with respect to transactions affecting the
ownership or control of a domestic insurer and of certain material transactions, including extraordinary
dividend declarations, between an insurer and any person in its holding company system. Under New York
and Wisconsin insurance laws, “control” is defined as the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to
direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a person. Under New York law, control is
presumed to exist if any person, directly or indirectly, owns, controls or holds with the power to vote ten
percent or more of the voting securities of any other person; in Wisconsin, the presumption is defined as to
more than ten percent of the voting securities of another person. In both states, the acquisition of control of a
domestic insurer needs to be approved in advance by the Commissioner of Insurance. See Note 19 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 for information as to restrictions on the ability of the
Company’s insurance subsidiaries to pay dividends.

- Risk-based capital requirements are imposed on life and property and casualty insurance companies. The
risk-based capital ratio is determined by dividing an insurance company’s total adjusted capital, as defined, by
its authorized control level risk-based capital. Companies that do not meet certain minimum standards require
specified corrective action. The risk-based capital ratios for each of Standard Security Life and Madison
National Life exceed such minimum ratios.

EMPLOYEES
At December 31, 2005, the Company had 264 employees.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones that the Company faces but only those
identified by the Company, in accordance with the requirements of Item 503(c) of Regulation S-K, as being
the most significant factors that make investment in the Company speculative or risky and that have special
application to the Company. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to the Company or that
the Company currently deems less significant than identified herein may also make investment in the
Company speculative or risky. If any of the following risks actually occur, the Company’s business, financial
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condition or results of operations could be materially adversely affected. In such case, the trading price of the
Company’s common stock could decline.

The Company’s Loss Reserves are Baséd on an Estimate of Its Future Liability, and if Actual Claims
Prove to be Greater Than The Company’s Reserves, Its Results of Operations and Financial Condition
May Be Adversely Affected

The Company maintains loss reserves to cover its estimated liability for unpaid losses and loss adjustment
expenses, including legal and other fees, and costs not associated with specific claims but related to the claims
payment functions for reported and unreported claims incurred as of the end of each accounting period.
Because setting reserves is inherently uncertain, the Company cannot be sure that current reserves will prove
adequate. [f the Company’s reserves are insufficient to cover its actual losses and loss adjustment expenses,
the Company would have to augment its reserves and incur a charge to its earnings, and these charges could
be material. Reserves do not represent an exact calculation of liability. Rather, reserves represent an estimate
of what the Company expects the ultimate settlement and administration of claims will cost. These estimates,
which generally involve actuarial projections, are based on the Company’s assessment of facts and circum-
stances then known. Many factors could affect these reserves, including economic and social conditions,
frequency and severity of claims, medical trend resulting from the influences of underlying cost inflation,
changes in utilization and demand for medical services, and changes in doctrines of legal liability and damage
awards in litigation. Many of these items are not directly quantifiable in advance. Additionally, there may be a
significant reporting lag between the occurrence of the insured event and the time it is reported to the
Company. The inherent uncertainties of estimating reserves are greater for certain types of liabilities,
particularly those in which the various considerations affecting the type of claim are subject to change and in
which long periods of time may elapse before a definitive determination of liability is made. Reserve estimates
are continually refined in a regular and ongoing process as experience develops and further claims are reported
and settled. Adjustments to reserves are reflected in the results of the periods in which such estimates are
changed.

The Company’s Results May Fluctuate as a Result of Factors Generally Affecting the Insurance and
Reinsurance Industry

The results of companies in the insurance and reinsurance industry historically have been subject to
significant fluctuations and uncertainties. Factors that affect the industry in general could also cause the
Company’s results to fluctuate. The industry and the Company’s financial condition and results of operations
may be affected significantly by:

» Fluctuations in interest rates, inflationary pressures and other changes in the investment environment,
which affect returns on invested capital;

 Rising levels of actual costs that are not known by companies at the time they price their products;
» Losses related to epidemics, terrorist activities, random acts of violence or declared or undeclared war;

» Changes in reserves resulting from different types of claims that may arise and the development of
judicial interpretations relating to the scope of insurers’ liability;

+ The overall level of economic activity and the competitive environment in the industry;
» Greater than expected use of healthcare services by members;
» New mandated benefits or other regulatory changes that increase the Company’s costs; and

« Failure of MGUs to adhere to underwriting guidelines as required by the Company in its MGU
agreements.

The occurrence of any or a combination of these factors, which is beyond the Company’s control, could
have a material adverse effect on its results.
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If the Rating Agencies Downgrade the Company’s Insurance Companies, the Company’s Results of
Operations and Competitive Position in the Industry May Suffer

Ratings have become an increasingly important factor in establishing the competitive position of
insurance companies. Standard Security Life is rated “A” (Excellent) and Madison National Life is rated
“A-" (Excellent) by A.M. Best Company, Inc. (“Best”). Best’s ratings reflect its opinions of an insurance
company’s financial strength, operating performance, strategic position, and ability to meet its obligations to
policyholders and are not evaluations directed to investors. The ratings of Standard Security Life and Madison
National Life are subject to periodic review by Best. If Best reduces either or both Madison National Life’s or
Standard Security Life’s ratings from its current levels, the Company’s business could be adversely affected.

Certain Proposed Federal and State Legislation May, if Adopted, Adversely Affect the Company’s
Employer Medical Stop-Loss Business

In the continuing debate over health care reform, certain federal and state legislation has been proposed
which could have the effect of making plan sponsors, administrators, or certain other parties liable for punitive
damages in state court. State legislatures also periodically consider bills to fund deficits in state high-risk
health care pools that, through assessments, will place an additional financial burden on employee benefits
plans. While the Company cannot predict whether any of these or other proposals will be adopted or, what, if
any, impact the enactment of such proposals would have on its employer medical stop-loss business, the
number of employers offering health benefits or choosing self-insured plans could be reduced, plans could
increase the portion paid by employees (thereby reducing participation), pricing and coverage options could
be affected, and the Insurance Group could be faced with greater liability exposures.

The Company’s Inability to Assess Underwriting Risk Accurately Could Reduce Its Net Income

The Company’s success is dependent on its ability to assess accurately the risks associated with the
businesses on which the risk is retained. If the Company fails to assess accurately the risks it retains, the
Company may fail to establish the appropriate premium rates and the Company’s reserves may be inadequate
to cover its losses, requiring augmentation of the reserves, which in turn would reduce the Company’s net
income.

The Company’s MGU agreements require that the MGU follow underwriting guidelines published by the
Company and amended from time to time. Failure to follow these guidelines may result in termination or
modification of the MGU agreement. The Company performs periodic audits to confirm adherence to the
guidelines, but it is possible that the Company would not detect a breach in the guidelines for several months
after the infraction which could result in a material impact on the Net Loss Ratio for that MGU and could
have an adverse impact on the Company’s operating results.

Decreases in the Fair Market Value of Fixed Maturities May Greatly Reduce the Value of the
Company’s Investment Portfolio, and as a Result, the Company’s Financial Condition May Suffer

At December 31, 2003, fixed maturities represented $683.0 million or 79.8% of the Company’s total
investments of $855.8 million. The fair market value of fixed maturities and the related investment income
fluctuates depending on general economic and market conditions. The fair market value of these investments
generally increases or decreases in an inverse relationship with fluctuations in interest rates, while net
investment income realized by the Company will generally increase or decrease in line with changes in market
interest rates. In addition, actual net investment income and/or cash flows from investments that carry
prepayment risk, such as mortgage-backed and other asset-backed securities, may differ from those
anticipated at the time of investment as a result of interest rate fluctuations. An investment has prepayment
risk when there is a risk that the timing of cash flows that result from the repayment of principal might occur
earlier than anticipated because of declining interest rates or later than anticipated because of rising interest
rates. The impact of market value fluctuations affects the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.
Because all of the Company’s fixed maturities are classified as available for sale, changes in the fair market
value of the Company’s securities are reflected in the Company’s stockholders’ equity (accumulated other
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comprehensive income or loss). Noisimilar adjustment is made for liabilities to reflect a change in interest
rates. Therefore, interest rate fluctuations and economic conditions could adversely affect the Company’s
stockholders’ equity, total comprehensive income and/or cash flows.

If the Company Fails to Comply WTlth Extensive State and Federal Regulations, the Company Will Be
Subject to Penalties, Which May Include Fines and Suspension and Which May Adversely Affect the
Company’s Results of Operations aﬁd Financial Condition

The Company is subject to extensive governmental regulation and supervision. Most insurance regula-
tions are designed to protect the interests of policyholders rather than stockholders and other investors. This
regulation, generally administered by a department of insurance in each state in which the Company does
business, relates to, among other thiﬁgs;

« Approval of policy forms and premium rates;

 Standards of solvency, includiﬁg risk-based capital measurements, which are a measure developed by
the National Association of Insurance Commissioners and used by state insurance regulators to
identify insurance companies that potentially are inadequately capitalized;

* Licensing of insurers and their agents;

» Restrictions on the nature, quality and concentration of investments;
!
+ Restrictions on transactions between insurance companies and their affiliates;

+ Restrictions on the size of risks insurable under a single policy;

« Requiring deposits for the ben;:ﬁt of policyholders;

» Requiring certain methods of §ccounting;

s Prescribing the form and content of records of financial condition required to be filed; and
* Requiring reserves for unearned premium, losses and other purposes.

State insurance departments also: conduct periodic examinations of the affairs of insurance companies
and require the filing of annual and other reports relating to the financial condition of insurance companies,
holding company issues and other matters.

The Insurance Group’s business idepends on compliance with applicable laws and regulations and its
ability to maintain valid licenses and a;‘f?provals for its operations. Regulatory authorities have broad discretion
to grant, renew, or revoke licenses aan approvals. Regulatory authorities may deny or revoke licenses for
various teasons, including the violation of regulations. In some instances, the Insurance Group follows
practices based on its interpretations df regulations, or those that it believes to be generally followed by the
industry, which may be different frorr} the requirements or interpretations of regulatory authorities. If the
Insurance Group does not have the requisite licenses and approvals and does not comply with applicable
regulatory requirements, the insurance regulatory authorities could preclude or temporarily suspend the
Insurance Group from carrying on sofr‘ge or all of its activities or otherwise penalize it. That type of action
could have a material adverse effect;on the Insurance Group’s business. Also, changes in the level of
regulation of the insurance industry (whether federal, state or foreign), or changes in laws or regulations
themselves or interpretations by regulatory authorities, could have a material adverse effect on the Insurance
Group’s business. ‘
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
IHC
TIHC has entered into a renewable short-term arrangement with Geneve Corporation for the use of
6,750 square feet of office space as its corporate headquarters in Stamford, Connecticut.
Standard Security Life

Standard Security Life leases 13,000 square feet of office space in New York, New York as its corporate
headquarters, 3,000 square feet of office space in Farmington, New York for its DBL claims processing center
and 800 square feet of office space in Heathrow, Florida for a marketing office.

Madison National Life
Through May 31, 2006, Madison National Life is leasing 17,500 square feet of office space in Middleton,

Wisconsin as its corporate headquarters. Commencing June 1, 2006, Madison National Life will move its
corporate headquarters to Madison, Wisconsin, where it will begin leasing 27,450 square feet of space.
Madison National Life also leases 3,900 square feet in Birmingham, Alabama for its military and government
individual life and annuity division, 1,300 square feet in Austin, Texas for executive office space, and
2,400 square feet in Wilkesboro, North Carolina for its credit agency.
Majestic Underwriters
Majestic leases 5,495 square feet of office space in Troy, Michigan as its corporate headquarters and
984 square feet in Hinsdale, Illinois.
Health Plan Administrators
HPA leases 4,083 square feet of office space in Tampa, Florida as its corporate headquarters and
210 square feet in Pewaukee, Wisconsin.
GroupLink
GroupLink leases 9,024 square feet of office space in Indianapolis, Indiana as its corporate headquarters
and 1,495 square feet in Tempe, Arizona.
Insurers Administrative Corporation
TAC leases 49,000 square feet of office space in Phoenix, Arizona as its corporate headquarters, and
5,000 square feet in Rockford, Illinois.
Community America Insurance Services

CALIS leases 1,240 square feet of office space in Bloomington, Minnesota.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company is involved in legal proceedings and claims which arise in the ordinary course of its
businesses. The Company has established reserves that it believes are sufficient given information presently
available related to its outstanding legal proceedings and claims. The Company believes the results of pending
legal proceedings and claims are not expected to have a material adverse effect on its financial condition or
cash flows, although there could be such an effect on its results of operations for a particular period.
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ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

None.

PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

On July 15, 2004, the Company moved the listing of IHC common stock to the New York Stock
Exchange. The Company’s common stock now trades under the symbol IHC. Prior to that the common stock
traded on the NASDAQ National Market tier at the NASDAQ Stock Market under the symbol INHO. The
following tabulation shows the high and low sales prices for IHC’s common stock.

_High — Low
QUARTER ENDED: ‘
December 31, 2005 ... i $19.81 $17.49
September 30, 2005 . . .. 18.75 17.36
June 30,2005 ... ........... e 18.15  17.50
March 31, 2005 .. .. 20.16 17.90
QUARTER ENDED:
December 31, 2004 ... $19.05  $17.95
September 30, 2004 . . ... .. ... 2275 16.71
June 30, 2004 . ... e 21.25 16.18
March 31, 2004 . ... .. e 18.88 13.33

IHC’s stock price closed at $19. 55 on December 31, 2005.
At February 28, 2006, the number of record holders of IHC’s common stock was 1,067.

IHC declared a cash dividend of ;$.025 per share on its common stock on each of June 9, 2005 and
December 6, 2005 for a total annual dividend of $.05 per share.

IHC declared a special 80% stock dividend on June 8, 2004, which was distributed on July 2, 2004. The
transaction was accounted for as a stock split effected in the form of a dividend. All share and per share
disclosures in this Form 10-K reflect such dividend.

IHC declared a cash dividend of $.025 per share on its common stock on each of June 9, 2004 and
December 9, 2004 for a total annual dividend of $.05 per share.

THC declared a cash dividend of $.0278 per share on its common stock on November 18, 2003.

In 2005 and 2004, THC issued 239,122 and 129,808 shares of common stock, respectively, as private
placements of unregistered securities under Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”).
Accordingly, the shares will be “restricted securities”, subject to a legend and will not be freely tradable in the
United States until the shares are registered for resale under the Securities Act, or to the extent they are
tradable under Rule 144 promulgated under the Securities Act or any other available exemption. Information
pertaining to the Company’s common wstock is provided in Note 13 of Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements included in Item 8.
|

Share Repurchase Program '

In June 2004, the Board of Diréctors authorized an additional 450,000 share repurchase. As of
December 31, 2003, 109,837 shares were still authorized to be repurchased under the plan. This repurchase
plan, like the 450,000 share repurchase authorized in 2002, is a continuation of a program initiated in 1991 as
described in Note 13 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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The following table summarizes information with respect to the share repurchase program:

2005 Maximum Number

Number Average Price of Shares

of Shares of Repurchased Which Can be
Month of Repurchase Repurchased Shares Repurchased
January. ... ... 100,000 $18.54 320,037
February........ .. ... i — — 320,037
March. . ... .. 44,400 18.07 275,637
April ..o 53,600 18.10 222,037
May ................ e 46,000 18.10 176,037
June ... 16,200 17.60 159,837
July .o 10,100 17.58 149,737
AUGUSE . 39,900 17.60 109,837
September . ... ... e — — 109,837
October ... — — 109,837
November ........... ... ... ... . ... — — 109,837
December.. ... ... ... . . . — — 109,837

Copies of all of the Company’s filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission can be found on the
Company’s website: www.independenceholding.com

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following is a summary of selected consolidated financial data of the Company for each of the last
five years.
Year Ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
(In thousands, except per share data)

Income Data:

Total revenues . ...................... $ 296,417  $225,669 $187.878  $174,353  $151,590
Netincome......... ... .. ... 17,301 22,939 18,593 15,813 14,383
Balance Sheet Data:

Total investments . .................... 855,804 720,700 593,403 533,581 537,090
Total assets . ....... ... . ... . ........ 1,150,923 970,082 898,302 744,128 725,796
Insurance liabilities ................... 854,205 681,329 646,969 528,839 513,224
Debt and junior subordinated debt

SECUTTIES ... vttt 50,646 50,646 35,182 8,438 12,188
Common stockholders’ equity........... 198,751 188,853 168,896 153,718 137,548

Per Share Data:
Cash dividends declared per common

share ... ... o i .05 .05 .0278 0278 0278
Basic income per common share ........ 1.23 1.63 1.33 1.13 1.02
Diluted income per common share ...... 1.21 1.60 1.30 1.10 1.00
Book value per common share .......... 14.06 13.39 12.14 11.02 9.81

The Selected Financial Data should be read in conjunction with the accompanying Consolidated
Financial Statements and Notes thereto included in Item 8.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

OVERVIEW

Independence Holding Company, a Delaware corporation (NYSE: IHC), is a holding company
principally engaged in the life and health insurance business through: (i) its wholly-owned insurance
companies, Standard Security Life Insurance Company of New York (“Standard Security Life”) and
Madison National Life Insurance Cdmpany, Inc. (“Madison National Life”); and (ii) its marketing and
administrative companies, including Insurers Administrative Corporation (“IAC”), managing general under-
writer (“MGU”) affiliates, Health Plan Administrators (“HPA”), GroupLink Inc. (“GroupLink”) and
Community America Insurance Services Inc. (“CAIS”, formerly CA Insurance Services LLC). These
companies are sometimes collectivelyw referred to as the “Insurance Group,” and IHC and its subsidiaries
(including the Insurance Group) are sometimes collectively referred to as the “Company.” The Company also
owns a 48% equity interest in American Independence Corp. (NASDAQ:AMIC) which owns Independence
American Insurance Company (“Indépendence American”) and several MGU’s.

While management considers a wide range of factors in its strategic planning and decision-making,
underwriting profit is consistently emphasized as the primary goal in all decisions as to whether or not to
increase our retention in a core line, expand into new products, acquire an entity or a block of business, or
otherwise change our business model. Management’s assessment of trends in healthcare and morbidity, with
respect to medical stop-loss, major m“‘edical, STM, dental, vision, disability and DBL; mortality rates with
respect to life insurance; and changes in market conditions in general play a significant role in determining the
rates charged, deductibles and attachment points quoted, and the percentage of business retained. Manage-
ment has always focused on managing’costs of operations, and the Company believes that the acquisition of

IAC in January 2006 should afford it an opportunity to affect further cost efficiencies.
The following is a summary of key performance information and events:
» Net income of $17.3 million in"2005 ($1.21 per share, diluted), a 24.6% decrease from 2004;

+ Generated consolidated investment yield of 5.1% in 2005 as compared to 6.2% in 2004 which had a
particularly adverse effect on the Individual Life, Annuities and Other segment;

» 2005 net income was negatively impacted by higher net loss ratios from certain Medical Stop-Loss
programs. The Net Loss Ratips (defined as insurance benefits, claims and reserves divided by
(premiums earned less underwy{iting expenses) ) for the Medical Stop-Loss line of business for the
years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 were 93.2%, 86.6% and 84.1%, respectively;

» Revenues of $296.4 million, a 31;‘.3% increase from 2004 primarily due to an increase in net retention of
the Medical Stop-Loss line to 45.3% in 2005 from 34.1% in 2004 (“retention” refers to net earned
premiums after reinsurance);

» Gross premiums in the Medical Stop-Loss line of business decreased 7.5% due, in part, to the
continuing generally “soft” market;

+ Appointed three new MGUs expected to generate significant Medical Stop-Loss premium in 2006,
(revenues for the Company willdepend on retention percentages and other factors);

+ Increased ownership in AMIC t“\o 48% during 2005;

« Effective June 2003, acquired ‘\a $120 million block of life and annuity policies; and, effective
December 2005, acquired a $36 \fnillion block of life and annuity business, which together have helped
increase assets to over $1.1 billion;

+ In 2005, acquired a 45% interestjin CAIS, which markets major medical and other products for ITHC;
and in February 2006, acquired the remaining 55% interest;
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e In 2005, acquired HPA, a marketing and administrative organization specializing in short-term
medical insurance products and GroupLink, a marketing and administrative organization specializing
in dental benefits;

+ As of January 31, 2006, acquired JAC, a leading producer and administrator of group and individual
major medical insurance (including Consumer Driven Health Plans (CDHPs)) and other life and
health policies;

» As of January 1, 2005, reinsured, on a 100% quota share basis, a block of group major medical policies.
All regulatory approvals to assume this block have been received, and policies were assumed effective
December 1, 2005. Through December 31, 2005, the Company has recorded $39.9 million of gross
earned premiums and $13 million of net earned premiums on this block; and

» Approved to write a variety of fully-insured medical products in a majority of states for the insurance
companies.

Information pertaining to the Company’s business segments is provided in Note 18 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting and reporting policies of the Company conform to U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP”). The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with GAAP
requires the Company’s management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in
the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates. A
summary of the Company’s significant accounting policies and practices is provided in Note 1 of the Notes to
the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8. Management has identified the accounting policies
described below as those that, due to the judgments, estimates and assumptions inherent in those policies, are
critical to an understanding of the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements and this Management’s
Discussion and Analysis.

Insurance Premium Revenue Recognition and Policy Charges

Life

Traditional life insurance products consist principally of products with fixed and guaranteed premiums
and benefits, primarily term and whole life insurance products. Premiums from these products are recognized
as revenue when due.

Annuities and interest-sensitive life contracts, such as universal life and interest sensitive whole life, are
contracts whose terms are not fixed and guaranteed. Premiums from these policies are reported as funds on
deposit. Policy charges consist of fees assessed against the policyholder for cost of insurance (mortality risk),
policy administration and early surrender. These revenues are recognized when assessed against the
policyholder account balance.

Policies that do not subject the Company to significant risk arising from mortality or morbidity are
consideréd investment contracts. Deposits received from such contracts are reported as other policyholder
funds. Policy charges for investment contracts consist of fees assessed against the policyholder account for
maintenance, administration and surrender of the policy prior to contractually specified dates, and are
recognized when assessed against the policyholder account balance.

Health

Premiums for short-duration medical insurance contracts are intended to cover expected claim costs
resulting from insured events that occur during a fixed period of short duration. The Company has the ability
to cancel the annual contract or to revise the premium rates at the beginning of each annual contract period to
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cover future insured events. Insurance premiums from annual health contracts are collected monthly and are
recognized as revenue evenly as insurance protection is provided.

Premiums related to long-term and short-term disability contracts are recognized on a pro rata basis over
the applicable contract term.

Insurance Reserves

The Company maintains loss reserves to cover its estimated liability for unpaid losses and loss adjustment
expenses (including legal, other fees, and costs not associated with specific claims but related to the claims
payment function) for reported and unreported claims incurred as of the end of each accounting period. These
loss reserves are based on actuarial ‘assumptions and are. maintained at levels that are in accordance with
GAAP. Many factors could affect these reserves, including economic and social conditions, frequency and
severity of claims, medical trend resulting from the influences of underlying cost inflation, changes in
utilization and demand for medical services, and changes in doctrines of legal liability and damage awards in
litigation. Therefore, the Company’s reserves are necessarily based on estimates, assumptions and analysis of
historical experience. The Company’§ results depend upon the variation between actual claims experience and
the assumptions used in determining fesewcs and pricing products. Reserve assumptions and estimates require
significant judgment and, therefore, are inherently uncertain. The Company cannot determine with precision
the ultimate amounts that will be paid for actual claims or the timing of those payments. The Company’s
estimate of loss reserves represents management’s best estimate of the Company’s liability at the balance
sheet date.

Loss reserves differ for short-duration and long-duration insurance policies, including annuities. Reserves
are based on approved actuarial methods, but necessarily include assumptions about expenses, mortality,
morbidity, lapse rates and future yield on related investments.

All of the Company’s short-duration contracts are generated from its accident and health business, and
are accounted for based on actuarial estimates of the amount of loss inherent in that period’s claims, including
losses incurred for which claims have not been reported. Short-duration contract loss estimates rely on
actuarial observations of ultimate loss experience for similar historical events.

Management believes that the Company’s methods of estimating the liabilities for insurance reserves
provided appropriate levels of reserves at December 31, 2005, Changes in the Company’s reserve estimates are
recorded through a charge or credit to its earnings.

Life

For traditional life insurance products, the Company computes insurance reserves primarily using the net
premium method based on anticipated investment yield, mortality, and withdrawals. These methods are
widely used in the life insurance industry to estimate the liabilities for insurance reserves. Inherent in these
calculations are management and actdaﬁal judgments and estimates that could significantly impact the ending
reserve liabilities and, consequently, joperating results. Actual results may differ, and these estimates are
subject to interpretation and change. !

Policyholder funds represent 1nte‘rcst bearing liabilities arising from the sale of products, such as universal
life, interest-sensitive life and annultles Policyholder funds are comprised primarily of deposits received and
interest credited to the benefit of the policyholder less surrenders and withdrawals, mortality charges and
administrative expenses. ;

Interest Credited

Interest credited to policyholder funds represents interest accrued or paid on interest-sensitive life policies
and investment policies. Amounts charged to operations (including interest credited and benefit claims
incurred in excess of related policyholder account balances) are reported as insurance benefits, claims and
reserves-life and annuity. Credit ratejs for certain annuities and interest-sensitive life policies are adjusted
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periodically by the Company to reflect current market conditions, subject to contractually guaranteed
minimum rates.

Health

The Company believes that its recorded insurance reserves are reasonable and adequate to satisfy its
ultimate liability. The Company primarily uses its own loss development experience, but will also supplement
that with data from its outside actuaries, reinsurers and industry loss experience as warranted. To illustrate the
impact that projected Net Loss Ratios have on the Company’s loss reserves and related expenses, each
hypothetical 1% change in the Net Loss Ratio for the health business (i.e., the ratio of benefits, claims and
settlement expenses to earned health premiums) for the year ended December 31, 2005, would increase
reserves (in the case of a higher ratio) or decrease reserves (in the case of a lower ratio) by approximately
$1.9 million with a corresponding increase or decrease in the pre-tax expense for insurance benefits, claims
and reserves in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. Depending on the circumstances surrounding a
change in the Net Loss Ratio, other pre-tax amounts reported in the Consolidated Statement of Operations
could also be affected, such as amortization of deferred acquisition costs and commission expense.

The Company’s health reserves by segment at December 31, 2005 are as follows (in thousands):

Policy Claim Total Health

Claims Reserves Reserves
Medical Stop-Loss .. ...t $2,779 $ 70,081 $ 72,860
Fully-Insured Health ........... ... ... .. ... ... .. ...... — 4,000 4,000
Group Disability .. ... o 545 64,711 65,256
Credit A&H ... . 1,104 6,259 7,363
Individual A&H and Other............... ... .. ......... 411 14,549 14,960

$4.839  $159,600  $164,439

Medical Stop-Loss

The Company’s Medical Stop-Loss segment is comprised of Employer Stop-Loss, HMO Reinsurance
and Provider Excess. All of the Company’s Medical Stop-Loss policies are short-duration and are accounted
for based on actuarial estimates of the amount of loss inherent in that period’s claims or open claims from
prior periods, including losses incurred for claims that have not been reported (“IBNR”). Short-duration
contract loss estimates rely on actuarial observations of ultimate loss experience for similar historical events.

The two “primary” assumptions underlying the calculation of loss reserves for Medical Stop-Loss
business are (i) projected Net Loss Ratio, and (ii) claim development patterns. The projected Net Loss Ratio
is set at expected levels consistent with the underlying pricing assumptions (“Projected Net Loss Ratio”).
Claim development patterns are set quarterly as reserve estimates are developed and are based on recent claim
development history (“Claim Development Patterns”). The Company uses the Projected Net Loss Ratio to
establish reserves until developing losses provide a better indication of ultimate results and it is feasible to set
reserves based on Claim Development Patterns. The Company has concluded that a reasonably likely change
in the Projected Net Loss Ratio assumption could have a material effect on the Company’s financial
condition, results of operations, or liquidity (“Material Effect”) but a reasonably likely change in the Claim
Development Pattern would not have a Material Effect.

Projected Net Loss Ratio

Generally, during the first twelve months of an underwriting year, reserves for Medical Stop-Loss are first
set at the Projected Net Loss Ratio, which is set using pricing assumptions developed using completed prior
experience trended forward. The Projected Net Loss Ratio is the Company’s best estimate of future
performance until such time as developing losses provide a better indication of ultimate results.
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While the Company establishes a best estimate of the Projected Net Loss Ratio, actual experience may
deviate from this estimate. While the Company believes that larger variations are possible (as is the case with
the 2004 underwriting year which devia‘ited by ten Net Loss Ratio points), based on a review of historical Net
Loss Ratios experienced by the Company, the reasonably likely deviation from the expected Net Loss Ratio
was between three and five Net Loss Ratio points. Therefore, based on its experience to date, it was
reasonably likely that the actual experience will fall within a range up to five Net Loss Ratio points above or
below the expected pricing Net Loss Ratlo The impact of these reasonably likely changes at December 31,
2005, would be an increase in net reserves (in the case of a higher ratio) or a decrease in net reserves (in the
case of a lower ratio) of up to apprommately $2.7 million with a corresponding increase or decrease in the pre-

“tax expense for insurance benefits, claims and reserves in the 2005 Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Major factors that affect the Projected Net Loss Ratio assumption in reserving for Medical Stop-Loss
relate to: (i) frequency and severity of claims; (ii) changes in medical trend resulting from the influences of
underlying cost inflation, changes in \mhzatmn and demand for medical services, the impact of new medical
technology and changes in medical treatment protocols; and (iii) the adherence by the MGUSs that produce
and administer this business to the Company s underwriting guidelines. Changes in these underlying factors
are what determine the reasonably 11kely changes in the Projected Net Loss Ratio as discussed above.

Claim Development Patterns

Subsequent to the first twelve months of an underwriting year, the Company’s developing losses provide a
better indication of ultimate losses. At this point, claims have developed to a level where Claim Development
Patterns can be applied to generate reasonably reliable estimates of ultimate claim levels. Development factors
based on historical patterns are applied to paid and reported claims to estimate fully developed claims. Claim
Development Patterns are reviewed quarterly as reserve estimates are developed and are based on recent claim
development history. The Company must determine whether changes in development represent true
indications of emerging experience or a}e simply due to random claim fluctuations.

The Company also establishes its {best estimates of claim development factors to be applied to more
developed treaty year experience. Whilé these factors are based on historical Claim Development Patterns,
actual claim development may vary from these estimates. The Company does not believe that reasonably
likely changes in its actual claim development patterns would have a Material Effect.

Predicting ultimate claims and estimating reserves in Medical Stop-Loss is more complex than first
dollar medical and disability business due to the “excess of loss™ nature of these products with very high
deductibles applying to specific claims on any individual claimant and in the aggregate for a given group. The
level of these deductibles makes it more, difficult to predict the amount and payment pattern of such claims.
Fluctuations in results for specific cove;rage are primarily due to the severity and frequency of individual
claims, whereas fluctuations in aggregate coverage are largely attributable to frequency of underlying claims
rather than severity. Liabilities for first dollar medical reserves and ‘disability coverages are computed using
completion factors and expected Net Loss Ratios derived from actual historical premium and claim data.

Due to the short-term nature of MEdical Stop-Loss, redundancies or deficiencies will typically emerge
during the course of the following year rather than over a number of years. For Employer Stop-Loss, as noted
above, the Company maintains its reserves based on underlying pricing assumptions until it determines that an
adjustment is appropriate based on emegging experience from all of its MGUs for prior underwriting years.
Reserves for HMO Reinsurance and Provider Excess are adjusted on a policy by policy basis. Because of the
small number of HMO Reinsurance and Provider Excess policies it writes, the Company is able to evaluate
each policy individually for potential liability by reviewing open claims with each HMO or provider group and
applying completion factors using historical data.

Fully-Insured Health

Reserves for fully-insured medical and dental business are established using historical claim development
patterns. Claim development by number.of months elapsed from the incurred month is studied each month
and development factors are calculated. These claim development factors are then applied to the amount of
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claims paid to date for each incurred month to estimate fully complete claims. The difference between fully
complete claims and the claims paid to date is the estimated reserve. Total reserves are the sum of the reserves
for all incurred months.

The primary assumption in the determination of fully insured reserves is that historical claim develop-
ment patterns are representative of future claim development patterns. Factors which may affect this
assumption include changes in claim payment processing times and procedures, changes in time delay in
submission of claims, and the incidence of unusually large claims. The reserving analysis includes a review of
claim processing statistical measures and large claim early notifications; the potential impacts of any changes
in these factors are minimal. The delay in submission of claims tends to be stable over time and not subject to
significant volatility. The Company does not believe that any reasonably likely change in these factors will
have a Material Effect.

Group Disability

The Company’s Group Disability segment is comprised of Long Term Disability (“LTD”) and Disability
Benefits Law (“DBL”). The two “primary” assumptions on which Group Disability reserves are based are:
(i) morbidity levels; and (ii) recovery rates. If morbidity levels increase, for example due to an epidemic or a
recessionary environment, the Company would increase reserves because there would be more new claims
than expected. In regard to the assumed recovery rate, if disabled lives recover more quickly than anticipated
then the existing claims reserves would be reduced; if less quickly, the existing claims reserves would be
increased. Advancements in medical treatments could affect future recovery, termination, and mortality rates.
With respect to LTD only, other assumptions are: (i) changes in market interest rates; (ii) changes in offsets;
(iii) advancements in medical treatments; and (iv) cost of living. Changes in market interest rates could
change reserve assumptions since the payout period could be as long as 40 years. Changes in offsets such as
Social Security benefits, retirement plans and state disability plans also impact reserving. As a result of the
forgoing assumptions, it is possible that the historical trend may not be an accurate predictor of the future
development of the block. As with most long term insurance reserves that require judgment, the reserving
process is subject to uncertainty and volatility and fluctuations may not be indicative of the claim development
overall.

While the Company believes that larger variations are possible, the Company does not believe that
reasonably likely changes in its “primary” assumptions would have a Material Effect.

Credit Accident and Health (“A&H”)

The primary assumptions used in estimating the Credit A&H reserves relate to: (i) the mix of ages of the
insured; (ii) the rate of disability; and (iii) the rate of mortality of disabled lives. If the mix is skewed towards
older age groups the probability of disability increases. If the rate of disability increases, the Company would
increase reserves. If mortality of disabled lives improves, the Company would have to pay benefits for a longer
period of time. Ranges are not used to determine the ultimate amount of reported reserves for Credit A&H.
Management records its best estimate based on the Company’s experience. Credit A&H policies are
accounted for based on actuarial estimates of the amount of loss inherent in that period’s claims, including
losses incurred for which claims have not been reported. The Company establishes reserves for benefit claims
that (i) have been reported, but not paid; and (ii) have been incurred, but not reported.

Individual A&H and Other

This segment is a combination of closed lines of business as well as certain small existing lines. While the
assumptions used in setting reserves vary between these different lines of business, the assumptions would
generally relate to the following: (i) the rate of disability; (ii) the morbidity rates on specific diseases; and
(iii) accident rates. The reported reserves are based on management’s best estimate for each line within this
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segment. General uncertainties that surround all insurance reserving methodologies would apply. However,
since the Company has such few policies of this type, volatility may occur due to a small number of claims.

Deferred Acquisition Costs

Costs that vary with and are primarily related to acquiring insurance policies and investment type
contracts are deferred and recorded as deferred policy acquisition costs (“DAC”). These costs are principally
broker fees, agent commissions, and the purchase prices of acquired blocks of business. DAC is amortized to
expense and reported separately in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. All DAC within a particular
product type is amortized on the same ibasis using the following methods:

Life

For traditional life insurance and:other premium paying policies accounted for under Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 60, amortization of DAC is charged to expense over the
related premium revenue recognition period. Assumptions used in the amortization of DAC are determined
based upon the conditions as of the datejof policy issue or assumption and are not generally revised during the
life of the policy.

For long duration type contracts accounted for under SFAS No. 97, such as annuities and universal life
business, amortization of DAC is chargé“d to expense over the life of the book of such contracts based on the
present value of the estimated gross profits (“EGPs™) expected to be realized over the life of the book of
contracts. EGPs consist of margins based on expected mortality rates, persistency rates, interest rate spreads,
and other revenues and expenses. The Company regularly evaluates its EGP’s to determine if actual
experience or other evidence suggests that earlier estimates should be revised. If the Company determines that
the current assumptions underlying the EGPs are no longer the best estimate for the future due to changes in
actual versus expected mortality rates, pérsistency rates, interest rate spreads, or other revenues and expenses,
the future EGPs are updated using the; \new assumptions and prospective unlocking occurs. These updated
EGPs are locked into for future amortlzanon calculations. The total amortization recorded to date is adjusted
through a current charge or credit to the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Health !

|
For credit health insurance policies ﬁccounted for under SFAS No. 60, amortization of DAC is charged
to expense in proportion to premium rev‘\enue recognized.
Investments §f
The Company accounts for its 1nvestpcnts in debt and equity securities under SFAS No. 115, Accounting
for Certain Investments in Debt and Equlty Securities. The Company has classified all of its investments as
available-for-sale or trading securities. These investments are carried at fair value based on quoted market
prices with unrealized gains and losses reported in either accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in
the Consolidated Balance Sheets for a\;}ailable-for-sale securities or as unrealized gains or losses in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations for trading securities. The Company has approximately $8.3 million
and $7.5 million in trading accounts at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Net realized gains and
losses on investments are computed uéing the specific identification method and are reported in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations. |

Declines in value judged to be otherU :than-temporary are determined based on the specific identification
method and are reported in the Consolidated Statements of Operations as net realized losses. The factors
considered by management in determining when a decline is other than temporary include but are not limited
to: the length of time and extent to which the fair value has been less than cost; the financial condition and
near-term prospects of the issuer; adver%e changes in ratings announced by one or more rating agencies;
whether the issuer of a debt security has“ 'remained current on principal and interest payments; whether the
decline in fair value appears to be issuer ‘specific or, alternatively, a reflection of general market or industry

conditions; and the Company’s intent and Wablhty to hold the security for a period of time sufficient to allow for

\‘
|
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a recovery in fair value. For securities within the scope of Emerging Issues Task Force Issue 99-20, such as
purchased interest-only securities, an impairment loss is recognized when there has been a decrease in
expected cash flows combined with a decline in the security’s fair value below cost.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Results of Operations for the Year Ended December 31, 2005 Compared to the Year Ended
December 31, 2004 :

Net income was $17.3 million or $1.21 per share, diluted, for the year ended December 31, 2005, a
decrease of $5.6 million compared to net income of $22.9 million, or $1.60 per share, diluted, for the year
ended December 31, 2004, The Company’s income before taxes decreased $7.7 million to $25.9 million for the
year ended December 31, 2005 from $33.6 million for 2004.

Information by business segment for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 is as follows:

Equity Benefits, Amortization
Net Income Feeand  Claims of Deferred Selling,
Premiums  Investment From Other and Acquisition General and
December 31, 2005 Earned Income  AMIC Income  Reserves Costs Administrative Total
(In thousands)

Medical stop-loss .............. $128,501 4344 1411 7,120 88,075 — 34,957 $ 18,344
Fully-Insured . ................ 17,423 (75) — 6,710 10,784 600 13,271 (597)
Group disability, life, annuities

and DBL................... 41,888 8,276 — 553 29,301 154 15,729 5,533
Individual life, annuities and

other ............... ... ..., 28,531 25,965 — 605 35,682 4,521 7,891 7,007
Credit life and disability ........ 20,694 815 — 133 9,748 4,813 7,362 (281)
Corporate ............. e — 1,338 — 108 —_ — 4,157 (2,711)
Subtotal ..................... $237,037 40,663 1,411 15229 173,590 10,088 83,367 27,295
Realized and unrealized gains . .. 2,077
Interest ekpense ............... (3,496)
Income before income taxes. .. .. 25,876
Income taxes ................. (8,575)

Netincome................... $ 17,301




i Equity Benefits, Amortization
: Net Income "Feeand  Claims of Deferred Selling,
Premiums Investmeat From  Other and Acquisition General and

December 31, 2004 Earned Income AMIC Income  Reserves Costs Administrative Total -

! (In thousands)
Medical stop-loss .............. $ 91140 3,519 2334 2519 61,267 — 26,430 $ 17,815
Fully-Insured ................. - — S — — — — —
Group disability, life, annuities ) .

and DBL ..... . 36,734 8,482 — 127 27,483 140 12,019 5,701

Individual life, annuities and other 20,?57 26,737 — 850 28,446 4,250 6,044 9,604
Credit life and disability ........ 19,436 1,022 — 40 8,746 4,152 6,968 632
Corporate .................0.. I— 3,155 — 423 — — 3,756 (178)
Subtotal .............. I $174,067 42,915 2,334 3959 125,942 8,542 55,217 33,574
Realized and unrealized gains. . . . ‘ 2,394
Interest expense ............... (2,338)
Income before income taxes ..... “ ) 33,630
Income taxes. . ... SHEpY e : ' ) (10,691)
Net income ... .vovvvnrenn... . ' $ 22,939

Premiums Earned

Total premiums earned grew $62.9 million to $237.0 million in 2005 from $174.1 million in 2004. The
increase is due to: (i) the Medical ‘Stop-Loss segment which increased $31.4 million primarily due to
$29.8 million in increased retention and a $1.6 million increase due to a Net Loss Ratio cover for the 2004
underwriting year that did not exist in' 2004; (ii) the new Fully-Insured Health segment (formerly Strategic
Health) which had $17.4 million of premiums in 2005; (iii) the Individual and Other segment which
increased $7.8 million comprised of an increase in retention in blanket accident and sickness policies, an
increase in the ordinary life line primarily due to acquisitions and growth in the military and civilian
government employee division; {iv) the Credit segment which increased $1.2 million; and (v) a $5.1 million
increase in the Group segment due to a $2.7 million increase in group LTD and group life, a $4.3 million
increase in other group A&H due to new Point of Service business, partially offset by a $1.9 million decrease
in DBL due to the 20% reinsurance agrcement with Independence American effected as of July 1, 2004.

Net Realized and Unrealized Gains

The Company had net realized and unrealized gains of $2.1 million in 2005 compared to $2.4 million in
2004, for a decrease in realized and unreahzed gains of $.3 million. Decisions to sell securities are based on
cash flow needs, investment opportunmes and economic and market conditions, thus creating fluctuations in
gains and losses from period to pcnod

Net Investment Income

Total net investment income decreased $2.3 million primarily due to an increase in lower yielding equity
securities, and a move toward municipal securities which also provide lower yields, but result in income tax
advantaged earnings. In addition, the Company’s investments in limited partnerships in the Corporate
segment contributed less investment income in 2005 than in 2004. The decrease in yields was partially offset
by an increase in invested assets due to the acquisition of policy blocks in 2005. The annualized return on
investments was 5.1% for 2005 versus 6.2% for 2004.

Equity Income w
Equity income from AMIC decreased $.9 million due to a decrease in earnings of AMIC, partially offset

by an increase in IHC’s ownership to approx1mately 48% at December 31, 2005 from 40% at December 31,
2004.
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Fee Income and Other Income

Fee income increased $7.2 million due to: (i)$6.7 million in fee income from the Fully-Insured Health
segment (formerly Strategic Health), which did not exist in 2004, primarily due to $5.6 million in fee income
at HPA, and $1.1 million in fee income at GroupLink, and; (ii) a $0.5 million increase in the Medical Stop-
Loss segment primarily caused by a $1.0 million increase in fee income at Majestic, partially offset by a
$0.5 million decrease in fee income at another MGU.

Total other income increased $4.0 million due primarily to (i) a $1.4 million increase from a
commutation agreement, pursuant to which, effective as of January 1, 2003, the reinsurer returned 94% of the
net premium collected to date with respect to the 2003 Medical Stop-Loss business ceded to such reinsurer,
and the Company has released most future liabilities of such reinsurer with respect to such business; (ii) a
$1.4 million increase from the Excess of Loss Agreement related to the expired portion of the 2004 treaty year
business; and (iii) $1.2 million primarily generated from the Medical Stop-Loss business.

Insurance Benefits, Claims and Reserves

Benefits, claims and reserves increased $47.6 million. The increase is due to: (i) $26.8 million in the
Medical Stop-Loss segment primarily resulting from an increase in retention in 2005 as well as higher Net
Loss Ratios on its Medical Stop-Loss line of business in 2005 (93.2%) as compared to 2004 (86.6%); (ii) an
increase of $10.8 million in the Fully-Insured Health segment which was not formed until after the third
quarter of 2004; (iii) a $7.2 million increase in the Individual and Other segment due to higher losses on the
assumed block of annuity and life business in run-off status, and higher mortality losses on the ordinary life
line subsequent to the acquisitions; (iv) a $1.0 million increase in Credit claims and reserves due to an
increase in premiums; and (v) an increase of $1.8 million in the Group segment primarily due to a
$1.3 million increase in the GTL line caused by increased retention and frequency of claims experienced, a
$2.1 million increase in the group A&H line due to new business, and a $.7 million increase in the VFD
annuity line due to increased business, partially offset by a $2.3 million decrease in the DBL line due to the
20% reinsurance agreement previously mentioned. Insurance benefits, claims and reserves for 2005 includes a
charge of $.6 million to reflect loss development from prior years and a corresponding increase in reserves for
the current year. While management sets reserves based on its best estimates of ultimate claim settlement
costs, the Company adjusts reserves as claims mature, approach settlement or are otherwise resolved.

Amortization of Deferred Acquisition Costs

Amortization of deferred acquisition costs increased $1.5 million due to amortization of expenses related
to the new Fully-Insured Health segment (formerly Strategic Health) and acquisitions of policy blocks.

Interest Expense on Debt

Interest expense increased $1.2 million primarily due to the issuance of $15.5 million of fixed rate
subordinated debt during the fourth quarter of 2004. The Company has $38.2 million of fixed rate debt
(including $25.7 million of junior subordinated debt) and $12.4 million of floating rate junior subordinated
debt. The floating rate debt carried a weighted average interest rate of 7.3% in 2005 versus 5.5% in 2004.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $28.1 million primarily due to (i) an $8.5 million
increase in the Medical Stop-Loss segment caused by a $2.9 million increase in commissions due to greater
retention rates, higher profit commissions and higher levels of assumed premiums, which charge higher
commission rates, and a $5.6 million increase in other general expenses corresponding with the increase in
premiums; (ii) a $13.3 million increase in the Fully-Insured Health segment (formerly Strategic Health) due
to the formation of SHA and the business of HPA and GroupLink, which has no comparable amount in 2004;
(iii) a $3.7 million increase in the Group segment primarily due to a $1.8 million increase in commissions,
$.5 million in expenses on new business in the group A&H line, a $1.1 million increase in commissions on
annuities, and $.5 million of increased expenses in the GTL line, partially offset by a $.2 million decrease in
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other expenses; (iv) a $1.8 million iincrease in the Individual and Other segment due to $1.0 million in
increased commissions on annuities, a $.5 million increase in expenses on the blanket line, and a $.3 million
increase in other expenses; (v) a $.4 r“;nillion increase in the Credit segment due to increased commissions and
expenses commensurate with higher premiums; and (vi) a $.4 million increase in Corporate segment expenses
primarily due to higher audit fees and Sarbanes-Oxley compliance costs.

Income Taxes

Income tax expense decreased $2 1 million to $8.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 from
$10.7 million for 2004. This results in effective rates of 33.1% for the year ended December 31, 2005 and
31.8% for the year ended December, 31, 2004. The higher effective tax rate in 2005 primarily reflects the
impact in 2004 of the reversal of $1.1 million in prior tax expenses based upon the prov151ons of the 2004
American Jobs Creation Act, which was not repeated in 2005, partially offset by an increase in income earned
on tax-advantaged securities in 2005.’

Fourth Quarter Earnings

i

Net income amounted to $895,0QO, or $.06 per share, diluted, for the three months ended December 31,
2005 compared to $6,343,000, or $.44j;per share, diluted, for the three months ended December 31, 2004. The
decrease in net income in the fourth quarter of 2005 is primarily attributable to higher than expected Net Loss
Ratios on the employer Medical Std‘p-Loss segment due to claim development in 2005; and a significant
reduction in investment income due t':o lower yields in 2005 as compared to 2004.

|
i

Results of Operations for the Year Ended December 31, 2004 Compared to the Year Ended
December 31, 2003

Net income was $22.9 million ojf $1.60 per share, diluted, for the year ended December 31, 2004, an
increase of $4.3 million compared to f}net income of $18.6 million, or $1.30 per share, diluted, for the year

ended December 31, 2003. The Company’s income before taxes increased $4.9 million to $33.6 million for the
year ended December 31, 2004 from $28.7 million for 2003.

Information by business segment! for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 is as follows:

Equity Benefits, Amortization
‘ Net Income Feeand Claims of Deferred Selling,
Premiums  Investment  From Other and Acquisition General and

December 31, 2004 Earned Income AMIC Income  Reserves Costs Administrative Total

“\ (In thousands)
Medical stop-loss .............. $ 97,1“‘40 3,519 2334 2,519 61,267 — 26,430 $ 17,815
Fully-Insured ................. “—— — —_ — — — —_ —
Group disability, life, annuities ‘

and DBL ... ... ... ... ... .. 36,734 8,482 — 127 27,483 140 12,019 5,701

Individual life, annuities and other 20, 7h57 26,737 — 850 28,446 4,250 6,044 9,604
Credit life and disability ........ 19,436 1,022 — 40 8,746 4,152 6,968 632
COMpOTate ..o\ \veereeneen. . L3155 — 423 _ — 3,756 (178)
Subtotal .................. ... $174,067 42915 2,334 3959 125,942 8,542 55,217 33,574
Realized and unrealized gains. . . . ‘ 2,394
Interest expense ............... (2,338)
Income before income taxes ... .. ‘ 33,630
Income taxes.................. ‘ (10,691)
Netincome ................... $ 22,939
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Equity Benefits, Amortization

Net Income Fee and Claims of Deferred Selling,
Premiums  Investment From Other and Acquisition General and
December 31, 2003 Earned Income AMIC Income  Reserves Costs Administrative Total
(In thousands)

Medical stop-loss .............. $ 76,123 2,693 2,292 135 46,460 — 18,066 $ 16,717
Fully-Insured ................. — — — — — — — -—
Group disability, life, annuities

and DBL................... 36,571 7,655 — 368 24,907 118 12,324 7,245
Individual life, annuities and other 17,558 22,376 — (476) 22,085 3,156 8,084 6,133
Credit life and disability ........ 19,155 958 — 208 8,723 3,751 7,270 577
Corporate .................... — 2,114 —  (165) — — 3,294 (1,345)
Subtotal ..................... $149407 35,796 2,292 70 102,175 7,025 49,038 29,327
Realized and unrealized gains. . . . 313
Interest expense ............... ’ (898)
Income before income taxes .. ... 28,742
Income taxes.................. (10,149)
Netincome................... $ 18,593

Premiums Earned

Total premiums earned grew $24.7 million to $174.1 million in 2004 from $149.4 million in 2003. The
increase is due to: (i) the Medical Stop-Loss segment which increased $21.0 million primarily due to
$10.7 million of employer stop-loss due to increased retentions and $10.3 million in premiums earned on new
business; (ii) the Individual and Other segment which increased $3.2 million comprised of a $.5 million
increase in retention in blanket accident and sickness policies, a $1.0 million increase due to the acquisition of
a block of supplemental annuity contracts, and a $1.9 million increase in the ordinary life line due to the
assumption of a block of runoff business in November 2003, partially offset by a $.2 million decrease in the
remaining other individual and other lines experiencing ordinary runoff; (iii) the Credit segment which
increased $.3 million; and (iv) a $.2 million increase in the Group and DBL segment due to a $.7 million
increase in group LTD, a $.3 million increase in group life, partially offset by a $.8 million decrease in DBL
due to the 20% reinsurance agreement with Independence American as of July 1, 2004.

Net Realized and Unrealized Gains

The Company had net realized and unrealized gains of $2.4 million in 2004 compared to $.3 million in
2003, for an increase in realized and unrealized gains of $2.1 million. Decisions to sell securities are based on
cash flow needs, investment opportunities and economic and market conditions, thus creating fluctuations in
gains and losses from period to period.

Net Investment Income

Total net investment income increased $7.1 million primarily due to an increase in invested assets due to
the acquisition of policy blocks in 2004, The annualized return on investments was 6.2% for the year ended
December 31, 2004 versus 6.5% in 2003.

Equity Income

Equity income from AMIC increased $.1 million due to a decrease in earnings of AMIC, more than
offset by an increase in IHC’s ownership to approximately 40% at December 31, 2004 from 39% at
December 31, 2003.
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Fee Income and Other Income

i‘
Fee income increased $2.5 million, primarily in the Medical Stop-Loss segment due to the acquisition of
Majestic in July 2004. |

Total other income increased $1.4 million related primarily to a $1.3 million increase in the Individual
and Other segment due to the surrender of a large number of ordinary life policies.

Insurance Benefits, Claims and Reserves

Benefits, claims and reserves increased $23.8 million. The increase is due to: (i) a $14.8 million increase
in the Medical Stop-Loss segment pr%marily due to a $16.0 million increase in Medical Stop-Loss direct and
assumed lines commensurate with increased premiums, partially offset by decreases of $.7 million and
$.5 million in the Provider Excess line and HMO Reinsurance line, respectively, caused by improvements in
loss experience in those lines in 2004 versus 2003; (ii) a $6.4 million increase in the Individual and Other
segment primarily due to a $2.9 million increase in annuities due to acquisitions in the fourth quarter of 2003
and June 2004, a $1.3 million increase in the VFD annuity line due to increased business, a $1.8 million
increase in ordinary life claims and reserves due to higher premiums, and $.4 million of other increases; and
(iii) a $2.6 million increase in the Grlc};up and DBL segment primarily due a $1.2 million increase in the LTD
line due to higher loss development on the new business, a $.7 million increase in group annuities due to new
business, and a $1.2 million 1ncrease‘:1n the GTL line due to new business, partially offset by a $.5 million
decrease in the DBL line due to the ;O% reinsurance agreement previously mentioned.

\
Amortization of Deferred Acquisition Costs

Amortization of deferred acquisition costs increased $1.5 million primarily due to a $1.1 miilion increase
in the Individual and Other segment,{ and a $.4 million increase in the Credit segment caused by increased
amortization of expenses related to acqulsmons of new policy blocks.

|

Interest Expense on Debt ‘,‘\

Interest expense increased $1.4 mllhon primarily due to the issuance of $12.4 million of floating rate
junior subordinated debt in the first quarter of 2004 which carried a weighted average interest rate of 5.5% in
2004, and a full year of interest on the $12 S million debt under a line of credit obtained in the third quarter of
2003. '

Selling, General and Administrativé Expenses

Selling, general and adrnlmstratlve expenses increased $6.2 million primarily due to (i) an increase in the
Medical Stop-Loss segment of $8.4 mllllon principally due to higher commissions and other general expenses
which corresponds with the increase in premiums; (i) a $2.0 million decrease in the Individual and Other
segment due to $1.7 million in reduced commissions and a $.3 million decrease in other expenses; (iii) a
$.3 million decrease in the Group and DBL segment due to a $.1 million decrease in commissions and a
$.2 million decrease in other expenses ' (iv) a $.3 million decrease in the Credit segment due to a $.5 million
decrease in commissions caused by 1ncreased deferrals on new business, partially offset by a $.2 million
increase in other expenses; and (v) a‘$4 million increase in Corporate segment expenses primarily due to
higher compensation costs and listing THC’s stock on the NYSE.

Income Taxes

Income tax expense increased $.6 million to $10.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 from
$10.1 million for 2003. This resulted i an effective rate of 31.8% for the year ended December 31, 2004, and
35.3% for the year ended December 31, 2003, primarily reflecting the reversal of $1.1 million of prior tax
expenses under the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004.
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LIQUIDITY

Insurance Group

The Insurance Group normally provides cash flow from: (i) operations; (ii) the receipt of scheduled
principal payments on its portfolio of fixed maturities; and (iii) earnings on investments. Such cash flow is
partially used to fund liabilities for insurance policy benefits. These liabilities represent long-term and short-
term obligations.

Corporate

Corporate derives its funds principally from: (i) dividends from the Insurance Group; (ii) management
fees from its subsidiaries; and (iii) investment income from Corporate liquidity. Regulatory constraints
historically have not affected the Company’s consolidated liquidity, although state insurance laws have
provisions relating to the ability of the parent company to use cash generated by the Insurance Group.

Total Corporate liquidity (cash, cash equivalents, resale agreements, short-term investments, fixed
maturities, equity securities, partnership interests and certain other current assets, net of current liabilities)
amounted to $30.6 million at December 31, 2005. Corporate liquidity excludes the repayment of $12.5 million
of debt due September 2006, as such debt is in the process of renewal. During 2005, THC repurchased
310,200 shares of its common stock for $5.6 million under its common stock repurchase program.

BALANCE SHEET

Total investments and cash and cash equivalents increased $134.6 million at December 31, 2005 largely
due to net cash of $21.7 million provided by operating activities and $130.5 million received in the purchase of
policy blocks, partially offset by $12.0 million in cash used for acquisitions and $5.6 million in net cash used
for other purposes. The decrease in insurance reserves-health of $6.5 million is primarily due to the timing of
claims payments. The $102.1 million increase in insurance reserves-life and annuity is primarily due to the
acquisition of policy blocks. The $62.2 million increase in funds on deposit is primarily a result of the purchase
of individual annuity policies in the second quarter of 2005. The $9.9 million increase in total stockholders’
equity is primarily due to net income generated in the year ended December 31, 2005 and issuances of
common shares, partially offset by an increase in net unrealized losses on investments, dividend payments and
purchases of the Company’s common stock.

The Company had net receivables from reinsurers of $97.4 million at December 31, 2005. Substantially
all of the business ceded to such reinsurers is of short duration. All of such receivables are either due from the
Company’s affiliate, Independence American, highly rated companies or are adequately secured. No
allowance for doubtful accounts was necessary at December 31, 2005. As of December 31, 2005, the balance
due from Independence American is $15.5 million.

Asset Quality

The nature and quality of insurance company investments must comply with all applicable statutes and
regulations, which have been promulgated primarily for the protection of policyholders. Of the aggregate
carrying value of the Insurance Group’s investment assets, approximately 86.8% was invested in investment
grade fixed maturities, resale agreements, policy loans and cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2005,
Also at such date, approximately 94.1% of the Insurance Group’s fixed maturities were investment grade.
These investments carry less risk and, therefore, lower interest rates than other types of fixed maturity
investments. At December 31, 2005, approximately 5.9% of the carrying value of fixed maturities was invested
in diversified non-investment grade fixed maturities (investments in such securities have different risks than
investment grade securities, including greater risk of loss upon default, and thinner trading markets). The
Company does not have any mortgage loans or non-performing fixed maturities at December 31, 2005.

34




Investment Impairments

The Company reviews its investments regularly and monitors its investments continually for impairments.
For the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company recorded an insignificant realized loss for other-
temporary impairments. For the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company recorded a realized loss for
other-than-temporary impairments of $.6 million of which $.4 million related to certain interest only securities
(1O Securities”) resulting from unexpected prepayments of the mortgage obligations underlying the IO
Securities due to falling interest rates. At December 31, 2005, the Company had no investments in IO
Securities. |

The Company’s gross unrealized losses on fixed maturities totaled $18.2 million at December 31, 2005.
Substantially all of these securities were investment grade. The Company holds all fixed maturities as
available-for-sale securities and, accordingly, marks all of its fixed maturities to market through accumulated
other comprehensive income or loss. The unrealized losses on all available-for-sale securities have been

evaluated in accordance with the Company’s policy and were determined to be temporary in nature at
December 31, 2005.

Health Reserves

The following table summarizes the prior year amount incurred in 2005 according to the year to which it
relates, together with the reserve at the beginning of the year to which it relates (in thousands):

Reserves at Prior Year
December 31, 2004 Amount Incurred

Total Reserves

2004 .o $34,855 $(3,123)

2003 .o 17,280 2,562

2002 and Prior ... ... 11,883 (41)
Total ..o e $64,018 $ (602)

The following sections describe, for each segment, the deficiency (unfavorable development) or
redundancy (favorable development) experienced in 2005, together with the key assumptions and changes
therein affecting the reserve estimates:

Medical Stop-Loss

The Company experienced net unfavorable development of $2.0 million in the Medical Stop-Loss
segment. The net unfavorable development is based on $4.7 million negative development in the 2004
reserves, partially offset by positive development of $2.7 million related to prior years. While the Company
establishes a best estimate of the Projected Net Loss Ratio, it is reasonably likely that the actual experience
will fall within a range up to five Net Loss Ratio points above or below this ratio. The Company sets its pricing
and underwriting guidelines at the beg%nning of each treaty year based on its evaluation of its own experience
and current market conditions. Changes in market conditions through the treaty year have unexpected effects
on the underwriting and rating decisions of its MGUs and produce results which vary from the expectations
implicit in its pricing. With respect to the 2004 reserves, the deviation above the Company’s estimated
Projected Net Loss Ratio was ten Net Loss Ratio points. The higher deviation for 2004 was largely a result of:
(i) the “soft” Medical Stop-Loss market continuing longer than anticipated; (ii) deviations from underwriting
guidelines and disclosure protocols by certain of its MGUs and producers as a result of the soft market, which
were detected by the Company in its 12005 underwriting audits; and (iii) an unanticipated continuation of
historically high inpatient hospital cost trends. This larger than expected deviation was magnified for 2004
reserves because of an overall increase in the Company’s risk retention in that year. With respect to the 2003
and prior reserves, the positive deviation resulted from loss development being much lower than anticipated
based on the Company’s historical loss development patterns. This resulted from actual loss development from
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more recently appointed MGU’s during this period and therefore their development patterns were not
included in historical Company loss development statistics.

Group Disability

The Group Disability segment had a favorable development of $1.1 million. This amount consists of a
favorable development of $1.7 million on the 2004 reserves primarily due to DBL and an unfavorable
development of $.6 million for all other years due to LTD.

Due to the long-term nature of LTD, in establishing loss reserves the Company must make estimates for
case reserves, incurred but not reported reserves (“IBNR”), and reserves for Loss Adjustment Expenses
(“LAE”). Case reserves generally equal the Company’s best estimate of the present value of the liability for
future benefits to be paid on claims incurred as of the balance sheet date. The LAE reserve is calculated based
on an actuarial expense study. Since the LTD block of policies is relatively small, results can vary from year to
year solely on the basis of one or two policies. It is not uncommon for a reserve of several hundred thousand
dollars to be associated with one policy. If a small number of claimants with large policy reserves were to
recover or a few large claims were incurred, the results could distort the Company’s reserve estimates from
year to year. However, there were no individual factors in 2003 that caused the unfavorable development in
LTD. With respect to DBL, reserves for the most recent quarter of earned premium are established using a
Net Loss Ratio methodology. The Net Loss Ratio is determined by applying the completed prior four quarters
of historical Net Loss Ratios to the last quarter of earned premium. Reserves associated with the premium
earned prior to the last quarter are established using a completion factor methodology. The completion factors
are developed using the historical payment patterns for DBL. The favorable development in the DBL line is
due to lower than expected claims.

There were no changes in the Company’s experience factor or the IBNR factor for Group Disability. The
reserving process used by management was consistent from 2004 to 2005.
Credit A&GH

The Credit A&H unfavorable development for 2005 was $.2 million which relates to 2004 reserves. There
were no changes in the Company’s experience factor or the IBNR factor for Credit A&H used in the reserving
process from 2004 to 2003.

Individual A&H and Other

The Individual A&H and Other segment had a favorable development of $.5 million for 2005. The
favorable development was not due to a change in assumptions, but rather the volatility of having a relatively
small block of business. The reserving process used by management was consistent from 2004 to 2005.

CAPITAL RESOURCES

Due to its strong capital ratios, broad licensing and excellent asset quality and credit-worthiness, the
Insurance Group remains well positioned to increase or diversify its current activities. It is anticipated that
future acquisitions or other expansion of operations will be funded internally from existing capital and surplus
and parent company liquidity. In the event additional funds are required, it is expected that they would be
borrowed or raised in the public or private capital markets to the extent determined to be necessary or
desirable. In November 2004, December 2003 and March 2003, the Company borrowed $15 million,
$12 million and $10 million, respectively, through pooled trust preferred issuances by subsidiary trusts. In
September 2003, the Company entered into a $12.5 million line of credit, all of which was drawn down. The
cash proceeds of the line of credit and the trust preferred securities issued in 2003 were used to repay existing
debt and for general corporate purposes. See Note 11 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in
Item 8.

IHC enters into a variety of contractual obligations with third-parties in the ordinary course of its
operations. These obligations, as of December 31, 2005, are set forth in the table below. However, we do not
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believe that our cash flow requirements can be fully assessed based upon an analysis of these obligations.
Future cash outflows, whether they are contractual obligations or not, also will vary based upon our future
needs. Although some outflows are fixed, others depend on future events. The Company had the following
expected contractual obligations relating to debt, trust preferred securities (junior subordinated debt), non-
cancelable leases, insurance reserves,and funds on deposit at December 31, 2005:

Junior
. Subordinated {nsurance Funds on
Debt Debt Leases Reserves Deposit Total
2006 ..o $12,500 $ —  $ 1,364 $119,787 $ 39,577  $173,228
2007 .. L — — 1,416 29,916 36,546 67,878
2008 .o P — — 1,346 24,685 33,722 59,753
2009 ... - — 1,315 21,805 32,391 55511
2010 ..o — — 1,312 20,191 29,995 51,498
2011 and thereafter. . . .. | — 38,146 5011 216,665 198470 458,292
Totals .............. $12,500  $38,146  $11,764 $433,049 $370,701  $866,160

In accordance with SFAS No. 115, the Company may carry its portfolio of fixed maturities either as held
to maturity (carried at amortized cost), as trading securities (carried at fair market value) or as available-for-
sale (carried at fair market value). The Company has chosen to carry all of its debt securities as available-for-
sale. In 2005, the Company experienced an increase in unrealized losses of $12.4 million which, net of
deferred tax benefits of $3.6 million and net of deferred policy acquisition costs of $2.4 million, decreased
stockholders’ equity by $6.4 million (reflecting net unrealized losses of $8.4 million at December 31, 2005
compared to net unrealized losses of $2.0 million at December 31, 2004). From time to time, as warranted,
the Company employs investment strategies to mitigate interest rate and other market exposures.

OUTLOOK

THC has historically been a life and health insurance holding company for two insurance companies,
Standard Security Life Insurance Company of New York (“Standard Security Life”’) and Madison National
Life Insurance Company, Inc. (“Madison National Life”), which relied on independent general agents,
managing general underwriters (MGUs) and administrators to perform the majority of all marketing,
underwriting, claims and administrative functions for its two primary product segments {Medical Stop-Loss
and Group disability, life, annuities ‘:“and DBL). For 2006, IHC’s business plan is to: (i) improve the
profitability of its core lines of business, in particular Medical Stop-Loss, while expanding distribution,
(if) diversify its product mix by accelcratmg its expansion into the Fully-Insured health insurance sector, and
thereby reduce the volatility of its portfoho and reduce its exposure to market cycles, and (iii) continue to
acquire blocks of life and annuity bu”smess and blocks of fully-insured health and dental. The following

summarizes what [HC has accomphshed and the outlook for 2006 and beyond by segment.

Historic Core Lines of Business

The Company’s operating results thavc been heavily dependent on the results of its Medical Stop-Loss
line of business, particularly as THC ha§ increased its risk retention in recent years. The Company emphasizes
underwriting profits and not top line growth. However, Medical Stop-Loss is excess business, which is more
volatile and tends to be more cyclical 11‘1 nature than Fully-Insured Health business. When an excess product
experiences several consecutive years of underwriting profitability, it is not unusual for there to be more
competitors entering that line, which can increase pressure on pricing and create a “softer” market. The
Medical Stop-Loss market began to “soften” in 2003, and less favorable conditions continued through 2005.
Despite these market conditions, the Company produced Net Loss Ratios of 84.1%, 86.6% and 93.2% for the
years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005, respectively, from its Medical Stop-Loss line. While still
profitable in 2005, the Company does!not consider this to be an acceptable Net Loss Ratio. In 2005, the
Company increased rates and made changes in its underwriting guidelines in response to the results of its
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underwriting audits. Based on currently available information, business incepting in 2005, of which a material
portion will be earned and recorded in 2006, is projected to achieve a Net Loss Ratio that is lower than the
previous year.

With respect to distribution, Standard Security Life writes Medical Stop-Loss in all 50 states through
15 MGUs. Madison National Life, which began writing medical stop-loss in 2002 after it was upgraded to A—
(Excellent) by A.M. Best, writes this line in 46 states through five MGUs. Of these MGUSs, the Company has
a significant ownership interest in nine MGUs (including those owned by AMIC), which produced
$156.2 million (71.4%) of IHC’s Medical Stop-Loss premium in 200S. As a result of these changes and
competitors’ willingness to write business at profit margins lower than those acceptable to IHC, the
Company’s gross premiums from Medical Stop-Loss were reduced by approximately $22 million in 2005. In
late 2005, the Company appointed three new independent MGUs that are expected to add substantial
premiums in 2006.

The Company does not anticipate significant growth or shrinkage in its other historic core business,
including group life and disability, DBL, and credit life and disability.

Expansion of Fully-Insured Health Segment

Through the acquisitions of HPA and GroupLink, which is 75% owned by IHC, in 2005 and IAC in
2006, THC has expanded into multiple new Fully-Insured Health first-dollar health products, including short-
term medical (“STM”), group major medical (including Consumer Driven Health Plans (“CDHPs”)),
dental and vision (the “Fully-Insured Health Products”). These products are now approved in the majority of
states, although the Company does not anticipate writing CDHPs in the Northeastern and certain other states.
IHC will further expand its Fully-Insured Health Products in 2006 to include major medical for individuals
and families including CDHPs) and limited medical. Collectively, IHC will administer, manage and
distribute its Fully-Insured Health Products to 50,000 general agents, agents and brokers (“Producers”) in the
majority of states. IHC believes this will be one of the largest networks of Producers focusing on the sale of
Fully-Insured Health Products in the country. In addition, in the first quarter of 2006, the Company acquired
100% of CAIS, which will market major medical for groups, individuals and families (including CDHPs),
STM and dental products on behalf of IHC. CAIS has announced that it has signed a definitive agreement
subject to certain closing conditions to acquire a block of approximately $50 million of small group major
medical business (including CDHPs) and key personnel of a marketing and administrative company. It is
anticipated that most of this $50 million block of small group medical business will be transitioned to Madison
National Life as of August 1, 2006.

The Company believes that in the next several years, its Fully-Insured Health premiums may exceed its
Medical Stop-Loss premiums. The Fully-Insured Health market is a much larger market than the excess
market, estimated at $500 billion compared to a Medical Stop-Loss market of approximately $4 billion. As a
result of its multiple product filings, distribution sources, and the sheer size of the market, the Company is
optimistic that its Fully-Insured Health business will grow rapidly while yielding profitable results, which will
help balance the more volatile and cyclical Medical Stop-Loss business.

Expansion of Life & Annuity Block Acquisitions

THC will continue to look for financially viable life and annuity acquisitions during 2006. Although the
source and timing of new acquisitions is unpredictable, the Company believes that there exists an ample
supply of acquisition prospects for the remainder of 2006. It is doubtful that IHC would make a major life and
annuity acquisition during the first half of 2006, but the probability increases during the second half of 2006.
The addition of GroupLink has now made it possible to acquire blocks of dental business, and the Company
made its first such acquisition in the first quarter of 2006. The Company is also exploring the possibility of
leveraging the administrative capabilities of IAC and GroupLink to administer large blocks of life and
annuities for other carriers for whom this is not a core business.

In summary, the Company anticipates improved operating pérformance in 2006 as a result of
(i) increased premiums and fee income from multiple fully-insured health products distributed through
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greatly expanded distribution channels as a result of the acquisitions during 2005 and the first quarter of 2006
of IAC, HPA, GroupLink, and CAIS; (ii) improved profitability of its Medical Stop-Loss business through
corrective actions instituted for the‘ business incepting in 2005 and increases in production due to the
appointment of additional MGUs; (111) reduced susceptibility to market cycles due to a better balance

between excess and fully-insured health business; and (iv) continued acquisitions of blocks of business.

RECEN'i’ ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In May 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) issued SFAS No. 154,
“Accounting Changes and Error Corrections,” which replaces APB Opinion No. 20, “Accounting Changes,”
and SFAS No. 3, “Reporting Accountlng Changes in Interim Financial Statements,” and changes the
requirements for the accounting for and reporting of a change in accounting principle. SFAS No. 154 applies
to all voluntary changes in accounung principle and to changes required by an accounting pronouncement
when the pronouncement does not melude specific transition provisions. SFAS No. 154 requires retrospective
application of changes in accounting principle to prior periods’ financial statements unless it is impracticable
to determine either the period- spe01ﬁc effects or the cumulative effect of the change. APB Opinion No. 20
previously required that most volurrtary changes in accounting principle be recognized by including the
cumulative effect of the change in net income for the period of the change in accounting principle.
SFAS No. 154 carries forward without change the guidance contained in APB Opinion No. 20 for reporting
the correction of an error in previoﬁsly issued financial statements and a change in accounting estimate.
SFAS No. 154 also carries forward the guidance in APB Opinion No. 20 requiring justification of a change in
accounting principle on the basis of: preferability. SFAS No. 154 is effective for accounting changes and
corrections of errors made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005, with early adoption permitted.

FASB Staff Position No. FAS 115-1 and FAS 124-1, “The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary
Impairment and Its Application to C”ertaln Investments” (the “FSP”), was issued in November 2005 and
addresses the determination of when an investment is considered impaired; whether the impairment is other
than temporary; and how to measureHan impairment loss. The FSP also addresses accounting considerations
subsequent to the recognition of an other-than-temporary impairment loss on a debt security, and requires
certain disclosures about unrealized 1osses that have not been recognized as other-than-temporary impair-
ments. The FSP replaces the imparrment guidance in EITF Issue No. 03-1 with references to existing
authoritative literature concerning oth‘er-than -temporary determinations (principally SFAS No. 115 and SEC
Staff Accounting Bulletin 59). Under the FSP, an impairment loss must be recognized in earnings in an
amount equal to the entire drfference‘\ between the security’s cost and its fair value at the financial statement
date, without considering partial reco‘venes subsequent to that date. The FSP also requires that an investor
recognize an other-than-temporary 1mparrment loss when a decision to sell a security has been made and the
investor does not expect the fair Value of the security to fully recover prior to the expected time of sale. The
FSP is effective for reporting periods beglnnmg after December 15, 2005. The Company does not expect that
the application of the FSP will have a material impact on its financial condition, results of operations or
financial statement disclosures. ‘

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004) (“SFAS 123(R)”), “Share-Based
Payment”, which supersedes SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123”)
and APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” SFAS 123(R) addresses the
accounting for share-based payment transactions with employees and other third parties; eliminates the ability
to account for share-based compensatlon transactions using APB Opinion No. 25; and requires that the
compensation costs relating to such transactlons be recognized in the statement of operations. A rule issued by
the SEC in April 2005 changed the coumphance date for SFAS 123(R) to the beginning of the first fiscal year
beginning after June 15, 2005 and, therefore, the Company adopted SFAS 123(R) on January 1, 2006.
SFAS No. 123(R) applies to all awards granted after the adoption date and to awards modified, repurchased
or cancelled after that date. Add1t10na11y, beginning on the adoption date, compensation expense is recognized
for the portion of outstanding awards for which the requisite service (vesting) has not yet been rendered, based
on the grant-date fair value of those awards that had been calculated under SFAS No. 123 for pro forma
disclosures. The impact of adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) on the Company’s 2006 net income is expected to

|
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approximate the impact that SFAS No. 123 had on 2005 net income as shown in the pro forma disclosure
included in Note 1(R) of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The Company manages interest rate risk by seeking to maintain a portfolio with a duration and average
life that falls within the band of the duration and average life of the applicable liabilities. Options may be
utilized to modify the duration and average life of such assets; see Note 1(F) (iv) of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements. :

The following summarizes the estimated pre-tax change in fair value (based upon hypothetical parallel
shifts in the U.S. Treasury yield curve) of the fixed income portfolio assuming immediate changes in interest
rates at specified levels at December 31, 2005:

) Estimated Estimated Change
Change in Interest Rates Fair Value in Fair Value

(In millions)
200 basis POINT TISE . v\ .\ttt v ot $597.7 $(85.3)
100 basis point TiSe ........o .ttt e 639.9 (43.1)
Base SCEMATIO ...\ \ v\ttt e 683.0 —
100 basis point decline .......... ... i 726.7 43.7
200 basis point decline ......... ...t 773.1 90.1

The Company monitors its investment portfolio on a continuous basis and believes that the liquidity of
the Insurance Group will not be adversely affected by its current investments. This monitoring includes the
maintenance of an asset-liability model that matches current insurance liability cash flows with current
investment cash flows. This is accomplished by first creating an insurance model of the Company’s in-force
policies using current assumptions on mortality, lapses and expenses. Then, current investments are assigned
to specific insurance blocks in the model using appropriate prepayment schedules and future reinvestment
patterns.

The results of the model specify whether the investments and their related cash flows can support the
related current insurance cash flows. Additionally, various scenarios are developed changing interest rates and
other related assumptions. These scenarios help evaluate the market risk due to changing interest rates in
relation to the business of the Insurance Group.

In the Company’s analysis of the asset-liability model, a 100 to 200 basis point change in interest rates on
the Insurance Group’s labilities would not be expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company.
With respect to its liabilities, if interest rates were to increase, the risk to the Company is that policies would
be surrendered and assets would need to be sold. This is not a material exposure to the Company since a large
portion of the Insurance Group’s interest sensitive policies are burial policies that are not subject to the typical
surrender patterns of other interest sensitive policies, and many of the Insurance Group’s universal life and
annuity policies were acquired from liquidated companies which tend to exhibit lower surrender rates than
such policies of continuing companies. Additionally, there are charges to help offset the benefits being
surrendered. If interest rates were to decrease substantially, the risk to the Company is that some of its
investment assets would be subject to early redemption. This is not a material exposure because the Company
would have additional unrealized gains in its investment portfolio to help offset the future reduction of
investment income. With respect to its investments, the Company employs (from time to time as warranted)
investment strategies to mitigate interest rate and other market exposures.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Schedules on page 44.
i
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

IHC’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer supervised and participated in IHC’s
evaluation of its disclosure controls 'and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report.
Disclosure controls and procedures are controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required
to be disclosed in IHC’s periodic reports filed or submitted under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities
and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms. Based upon that evaluation, IHC’s Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer concluded that IHC’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective.

There has been no change in IHC’s internal control over financial reporting during the fourth quarter of
2005 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, IHC’s internal control over
financial reporting. ‘

The Report of Management on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and the related Report of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm are included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Information required by this Itemiis incorporated by reference to “Election of Directors” and “Executive
Officers” in the Company’s Proxy Statement for its 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information required by this [tem is incorporated by reference to “Executive Compensation™ and “Board
of Directors” in the Company’s Proxy Statement for its 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, except that the
information required by paragraphs (i), (k) and (1) of [tem 402 Regulation S-K (§229.402) and set forth in
such Proxy Statement is specifically not incorporated by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to “Principal Stockholders” in the
Company’s Proxy Statement for its 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to “Principal Stockholders” in the
Company’s Proxy Statement for its 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information concerning principal accountant fees and services is included under the caption “Ratification
of Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” in the Company’s Proxy Statement for
its 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) (1) and (2)
See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Schedules on page 44,
(a) (3) EXHIBITS
See Exhibit Index on page 90.
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Report of Management on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

i
The Board of Directors and Stockhd‘lders
Independence Holding Company: !

The management of Independe‘}nce Holding Company (“IHC”) is responsible for establishing and
maintaining adequate internal contrql over financial reporting. IHC’s internal control system is a process
designed to provide reasonable assurance to the company’s management and board of directors regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and fa“ir presentation of published financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

. | . . e
All internal control systems, nol matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even

those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial
statement preparation and presentati{')n. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods
are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

IHC acquired GroupLink Inc. (“GroupLink”) during 2005. Management excluded from its assessment
of the effectiveness of IHC’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, GroupLink’s
internal control over financial repoﬁting associated with total assets of $1,676,000 and total revenues of
$3,754,000 as of and for the year ended December 31, 2005.

Management assessed the effectiveness of IHC’s internal control over financial reporting as of Decem-
ber 31, 2005. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSQO”) in Internal Control — Integrated Frame-
work. Based on our assessment we concluded that, as of December 31, 2005, ITHC’s internal control over
financial reporting is effective. 3

KPMG LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the consolidated financial
statements in this Annual Report, has issued an audit report on management’s assessment of, and the effective
operation of, [HC’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, which is included herein
on page 46. ‘
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Independence Holding Company:

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Report of Management on
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, that Independence Holding Company and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on
criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”). The Company’s management is responsible for
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s
assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating
management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control,
and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation
of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on criteria
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by COSO. Also, in our opinion, the Company
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by COSO.

The Company acquired GroupLink Inc (“GroupLink”) during 2005, and management excluded from its
assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2005, GroupLink’s internal control over financial reporting associated with total assets of $1,676,000 and total
revenues of $3,754,000 included in the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of and for the year
ended December 31, 2005. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of the Company also excluded
an evaluation of internal control over financial reporting of GroupLink.
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We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets of Independence Holding Company and subsidiaries
as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2005,
and our report dated March 14, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial
statements. !

|

/s/ KPMG LLP

New York, New York
March 14, 2006
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Independence Holding Company:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Independence Holding Com-
pany and subsidiaries as listed in the accompanying index. In connection with our audits of the consolidated
financial statements, we also have audited the financial statement schedules as listed in the accompanying
index. These consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedules are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements
and financial statement schedules based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Independence Holding Company and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005
and 2004, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period
ended December 31, 2005, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also in our
opinion, the related financial statement schedules, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated
financial statements taken as a whole, present fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated March 14, 2006
expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of, and the effective operation of, internal
control over financial reporting.

/s/ KPMG LLP

New York, New York
March 14, 2006
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INDEPENDENCE HOLDING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS:
Investments:
Short-term investments ................... ... e
Securities purchased under agrecments toresell .......... ...l
Fixed maturities ............, PP
Equity SECUIIHES . . ..ot e e
Other InVestmMents . .. ...t

Total INVESIMENTS ... ..o\t ittt e
Cash and cash equivalents . .. ... ... i
Due from securities brokers. ... ... ... i
Investment in American Independence Corp. (“AMIC™) ..................
Deferred acquisition costs .. ...... ...t e
Due and unpaid premilums. . ..o v vt
Due from reinsurers . ... e
Notes and other receivables. ... ... ..
Goodwill . .......... ... .. ..., e
Other ASSEES . oo oot

TOTAL ASSETS . ...

LIABILITIES:
Insurance reserves-health ... ... ... . ... . .
Insurance reserves-life and annuity . ......... .. ... .. .. . i
Funds on deposit. ... ... . i
Unearned premilms . .. .ov vt ettt e
Policy claims-life............... P
Policy claims-health .. ... ..
Other policyholders” funds .. ... . ... .
Due to securities brokers .. ...... . ... i
DUE 0 TEINSUIETS . . ottt ettt e e et et e e e e
Accounts payable, accruals and other liabilities ...........................
Debt ....... ... e
Junior subordinated debt securities .. ......... ... e

TOTAL LIABILITIES ... . ..

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:
Preferred stock (none issued) ... ..o e
Common stock $1.00 par value, 20,000,000 shares authorized,
14,235,066 shares issued; 14,132,149 and 14,102,766 shares outstanding,
TESPECHIVEY ..
Paid-in capital ... ... ..
Accumulated other comprehensive loss ............. . i o
Treasury stock, at cost; 102,917 and 132,300 shares, respectively.............
Retained €arnings ... ...ttt

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY ................................
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY..........

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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December 31,

2005

2004

(In thousands)

$ 8810 §$ 19,994
44,399 93,544
683,008 546,384
62,300 12,099
57,287 48,679
855,804 720,700
12,659 13,196

1,951 4,795
39,167 30,626
62,000 37,386
12,230 7,100
109,024 121,987
14,235 7,672
16,110 5,901
27,743 20,719
$1,150,923  $970,082
$ 159,600  $166,087
273,449 171,365
370,701 308,465
18,524 17,468
8,742 6,590
4,339 2,495
18,350 8,859
4,856 14,760
11,667 9,540
30,798 24,954
12,500 12,500
38,146 38,146
952,172 781,229
14,235 14,235
78,554 78,033
(8,414)  (1,976)
(1,829)  (2,376)
116205 100,937
198,751 188,853
$1,150,923  $970,082




INDEPENDENCE HOLDING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003
(In thousands, except per share data)

REVENUES:
Premiums earned
Health ... $195,123  $141,078  $119,929
Life and annuity . ... . i 41,914 32,989 29,478
Net InveStment INCOME . .. ... oottt 40,663 42,915 35,796
- Net realized and unrealized gains.............................. 2,077 2,394 313
Equity income on AMIC ... ... ... ... .. ... . .. 1,411 2,334 2,292
Fee income .. ... . 9,704 2,503 —
Other INCOME . . ..o\ttt e 5,525 1,456 70
296,417 225,669 187,878
EXPENSES:
Insurance benefits, claims and reserves:
Health ... 125,583 38,134 72,231
Life and annuity .. ...... .. i 48,007 37,808 29,944
Amortization of deferred acquisition costs....................... 10,088 8,542 7,025
Interest expense on debt .......... e, 3,496 2,338 898
Selling, general and administrative expenses ..................... 83,367 55,217 49,038
270,541 192,039 159,136
Income before income taxes ......... ... i 25,876 33,630 28,742
Income tax expense .......... .. 8,575 10,691 10,149
NET INCOME . ... ... ... e $ 17,301 $ 22,939 § 18,593
Basic income per common share ................................ $ 123 $ 163 $§ 133
WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING ............ 14,018 14,058 13,963
Diluted income per common share............................. .. $ 121 $ 160 §$ 1.30
WEIGHTED AVERAGE DILUTED SHARES OUTSTANDING .. 14,292 14,372 14,249

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENéE HOLDING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Accumulated
‘ Other
Common Comprehensive T Total
. Stock Paid-In Income __Treasury Stock Refained  Stockholders’
_Shares ~ Amount Capital (Loss) Shares  Amount Earnings Equity
‘ (In thousands, except shares)

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31,2002 . . ... 14,049,510 $14.049 $94,945 $ 1,693 (106,239) $(17,512) $ 60,541  $153,718
Netincome...................ovient. : _ 18,593 18,593
Net change in unrealized gains (losses) ... . (1,048) (1,048)

Total comprehensive income........... ‘ 17,545
Purchase of treasury stock............... ‘ (174) (387,461)  (4,285) 172 (4,287)
Exercise of common stock options . ....... 1,317 348,449 960 (154) 2,123
Common stock dividend ($.0278 per share) (386) (386)
Other capital transactions ............... ‘ 183 183

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2003 . .. .. 14,049,510 $14,049 $96,271 $ 647 (145,251) $(20,837) $ 78,766  $168,896
Net inCome .. ..., 1 22,939 22,939
Net change in unrealized gains (losses) ... (2,623) (2,623)

Total comprehensive income........... ‘ _ 20316
Purchase of treasury stock............... (75) (300,780)  (5,895) 75 (5,895)
Exercise of common stock options . ....... 56,188 56 3,246 313,731 859 (139) 4,022
Common stock dividend ($.05 per share) .. . (704) (704)
80% common stock dividend............. : (23,497) 23,497 —
Purchase of Majestic ................... 129,808 130 1,970 2,100
Other capital transactions ............... (440) 118 118

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2004 . .. .. 14,235,066 $14,235 $78,033 $(1,976)  (132,300) $ (2,376) $100,937  $188.853
Netincome . ......vvviieeininneinn... 17,301 17,301
Net change in unrealized gains (losses) ... (6,438) (6,438)

Total comprehensive income. .......... ! 10,863
Purchase of treasury stock............... ; (310,200)  (5,624) (5,624)
Exercise of common stock options .. ...... “ 406 100,461 1,801 (1,147) 1,060
Common stock dividend ($.05 per share) . . (701) (701)
Additional purchases of AMIC .......... ‘ 239,122 4,370 (185) 4,185
Other capital transactions ............... ‘ 115 115

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2005 .. ... 14,235,066 $14,235 378,554 $(8,414)  (102917) § (1,829) $116,205  $198,751

[

The accompanying notes aré an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENCE HOLDING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)

Cash Flows Provided By (Used By) Operating Activities:
NEt INCOME .« v ettt et $ 17301 $ 22939 $§ 18,593
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net change in cash from
operating activities:

Amortization of deferred acquisition costs.................... 10,088 8,542 7,025
Net realized and unrealized gains........................... (2,077) (2,394) (313)
Equity income on AMIC and other equity method investments (3,096) (3,285) (2,482)
Depreciation and amortization ..................ccooveeoo... 1,970 898 769
Deferred tax expense ..ot 4,859 4,494 4,765
O her 1,268 1,539 184
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Net sales of trading securities . . .......... ..., 638 551 33
Change in insurance liabilities ............................. (11,777) (7,998) 29,124
Additions to deferred acquisition costs....................... (13,436) (12,177) (13,008)
Change in net amounts due from and to reinsurers ............ 19,084 9,959 (2,764)
Change in income tax liability ............................. (193) 173 (5,167)
Change in due and unpaid premiums. ....................... (2,488) (890) 1,093
O heT . (405) 250 2,898
Net change in cash from operating activities ............... 21,736 22,601 40,750
Cash Flows Provided By (Used By) Investing Activities:
Change in net amount due from and to securities brokers ...... (7,059) 6,734 (22,379)
Net sales (purchases) of short-term investments .............. 11,297 (12,941) (5,965)
Net sales (purchases) of securities under resale and repurchase
Y (13 10131 £ AP 49,145 (66,995) (744)
Sales of equity securities .. ....... ...ttt 23,780 30,623 23,386
Purchases of equity securities .. ............ ... L. (72,361) (20,916) (28,152)
Sales of fixed maturities ......... .. ... . . . 679,037 1,171,384 1,315,853
Maturities of fixed maturities ......... ... . . 1,300 4,000 4245
Purchases of fixed maturities .................. . .. .. ... (829,251)  (1,235879)  (1,385,168)
Proceeds of sales of other investments....................... 6,325 2,182 38,610
Additional investments in other investments, net of distributions (654) (3,280) (22,207)
Cash paid in acquisitions of companies, net of cash acquired. ... (12,049) (1,540) —
Investment in AMIC ... ... ... .. ... . i ii i (4,964) (1,464) (15,830)
Cash received in acquisitions of policy blocks................. 130,509 25,785 81,166
Change in notes receivable ................ .. . i il (5,477) 7,335 (5,032)
O her ..o (2,126) (1,726) (1,261)
Net change in cash from investing activities................ (32,548) (96,698) (23,478)
Cash Flows Provided By (Used By) Financing Activities:
Purchases of treasury stock ... i (5,624) (5,667) (4,287)
Exercise of common stock options ............ ... .. oL, 653 2,054 1,310
Proceeds of investment-type insurance contracts ................ 15,947 16,572 7,841
Proceeds of debt and junior subordinated debt securities, net. .. ... — 14,533 33,944
Repayment of debt . ...... ... ... . ... i — - (8,438)
Dividends paid ...... ... ... . (701) (746) (387)
Net change in cash from financing activities ............... 10,275 26,746 29,983
Net change in cash and cash equivalents ................ ... ... (537) (47,351) 47,255
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year .. ................... 13,196 60,547 13,292
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year . ......................... $ 12659 § 13,196 § 60,547

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Significant Accounting Pdlicies and Practices
(A) Business and Organization

Independence Holding Company (“IHC”) is a holding company principally engaged in the life and
health insurance business through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Standard Security Life Insurance Company
of New York (“Standard Security Life”) and Madison National Life Insurance Company, Inc. (“Madison
National Life”) and their subsidiaries (collectively, the “Insurance Group”) and a 48% equity interest in the
common stock of American Independence Corp. (“AMIC”). IHC and its subsidiaries (including the
Insurance Group) are collectively referred to as the “Company.”

Geneve Corporation, a diversified financial holding company, and its affiliated entities held 58% of IHC’s
outstanding common stock at December 31, 2005.

(B) Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles and include the accounts of IHC and its consolidated subsidiaries. All significant
intercompany transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect: (i) the reportcd amounts of assets and liabilities; (ii) the disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of thc financial statements; and (iii) the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period! Actual results could differ from those estimates.

On June 8, 2004, IHC declared a special 80% stock dividend, payable to shareholders of record on
June 18, 2004 with a distribution daté of July 2, 2004. A total of 6,243,787 common shares (issued from both
treasury shares and authorized and unissued shares) were distributed and fractional shares were paid in cash in
lieu of stock. The stock distribution was accounted for as a stock split effected in the form of a dividend, with
no effect on total stockholders’ equity other than cash paid for fractional shares. All share and per share data
for all periods presented herein has been adjusted to reflect the additional shares.

(C) Reclassifications

Certain amounts in prior years’ consolidated financial statements and Notes thereto have been
reclassified to conform to the 2005 presentation.

(D) Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments

Cash equivalents are carried at cost which approximates fair value and include principally interest-
bearing deposits at brokers, money market instruments and U.S. Treasury securities with original maturities of
less than 91 days. Investments with, original maturities of 91 days to one year are considered short-term
investments and are carried at cost which approximates fair value.

(E) Securities Purchased Under Agreements to Resell and Securities Sold Under Agreements to
Repurchase i

Securities purchased under ag;;cemcnts to resell (“resale agreements”) and securities sold under
agreements to repurchase (“repurchase agreements”) are treated as financing transactions and are carried at

the amounts at which the securities will be subsequently resold or repurchased as specified in the agreements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

(F) Investment Securities

(i) Investments in fixed maturities, redeemable preferred securities, equity securities and derivatives
options and options on futures contracts) are accounted for as follows:
p p

(a) Securities which are held for trading purposes are carried at estimated fair value (“fair value”).
Net unrealized gains or losses are credited or charged, as appropriate, to the Consolidated Statements of
Operations.

(b) Securities which may or may not be held to maturity (“available-for-sale securities™) are
carried at fair value. Unrealized gains or losses, net of deferred income taxes and adjustments to deferred
policy acquisition costs, are credited or charged, as appropriate, directly to accumulated other comprehensive
income or loss (a component of stockholders’ equity). Net realized gains and losses on sales of available-for-
sale securities, and unrealized losses considered to be other than temporary, are credited or charged to the
Consolidated Statements of Operations.

(ii) Financial instruments sold, but not yet purchased, represent obligations to replace borrowed
securities that have been sold. Such transactions occur in anticipation of declines in the fair value of the
securities. The Company’s risk is an increase in the fair value of the securities sold in excess of the
consideration received, but that risk is mitigated as a result of relationships to certain securities owned.
Unrealized gains or losses on open transactions are credited or charged, as appropriate, to the Consolidated
Statements of Operations. While the transaction is open, the Company will also incur an expense for any
accrued dividends or interest payable to the lender of the securities. When the transaction is closed, the
Company realizes a gain or loss in an amount equal to the difference between the price at which the securities
were sold and the cost of replacing the borrowed securities.

(iii) Gains or losses on sales of securities are determined on the basis of specific identification.

(iv) The Company enters into derivative financial instruments, such as put and call option contracts and
options on interest rate futures contracts, to minimize losses on portions of the Company’s fixed income
portfolio in a rapidly changing interest rate environment. Equity index options are entered into to offset price
fluctuations in the equity markets. These derivative financial instruments are all readily marketable and are
carried on the Consolidated Balance Sheets at their current fair value with changes in fair value (unrealized
gains and losses), credited or charged, as appropriate, to the Consolidated Statements of Operations (hedge
accounting is not applied to these derivatives). All realized gains and losses are reflected currently in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations. There were no such derivatives outstanding at December 31, 2005
and 2004.

(v) Fair value is determined by quoted market prices, where available, or by independent pricing
services.

(vi) The Company reviews its investment securities regularly and determines whether other than
temporary impairments have occurred. If a decline in fair value is judged by management to be other than
temporary, a loss is recognized by a charge to the Consolidated Statements of Operations, establishing a new
cost basis for the security. The factors considered by management in its regular review include, but are not
limited to: the length of time and extent to which the fair value has been less than cost; the financial condition
and near-term prospects of the issuer; adverse changes in ratings announced by one or more rating agencies;
whether the issuer of a debt security has remained current on principal and interest payments; whether the
decline in fair value appears to be issuer specific or, alternatively, a reflection of general market or industry
conditions; and the Company’s intent and ability to hold the security for a period of time sufficient to allow for
a recovery in fair value. For securities within the scope of Emerging Issues Task Force Issue 99-20, such as
purchased interest-only securities, an impairment loss is recognized when there has been a decrease in
expected cash flows combined with a decline in the security’s fair value below cost.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

(G) Investment in American Independence Corp.

The Company’s investment in AMIC is carried on the equity method, with the Company’s share of
equity income or loss credited or charged, as appropriate, to the Consolidated Statements of Operations with a
corresponding change to the investment in AMIC.

(H) Other Investments

Partnership interests primarily relate to investment partnerships that have relatively “market neutral”
arbitrage strategies, or strategies tha‘t are relatively insensitive to interest rates. All securities held by these
partnerships are carried at fair value. The Company’s partnership interests are carried on the equity method,
which approximates the Company’s equity in the underlying net assets of the partnerships. Equity income or
loss is credited or charged, as appropriate, to the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Policy loans are

stated at their aggregate unpaid balances.

(I) Deferred Acquisition Costs ( “DAC”)

Costs that vary with and are primarily related to acquiring insurance policies and investment type
contracts are deferred and recorded as deferred policy acquisition costs (“DAC”). These costs are principally
broker fees, agent commissions, and the purchase prices of acquired blocks of business. DAC is amortized to
expense and reported separately in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. All DAC within a particular
product type is amortized on the same basis using the following methods:

Life

For traditional life insurance and other premium paying policies accounted for under Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 60, amortization of DAC is charged to expense over the
related premium revenue recognition period. Assumptions used in the amortization of DAC are determined
based upon the conditions as of the date of policy issue or assumption and are not generally revised during the
life of the policy. ‘

For long duration type contracts: accounted for under SFAS No. 97, such as annuities and universal life
business, amortization of DAC is charged to expense over the life of the book of such contracts based on the
present value of the estimated gross proﬁts (“EGPs”) expected to be realized over the life of the book of
contracts. EGPs consist of margins ba‘lsed on expected mortality rates, persistency rates, interest rate spreads,
and other revenues and expenses. TheCompany regularly evaluates its EGPs to determine if actual experience
or other evidence suggests that carh‘er estimates should be revised. If the Company determines that the
current assumptions underlying the EGPs are no longer the best estimate for the future due to changes in
actual versus expected mortality rates, persistency rates, interest rate spreads, or other revenues and expenses,
the future EGPs are updated using the new assumptions and prospective unlocking occurs. These updated
EGPs are locked into for future amortization calculations. The total amortization recorded to date is adjusted
through a current charge or credit to ‘\%thc Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Health ‘
|

For credit health insurance policies accounted for under SFAS No. 60, amortization of DAC is charged
to expense in proportion to premium revenue recognized.

|

Deferred acquisition costs have been increased by $2,440,000, $637,000 and $703,000 in 2005, 2004 and
2003, respectively, representing the pofrtion of unrealized losses on investment securities available for sale that
have been allocated to deferred acquisition costs on interest sensitive products rather than to stockholders’
equity as a component of other comprehensive income or loss.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

(J) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment of $2,473,000 and $2,415,000 are included in other assets at December 31, 2005
and 2004, respectively, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization of $5,635,000 and $4,994,000,
respectively. Improvements are capitalized while repair and maintenance costs are charged to operations as
incurred. Depreciation of property and equipment has been provided on the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the respective assets. Amortization of leasehold improvements has been provided on
the straight-line method over the shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful life of the asset.

(K) Insurance Reserves

The Company maintains loss reserves to cover its estimated liability for unpaid losses and loss adjustment
expenses, including legal, other fees, and costs not associated with specific claims but related to the claims
payment function), for reported and unreported claims incurred as of the end of each accounting period.
These loss reserves are based on actuarial assumptions and are maintained at levels that are in accordance
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Many factors could affect these reserves, including
economic and social conditions, frequency and severity of claims, medical trend resulting from the influences
of underlying cost inflation, changes in utilization and demand for medical services, and changes in doctrines
of legal liability and damage awards in litigation. Therefore, the Company’s reserves are necessarily based on
estimates, assumptions and analysis of historical experience. The Company’s results depend upon the variation
between actual claims experience and the assumptions used in determining reserves and pricing products.
Reserve assumptions and estimates require significant judgment and, therefore, are inherently uncertain. The
Company cannot determine with precision the ultimate amounts that will be paid for actual claims or the
timing of those payments. The Company’s estimate of loss represents management’s estimate of the
Company’s liability at the balance sheet date.

Loss reserves differ for short-duration and long-duration insurance policies, including annuities. Reserves
are based on approved actuarial methods, but necessarily include assumptions about expenses, mortality,
morbidity, lapse rates and future yield on related investments.

All of the Company’s short-duration contracts are generated from its accident and health business, and
are accounted for based on actuarial estimates of the amount of loss inherent in that period’s claims, including
losses incurred for which claims have not been reported. Short-duration contract loss estimates rely on
actuarial observations of ultimate loss experience for similar historical events.

Health

Liabilities for insurance reserves on certain short-term medical coverages, such as medical stop-loss, are
computed using completion factors and expected Net Loss Ratios derived from actual historical premium and
claim data. Reserves for medical stop-loss insurance are more volatile in nature than those for fully insured
medical insurance. This is primarily due to the excess nature of medical stop-loss, with very high deductibles
applying to specific claims on any individual claimant and in the aggregate for a given group. The level of
these deductibles makes it more difficult to predict the amount and payment pattern of such claims.
Furthermore, these excess claims are highly sensitive to changes in factors such as medical trend, provider
contracts and medical treatment protocols, adding to the difficulty in predicting claim values and estimating
reserves. Also, because medical stop-loss is in excess of an underlying benefit plan, there is an additional layer
of claim reporting and processing that can affect claim payment patterns. Finally, changes in the distribution
of business by effective month can affect reserve estimates due to the time required to accumulate claims
against the stop-loss deductible, unlike fully insured medical.

The two “primary” assumptions underlying the calculation of loss reserves for Medical Stop-Loss
business are (i) projected Net Loss Ratio, and (ii) claim development patterns. The projected Net Loss Ratio
is set at expected levels consistent with the underlying pricing assumptions (“Projected Net Loss Ratio”).
Claim development patterns are set quarterly as reserve estimates are developed and are based on recent claim
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

development history (“Claim Development Patterns”). The Company uses the Projected Net Loss Ratio to
establish reserves until developing losses provide a better indication of ultimate results and it is feasible to set
reserves based on Claim Development Patterns.

Reserves for fully insured medical business are established to provide for the liability for incurred but not
paid claims. Reserves are calculated using standard actuarial methods and practices. The “primary”
assumption in the determination of fully insured reserves is that historical claim development patterns are
representative of future claim devclopment patterns. Factors which may affect this assumption include
changes in claim payment processmg times and procedures, changes in time delay in submission of claims, and
the incidence of unusually large claims.

While these calculations are based on standard methodologies, they are estimates based on historical
patterns. To the extent that actual claim payment patterns differ from historical patterns, such estimated
reserves may be redundant or inadequate. The effects of such deviations are evaluated by considering claim
backlog statistics and reviewing the reasonableness of projected claim ratios. Other factors which may affect
the accuracy of reserve estimates include the proportion of large claims which may take longer to adjudicate,
changes in billing patterns by prov1ders and changes in claim management practices such as hospital bill
audits.

The Company’s long term disability reserves are developed using actuarial principles and assumptions
that consider, among other things, future offsets and recoveries, elimination periods, interest rates, probability
of rehabilitation or mortality, incidence and termination rates based on the Company’s experience. The loss
reserve is made up of case reserves, incurred but not reported reserves, reopen reserves, and loss adjustment
expense. Incurred but not reported and reopen reserves are calculated by a hind-sight study, which takes
historical experience and develops the reserve as a percentage of premiums from prior years.

The two “primary” assumptionsjon which Group Disability reserves are based are: (i) morbidity levels;
and (ii) recovery rates. If morbidity levels increase, for example due to an epidemic or a recessionary
environment, the Company would increase reserves because there would be more new claims than expected.
In regard to the assumed recovery rate, if disabled lives recover more quickly than anticipated then the
existing claims reserves would be reduced; if less quickly, the existing claims reserves would be increased.

Life

For traditional life insurance products, the Company computes insurance reserves primarily using the net
premium method based on anticipated investment yield, mortality, and withdrawals. These methods are
widely used in the life insurance industry to estimate the liabilities for insurance reserves. Inherent in these
calculations are management and actuanal judgments and estimates that could significantly impact the ending
reserve liabilities and, consequently, \operatmg results. Actual results may differ, and these estimates are
subject to interpretation and change. .

Policyholder funds represent interest-bearing liabilities arising from the sale of products, such as universal
life, interest-sensitive life and annuitiés. Policyholder funds are primarily comprised of deposits received and
interest credited to the benefit of the policyholder less surrenders and withdrawals, mortality charges and
administrative expenses.

Interest Credited

1
Interest credited to policyholder ftyf\mds represents interest accrued or paid on interest-sensitive life policies
and investment policies. Amounts charged to operations (including interest credited and benefit claims
incurred in excess of related policyhoider account balances) are reported as insurance benefits, claims and
reserves-life and annuity. Credit rates for certain annuities and interest-sensitive life policies are adjusted
periodically by the Company to reflect current market conditions, subject to contractually guaranteed
minimum rates.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Management belicves that the Company’s methods of estimating the liabilities for insurance reserves
provided appropriate levels of reserves at December 31, 2005 and 2004. Changes in the Company’s reserve
estimates are recorded through a charge or credit to its earnings.

(L) Funds on Deposit

Funds received for certain long-duration contracts (principally deferred annuities and universal life
policies) are credited directly to a policyholder liability account, funds on deposit. Withdrawals are recorded
directly as a reduction of respective policyholders’ funds on deposit. Amounts on deposit were credited at
annual rates ranging from 2.5% to 8.1% in 2005, 2.0% to 11.3% in 2004 and 2.5% to 8.1% in 2003. The average
credited rate was 4.1% in 2005, and 4.5% in 2004 and 2003.

(M) Insurance Premium Revenue Recognition and Policy Charges
Life

Traditional life insurance products consist principally of products with fixed and guaranteed premiums
and benefits, primarily term and whole life insurance products. Premiums from these products are recognized
as revenue when due.

Annuities and interest-sensitive life contracts, such as universal life and interest sensitive whole life, are
contracts whose terms are not fixed and guaranteed. Premiums from these policies are reported as funds on
deposit. Policy charges consist of fees assessed against the policyholder for cost of insurance (mortality risk),
policy administration and early surrender. These revenues are recognized when assessed against the
policyholder account balance.

Policies that do not subject the Company to significant risk arising from mortality or morbidity are
considered investment contracts. Deposits received for such contracts are reported as other policyholder funds.
Policy charges for investment contracts consist of fees assessed against the policyholder account for
maintenance, administration and surrender of the policy prior to contractually specified dates, and are
recognized when assessed against the policyholder account balance.

Health

Premiums from short-duration medical insurance contracts are intended to cover expected claim costs
resulting from insured events that occur during a fixed period of short duration. The Company has the ability
to not renew the contract or to revise the premium rates at the end of each annual contract period to cover
future insured events. Insurance premiums from annual health contracts are collected monthily and are
recognized as revenue evenly as insurance protection is provided.

Premiums related to long-term and short-term disability contracts are recognized on a pro rata basis over
the applicable contract term. ‘

(N) Participating Policies

Participating policies represent 7.0%, 10.2% and 11.0% of the individual life insurance in-force and 0.4%,
0.5% and 0.7% of the net premiums earned, as of and for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003,
respectively, and provide for the payment of dividends. Dividends to policyholders are determined annually
and are payable only upon declaration by the Board of Directors of the insurance companies. At December 31,
2005 and 2004, none of the insurance companies’ stockholders’ equity was restricted because of participating
policyholders’ surplus.
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(O) Deferred Income Taxes

The provision for deferred income taxes is based on the asset and liability method of accounting for
income taxes. Under this method, deferred income taxes are recognized by applying enacted statutory tax
rates to temporary differences between amounts reported in the Consolidated Financial Statements and the
tax bases of existing assets and liabilities. A valuation allowance is recognized for the portion of deferred tax
assets that, in management’s judgment, is not likely to be realized. The effect on deferred income taxes of a
change in tax rates or laws is recognized in income tax expense in the period that includes the enactment date.

(P) Income Per Common Share

Included in the diluted earnings per share calculation for 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, are 274,000,
314,000 and 286,000 incremental common shares from the assumed exercise of dilutive stock options,
computed using the treasury stock method. Non-vested restricted stock awards (2,000 shares) were excluded
from the calculation of diluted earnings per share in 2005, as their impact was anti-dilutive. Net income does
not change as a result of the assuméd dilutive effect of stock options.

(Q) Reinsurance

Amounts paid for or recoverable under reinsurance contracts are included in total assets or total liabilities
as due from reinsurers or due to reinsurers. The cost of reinsurance related to long-duration contracts is
accounted for over the life of the underlying reinsured policies using assumptions consistent with those used to
account for the underlying policies.

(R) Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has applied Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees”, and related interpretations in accounting for its stock option plans. Since stock
options under the plans are issued with an exercise pricé equal to the stock’s fair value on date of grant, no
compensation cost has been recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The Company follows
the disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.”

SFAS No. 123 established a fair value based method of accounting for stock-based compensation plans
as an alternative to APB Opinion No. 25. Under SFAS No. 123, the compensation cost for options is
measured at the grant date based on the value of the award, and such cost is recognized as an expense over the
vesting period of the options. Compensation cost for restricted stock awards and stock appreciation rights
(“SARs”) is recognized over the service period of the award (if any) under both APB Opinion No. 25 and
SFAS No. 123. Had the Company; applied SFAS No. 123 in accounting for stock-based compensation
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awards, net income and net income per share for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 would
have been as follows:

2005 2004 © 2003

(In thousands, except
per share data)

Net income, as reported . ....................... P $17,301  $22,939  $18,593
Add restricted stock and SAR expense included in reported net

income, net of taX .. ..o vt e 3 90 60
Deduct restricted stock, SAR and stock option expense under

SFAS No. 123, netof tax ..., (669) (791) (625)
Pro forma net iNCOME . . .. oottt e e e $16,637 $22,238  $18,028
Basic income per common share :

ASTEPOTEd ..\ttt e $ 123 § 163 § 133

Pro forma. .. ...t $ 1.19 $ 158 $ 1.29
Diluted income per common share '

AsTeported . ... $ 121 $ 160 $§ 130

Proforma..... ... e $ 116 $ 155 $ 1.27

Tax benefits of $442,000, $525,000 and $415,000 were reflected in the pro forma expense under
SFAS No. 123 for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

The pro forma adjustments relate to (i) restricted stock awarded during 2005; (ii) SARs granted during
2000 and 2003 for which compensation cost was recognized as the increase, if any, of the Company’s current
stock price over the base price specified in the award; and (iii) options granted for which a fair value on the
date of the grant was determined using the Black-Scholes model of theoretical options pricing. The fair values
of options were based on the following assumptions: (i) expected volatility based on historical market prices;
(ii) risk-free rate of return based on the 5-year U.S. Treasury Note yields at the date of grant; (iii) dividend
yield based on the current dividend rate paid on the common stock; and (iv) a three year phased-in vesting
period that averages two years.

The weighted average fair value of options granted during 2005, 2004 and 2003 was $7.86, $5.16 and
$5.30 per share, respectively. Valuation assumptions are presented below:

Weighted Averages for
Options Issued During

2005 2004 2003
Expected life, inyears ....... ... . i 5 5 5
Expected volatility. . ......... .. 343% 45.6%  44.9%
Risk free interest rate . . ........... ... ... i e 4.4%  3.9% 2.5%
Expected annual dividends per share ............... e $ .05 §$.05 30278

As discussed in Note 1(U), the Company is required to adopt a fair-value-based method of accounting
for stock options, beginning January 1, 2006, which will result in the recognition of compensation expense in
the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

(S) Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company had goodwill of $16,110,000 and $5,901,000, respectively.
At December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company had other intangible assets of $3,838,000 and $1,634,000,
respectively, net of accumulated amortization of $1,615,000 and $529,000, respectively, which assets are
included in other assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. These intangible assets principally represent the

60




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

estimated fair value of acquired agent and broker relationships. In both 2005 and 2004, $477,000 of other
intangible assets had an indefinite life and are not subject to amortization. The Company evaluates goodwill
and other intangible assets for 1mpalrment at least annually. An impairment charge was not required in 2005,
2004 or 2003.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by business segment are as follows for the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003:

2005 2004 2003
‘ (In thousands)

Balance at beginning of year .............. .. ... oo $ 5901 $2365 § 392
Medical Stop-Loss: ‘

Acquisition of AMIC shares .............................. 2,761 736 3,421

Acquisition of Majestic . ... ... i e — 2,800 —

Equity share of acquired deferred tdx benefits (AMIC) ....... (999) — (1,448)
Fully-Insured: :

Acquisition of HPA ...... S 7,071 — —

Acquisition of GroupLink .'......... ... ... . ... ... 1,376 — —
Balance at end of year . ..... [ $16,110 $5901 § 2,365

Amortization expense on other intangible assets was $1 086,000, $210,000 and $75,000 for the years
ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Estimated amortization expense for each of the next
five years is as follows: i‘

| Amortization

Year : ! ‘ Expense

i (In thousands)
2006 ...\ RIS $1,049
2007 e U 901
2008 .\ RSP 741
2000 L e e e e e 551
2000 L e e e 74

(T) Derivative Instruments

The Company accounts for deﬁvative instruments in accordance with SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended. SFAS No. 133 establishes accounting and
reporting standards for derivative 1nstruments including certain derivative instruments embedded in other
contracts, and for hedging actlvmes; All derivatives, whether designated in hedging relationships or not, are
required to be recorded in the balance sheet as assets or liabilities at fair value. Hedge accounting is permitted
only if certain criteria are met, inchﬂ?ding a requirement that a highly effective relationship exist between the
derivative instrument and the hedged item, both at inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis. Results of
effective hedges are recognized in other comprehensive income for cash flow hedges and in current earnings
for fair value hedges. The ineffectivc%, portions of hedge results are recognized in current earnings.

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company’s only derivative instrument was an interest rate swap
agreement that was designated and effective as a cash flow hedge in accordance with SFAS No. 133. The
objective of the swap is to reduce the' variability in cash flows associated with the repricing of interest rates on
certain variable rate debt. Changes in fair value of the swap are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive
income or loss and are reclassified to net income as earnings are affected by the variability in the interest
payments -on the hedged debt. -
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(U) Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) issued SFAS No. 154,
“Accounting Changes and Error Corrections,” which replaces APB Opinion No. 20, “Accounting Changes,”
and SFAS No. 3, “Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements,” and changes the
requirements for the accounting for and reporting of a change in accounting principle. SFAS No. 154 applies
to all voluntary changes in accounting principle and to changes required by an accounting pronouncement
when the pronouncement does not include specific transition provisions. SFAS No. 154 requires retrospective
application of changes in accounting principle to prior periods’ financial statements unless it is impracticable
to determine either the period-specific effects or the cumulative effect of the change. APB Opinion No. 20
previously required that most voluntary changes in accounting principle be recognized by including the
cumulative effect of the change in net income for the period of the change in accounting principle.
SFAS No. 154 carries forward without change the guidance contained in APB Opinion No. 20 for reporting
the correction of an error in previously issued financial statements and a change in accounting estimate.
SFAS No. 154 also carries forward the guidance in APB Opinion No. 20 requiring justification of a change in
accounting principle on the basis of preferability. SFAS No. 154 is effective for accounting changes and
corrections of errors made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005, with early adoption permitted.

FASB Staff Position No. FAS 115-1 and FAS 124-1, “The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary
Impairment and Its Application to Certain Investments” (the “FSP”), was issued in November 2005 and
addresses the determination of when an investment is considered impaired; whether the impairment is other
than temporary; and how to measure an impairment loss. The FSP also addresses accounting considerations
subsequent to the recognition of an other-than-temporary impairment loss on a debt security, and requires
certain disclosures about unrealized losses that have not been recognized as other-than-temporary impair-
ments. The FSP replaces the impairment guidance in EITF Issue No. 03-1 with references to existing
authoritative literature concerning other-than-temporary determinations (principally SFAS No. 115 and SEC
Staff Accounting Bulletin 59). Under the FSP, an impairment loss must be recognized in earnings in an
amount equal to the entire difference between the security’s cost and its fair value at the financial statement
date, without considering partial recoveries subsequent to that date. The FSP also requires that an investor
recognize an other-than-temporary impairment loss when a decision to sell a security has been made and the
investor does not expect the fair value of the security to fully recover prior to the expected time of sale. The
FSP is effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2005. The Company does not expect that
the application of the FSP will have a material impact on its financial condition, results of operations or
financial statement disclosures.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004) (“SFAS 123(R)”), “Share-Based
Payment”, which supersedes SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 1237)
and APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” SFAS 123(R) addresses the
accounting for share-based payment transactions with employees and other third parties; eliminates the ability
to account for share-based compensation transactions using APB Opinion No. 25; and requires that the
compensation costs relating to such transactions be recognized in the statement of operations. A rule issued by
the SEC in April 2005 changed the compliance date for SFAS 123(R) to the beginning of the first fiscal year
beginning after June 15, 2005 and, therefore, the Company adopted SFAS 123(R) on January 1, 2006.
SFAS No. 123(R) applies to all awards granted after the adoption date and to awards modified, repurchased,
or cancelled after that date. Additionally, beginning on the adoption date, compensation expense is recognized
for the portion of outstanding awards for which the requisite service (vesting) has not yet been rendered, based
on the grant-date fair value of those awards that had been calculated under SFAS No. 123 for pro forma
disclosures. The impact of adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) on the Company’s 2006 net income is expected to
approximate the impact that SFAS No. 123 had on 2005 net income as shown in the pro forma disclosure
included in Note 1(R).
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Note 2. American Independence Corp.

AMIC is an insurance holding company engaged in the insurance and reinsurance business as a result of
its acquisition of First Standard Holdings Corp. (“FSHC”) from the Company in November 2002. AMIC
does business with the Insurance Group, including reinsurance treaties under which, in 2005, Standard
Security Life and Madison National Life ceded an average of 22% of their medical stop-loss business, 10% of
their first dollar business and 20% of their New York Statutory Disability Business. IHC owns 48% of AMIC’s
outstanding common stock at December 31, 2005 which, as described below, was purchased in various
transactions beginning in 2002. JHC accounts for its investment in AMIC under the equity method. At
December 31, 2005 and 2004, THC’s investment in AMIC had a total carrying value of $43,637,000 and
$33,334,000 at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, including goodwill of $4,470,000 and $2,708,000,
respectively.

For the years ended Decembeir 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, THC recorded $1,411,000, $2,334,000 and
$2,292,000, respectively, of equity income from its investment in AMIC representing IHC’s proportionate

share of income based on its varied ownership interest during those years. AMIC paid no dividends on its
common stock in 2005, 2004 and 2003.

In the fourth quarters of 2005 and 2003, AMIC recognized income of $2,079,000 and $4,466,000,
respectively, for a further reduction in the valuation allowance on its deferred tax asset which relates primarily
to federal net operating loss carryforwards. This reduction had no effect on ITHC’s net income since it
represented previously unrecognized tax benefits that existed when IHC acquired its ownership in AMIC.
IHC recognizes its share of such benefits first as a reduction of its AMIC goodwill (until reduced to zero),
and then as a component of its equity in AMIC’s income or loss. IHC’s equity share of AMIC’s 2005 and
2003 valuation allowance adjustments amounted to $999,000 and $1,448,000, respectively, which were
recorded as reductions of goodwill.

In July 2002, the Company purchased a 19.9% interest in AMIC for $15,000,000. In April 2003, the
Company completed a cash tender offer at $9.00 per share and purchased an additional 1,000,000 shares (or
approximately 12%) of AMIC’s outstanding common stock. In December 2003, the Company purchased an
additional 613,401 shares of AMIC common stock. During 2004 and 2005, IHC purchased an additional
94,488 and 687,085 shares, respectively, bringing IHC’s ownership of AMIC to 4,061,640 shares or 48% of the
total AMIC shares outstanding at December 31, 2005. The fair value of the AMIC shares owned by IHC was
approximately $46,668,000 at December 31, 2005, based on the closing market price of AMIC’s common
stock. See Note 13 for a further discussion of IHC’s purchases of AMIC shares during 2005.
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The condensed balance sheets of AMIC at December 31, 2005 and 2004 are as follows:

2005 2004
(In thousands)
Investments, at fair value .......... ... i $ 48,481 $ 44,469
Cash and restricted €ash . ... oottt e 23,472 19,838
Goodwill ... e 24,154 24,154
Deferred tax asset, Nel. ... oot e 13,781 13,491
OFhET S8 .« ot ottt e et 19,844 22,443
Total assets . ... i $129,732  $124,395
Insurance Habilities . ... ... ..ot e $ 37,178  § 38,042
Other Habilities . . .. ... it e e e e e 7,058 5,860
Total Habilities .. ... ..o e 44,236 43,902
MINOTItY INIETESE. « . oo ettt e e e e e e 4,026 4,026
Total stockholders’ equity . ....... .. ... ... i i 81,470 76,467
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity .. ........ ... ... ven... $129,732  $124,395

AMIC’s condensed operating results for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 are as
follows:

2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)

Revenues . ... i $83,130 $80,378  $55,553

EXPEnses ... o 77,491 71,145 45,985

Income from continuing operations before income taxes ........ 5,639 9,233 9,568

(Provision) benefit for income taxes ........................ (120) (3,569) 2,993

Income from continuing operations. ............... . ... ..... 5,519 5,664 12,561

(Loss) income from discontinued operations ................. (59) 240 110

NEt INCOMIE ittt et et et et e e s $ 5460 $ 5904 $12,671
Net income per common share:

Basic . .o $§ 64 $ 70 § 1.51

Diluted . ..o $ 64 $ 69 § 130

IHC and its subsidiaries earned $564,000, $550,000 and $201,000 for the years ended December 31,
2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, from service agreements with AMIC and its subsidiaries. These are
reimbursements to IHC and its subsidiaries, at agreed upon rates including an overhead factor, for
management services provided by THC and its subsidiaries, including accounting, legal, compliance, under-
writing and claims,

The Company ceded premiums to AMIC of $55,536,000, $49,082,000 and $28,146,000 for the years
ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Benefits to policyholders on business ceded to AMIC
were $39,682,000 in 2005, $32,116,000 in 2004 and $18,311,000 in 2003. Additionally, AMIC subsidiaries
market, underwrite and provide administrative services (including premium collection, medical management
and claims adjudication) for a substantial portion of the Medical Stop-Loss business written by the insurance
subsidiaries of IHC. IHC recorded net commission expense of $5,542,000, $4,603,000 and $3,080,000 for the
years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, for these services. The Company also contracts
for several types of insurance coverage (e.g. directors and officers and professional liability converge) jointly
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with AMIC. The cost of this coverage\? is allocated between the Company and AMIC according to the type of

risk, and THC’s portion is recorded irf Selling, General and Administrative Expenses.
\

Included in the Company’s Consohdated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively,
are the following balances arising from transactions in the normal course of business with AMIC and its
subsidiaries: Due from reinsurers — $14,122,000 and $14,873,000; Other assets $10,565,000 and $4,996,000;
and Other liabilities — $249,000 and $2,109,000.

Note 3. Securities Purchased Undef Agreements to Resell

Securities purchased under agrccments to resell are utilized to invest excess funds on a short-term basis.
At December 31, 2005, the Company had $44,399,000 in resale agreements outstanding, all of which settled
on January 3, 2006 and were subsequently reinvested. The Company maintains control of securities purchased
under resale agreements, values the collatcral on a daily basis and obtains additional collateral, if necessary, to
protect the Company in the event of qlcfault by the counterparties.

Note 4. Investment Securities

The cost (amortized cost with irespect to certain fixed maturities), gross unrealized gains, gross
unrealized losses and fair value of investment securities are as follows:

December 31, 2005

[ Gross Gross
! Amortized Unrealized Unrealised Fair
' Cost Gains Losses Value

(In thousands)
FIXED MATURITIES AVAILABLE FOR-

SALE: ‘
Corporate securities .........¢1......coo..., $351,517 $ 821 $(11,244) $341,094
Collateralized mortgage obligations (*CMOs™)
and asset backed securities ('ABS”) ...... 93,131 6 (2,342) 90,795
U.S. Government and agencies “,obligations e 63,156 — (1,640) 61,516
Agency mortgage backed pass t‘:through
securities (“MBS”) ....... R 24,651 — (356) 24,295
Government-sponsored enterprise (“GSE”) ... 67,990 — (1,688) 66,302
States and political subdivisions‘}\ ............. 99,556 338 (888) 99,006
Total fixed maturities ................. $700,001 $1,165 $(18,158) $683,008
EQUITY SECURITIES AVAILABLE FOR-
SALE: ‘\
Common Stock ... ... ... $ 3,190 $ 466 $ (134) $ 3,522
Preferred stock .............. PP 57,959 1,119 (300) 58,778
Total equity securities . . . .. e $ 61,149 $1,585 § (434) § 62300
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December 31, 2004

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealised Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value

(In thousands)
FIXED MATURITIES AVAILABLE-FOR-

SALE:
Corporate securities ...........c..coiveeennn... $248,423 $2,614 $(5,275) $245,762
CMOsand ABS.............. e 122,963 1,123 (2,764) 121,322
U.S. Government and agencies obligations . . . ... 54,874 349 (691) 54,532
MBS e 34,167 30 (71) 34,126
GSE ... 73,380 80 (522) 72,938
States and political subdivisions ............... 17,110 594 - 17,704
Total fixed maturities......... G $550,917 $4,790 $(9,323) $546,384
EQUITY SECURITIES AVAILABLE-FOR-
SALE:
Common stock ........................... $ 3,301 $ 690 $ (56) $ 4,435
Preferred stock ......... ... ... . ... ... .... 7,404 262 (2) 7,664
Total equity securities ................... $ 11,205 $ 952 $ (58) $ 12,099

Government-sponsored enterprise securities consist of Federal National Mortgage Association mortgage-
backed securities and other fixed maturity securities issued by the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation
and Federal National Mortgage Association.

The amortized cost and fair value of fixed maturities at December 31, 2005, by contractual maturity, are
shown below. Expected maturities will differ from contractual maturities because borrowers may have the
right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties. The average life of mortgage
backed securities is affected by prepayments on the underlying loans and, therefore, is materially shorter than
the original stated maturity.

% of

Amortized Fair Fair

Cost Value Value

(Dollars in thousands)

Dueinoneyear orless. ... ... ..o ennnnnnan.n $ 12,300 $ 12,100 1.8%
Due after one year through five years .................... ... 73,496 71,675 10.5%
Due after five years through tenyears ....................... 147,501 144,286 21.1%
Due after ten years . ...t 295,365 287,559 42.1%

528,662 515,620 75.5%
CMO, ABS and MBS

L5 year . oo 95,671 * 93,286 13.7%
I Y P 12,006 11,872 1.7%
30 YA . o e e 63,662 62,230 9.1%

$700,001  $683,008  100.0%

Gross gains of $7,645,000 and gross losses of $6,061,000 were realized on sales of available-for-sale
securities for the year ended December 31, 2005. During 2005, the Company also recorded $11,000 of losses
on securities not yet sold with declines in fair value that the Company considered to be other than temporary.
The Company realized net gains of $629,000 from trading securities in 2005.
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Gross gains of $9,335,000 and. gross losses of $7,109,000 were realized on sales of available-for-sale
securities for the year ended December 31, 2004. During 2004, the Company also recorded $622,000 of losses
on securities not yet sold with declines in fair value that the Company considered to be other than temporary,
including $430,000 for impairment. of interest only securities due to decreases in expected cash flows
attributable to declines in market interest rates. The Company realized net gains of $554,000 from trading
securities in 2004.

Gross gains of $13,579,000 and gross losses of $8,301,000 were realized on sales of available-for-sale
securities for the year ended December 31, 2003. During 2003, the Company also recorded $5,154,000 of
losses on securities not yet sold with declines in fair value that the Company considered to be other than
temporary, including $4,984,000 for impairment of interest only securities due to decreases in expected cash
flows attributable to declines in market interest rates. The Company realized net gains of $189,000 from
trading securities in 2003.

The following table summarizes,'for all securities in an unrealized loss position at December 31, 2003 and
2004, respectively, the aggregate fair value and gross unrealized loss by length of time those securities had
continuously been in an unrealized loss position:

Less than 12 Months 12 Months or Longer Total
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
December 31, 2005 Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
' (In thousands)
Corporate securities .... $232,488 $ 8,085 $ 45,608 $3,159 $278,096 $11,244
CMOs and ABS ....... 50,118 984 38,495 1,358 88,613 2,342
U.S. Government and
agencies ............ 40,250 842 21,266 798 61,516 1,640
Agency MBS ......... 16,534 239 7,761 117 24,295 356
GSE................. 51,655 1,024 14,647 664 66,302 1,688
States and political
subdivisions ......... 75,821 888 — — 75,821 888
Total fixed maturities... 466,866 12,062 127,777 6,096 594,643 18,158
Common stock ........ 1,137 76 96 58 1,233 134
Preferred stock ........ 6,979 245 1,445 55 8,424 300

Total temporarily
impaired securities ... $474,982  $12,383  $129,318 $6,209 $604,300  $18,592
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Less than 12 Months 12 Months or Longer Total
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
December 31, 2004 Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
(In thousands)
Corporate securities . .. .. $163,517 $5,060 $ 2,608 $215 $166,125 $5,275
CMOsand ABS........ 74,076 2,046 30,664 718 104,740 2,764
U.S. Government and
aAgencies .. ........... 40,630 691 — — 40,630 691
Agency MBS .......... 15,568 71 2 — 15,570 71
GSE .................. 44,584 522 — — 44,584 522
Total fixed maturities. . .. 338,375 8,390 33,274 933 371,649 9,323
Common stock ......... 726 56 — — 726 56
Preferred stock ......... 1,143 2 — — 1,143 2
Total temporarily
impaired securities . ... $340,244 $8,448 $33,274 $933 $373,518 $9,381

Substantially all of the unrealized losses at December 31, 2005 and 2004 relate to investment grade
securities and are attributable to changes in market interest rates subsequent to purchase. There were no
securities with unrealized losses that were individually significant dollar amounts at December 31, 2005 or
2004. At December 31, 2005 and 2004, a total of 121 and 63 securities, respectively, were in a continuous
unrealized loss position for less than 12 months and 22 and 6 securities, respectively, had continuous
unrealized losses for 12 months or longer. For fixed maturities, there are no securities past due or securities for
which the Company currently believes it is not probable that it will collect all amounts due according to the
contractual terms of the investment. Because the Company has the ability to hold securities with unrealized
losses until a market price recovery (which, for fixed maturities, may be until maturity) the Company did not
consider these investments to be other-than-temporarily impaired at December 31, 2005 and 2004.

Note 5. Fair Value Disclosure of Financial Instruments

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of financial instruments not
disclosed elsewhere in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements:

(4) Policy Loans

The fair value of policy loans is estimated by projecting aggregate loan cash flows to the end of the
expected lifetime period of the life insurance business at the average policy loan rates, and discounting them at
a current market interest rate.

(B) Funds on Deposit

The Company has two types of funds on deposit. The first type is credited with a current market interest
rate, resulting in a fair value which approximates the carrying amount. The second type carries fixed interest
rates which are higher than current market interest rates. The fair value of these deposits was estimated by
discounting the payments using current market interest rates. The Company’s universal life policies are also
credited with current market interest rates, resulting in a fair value which approximates the carrying amount.

(C) Debt

The fair value of debt with variable interest rates approximates its carrying amount. The fair value of
fixed rate debt is estimated by discounting the cash flows using current market interest rates.
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The estimated fair values of financial instruments are as follows:
i

1 December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004
‘ Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value

(In thousands)
FINANCIAL ASSETS:

Fixed maturities . ................. ... ..... $683,008  $683,008 $546,384  $546,384
Equity securities . .. ......... ... ... ... 62,300 62,300 12,099 12,099
Policy loans. ............ ... iivein.. .. 28,861 32,704 . 16,756 18,912
Other................... F 172 172 166 166
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES:
Funds on deposit ......... ‘ ............... 370,701 372,019 308,465 309,180
Debt and junior subordinated debt securities . . 50,646 49,581 50,646 50,293
Other .. ..o 26 26 — —

Note 6. Net Investment Income

Major categories of net investment income for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 are
summarized as follows:

2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)

Fixed maturities . ... ... ..ot $32,774  $35,795  $28,802
Equity Securities . ...t i 1,671 1,164 1,118
Short-term investments ... ... e 3,228 1,038 591
Policy loans ................ O 1,064 1,090 1,075
Equity income:

Investment partnerships . .......... ... . i 1,049 2,900 4,067

Operating partnerships . .............. ... .. L. 1,685 924 230
Other .. . e 688 606 269
INETest EXPENSE . . .\ttt (1,327) (383) (181)
Tnvestment eXpenses .. ..o vt e (169) (219) (175)

$40,663  $42,915  $35,796

Note 7. Net Realized and Unrealizéd Gains (Losses)

Net realized and unrealized gainé (losses) on investments for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004
and 2003 are as follows:

2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)

Fixed maturities . ............ b $ 337  $1,075  $(751)
Equity securifies . .. .. e 2,002 1,136 990
Other (10SSES) ZAINS . ..\ vr ettt e e (137) (53) 74
Net realized gains .......... ... ... ... 2,202 2,158 313
Unrealized (loss) gain on Majestic put/call. ... ... .. ... ....... (125) 236 —
Net realized and unrealized gains . ......... ... ... .. ... ... ..... $2,077 $2,394 § 313
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Note 8. Other Investments

Other investments consist of the following at December 31, 2005 and 2004:

2005 2004
(In thousands)
Investment partnership interests. .. ... ...t $20,519  $24,118
Policy loans........ ...t e 28,861 16,756
Operating partnership interests . ............ o i i i 6,659 6,220
Investment in trust subsidiaries ......... ... .. .. . i 1,146 1,146
Other......................... P 102 439

$57,287  $48,679

The Company had invested $10,514,000 and $10,086,000 at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively,
in Dolphin Limited Partnership — A (“DLP-A”), a limited partnership which has focused on relatively
“market neutral” investment strategies, such as merger arbitrage, convertible arbitrage and distressed
situations. These strategies generally may be less affected by movements in the equity and fixed income
markets than traditional investments. “Merger arbitrage” is an investment strategy primarily designed to profit
from the successful completion of proposed mergers, takeovers, tender offers, leveraged buy-outs, recapitaliza-
tions and spin-offs. “Convertible arbitrage” is a strategy principally designed to capitalize on discrepancies in
the pricing of convertible securities and their underlying common stock or equivalents. “Distressed situations”
principally means entities which are in bankruptcy proceedings or are otherwise financially distressed. While
these strategies are considered relatively “market neutral,” there are also risks associated with the underlying
transactions. The Company’s net investment income for 2005, 2004 and 2003 includes $428,000, $958,000 and
$1,331,000, respectively, for its proportionate share of the net income of DLP-A.

At December 31, 2004, the Company had invested $4,563,000 in Dolphin Domestic Fund II, L.P.
(“Dolphin II""). Dolphin II generally made investments in companies where it could employ an “active
investor” approach to investing. It primarily sought to acquire significant positions in the debt and/or equity of
publicly traded securities of North American companies. During 2004, the general partner determined to
liquidate the net assets of the partnership which occurred in 2005. The Company’s net investment income for
2005, 2004 and 2003 includes $85,000, $852,000 and $212,000, respectively, for its proportionate share of the
net income of Dolphin II.

Note 9. Acquisitions

The Company completed the following acquisitions in 2005 and 2004. The results of operations of the
acquired companies are included in THC’s Consolidated Financial Statements from the respective acquisition
dates. None of the goodwill recognized in these acquisitions is deductible for income tax purposes. Pro forma
results of operations for 2005 and 2004, as though these acquisitions had been completed at the beginning of
those years, have not been presented since the effect of the acquisitions was not material.

{A) GrouplLink, Inc.

On July 1, 2005, the Company, through its 80% owned subsidiary Strategic Health Associates, Inc.
(“SHA™), acquired a 75% interest in GroupLink, Inc. (“GroupLink”}, an administrator of dental benefits
based in Indianapolis, Indiana and its wholly-owned subsidiary, GroupLink Reinsurance Ltd. A member of
GroupLink’s current senior management continues to own the remaining 25% interest. Through its ownership
of SHA, IHC acquired its interest in GroupLink for $1,988,000 which includes $488,000 of direct costs
associated with the acquisition. IHC recorded $1,376,000 of goodwill and $330,000 of other intangible assets
in connection with the acquisition. The other intangible assets are being amortized over a period of 5 years. In
the fourth quarter of 2005, GroupLink began offering dental insurance in certain jurisdictions through
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Standard Security Life and Madisoﬁ National Life. GroupLink Reinsurance Ltd. solely reinsures dental
business produced by GroupLink, Inc. Under certain circumstances set forth in a shareholders’ agreement, the
Company has the right and/or obhgatlon to purchase some or all of the minority interest in GroupLink.

(B) Health Plan Administrators, I‘nc.

On January 5, 2005, SHA acquired a 100% interest in Health Plan Administrators, Inc. (“HPA”), an
administrator of short-term medical ([‘STM”) products based in Rockford, Illinois and Tampa, Florida, for
$12 million cash. During 2005, THC owned 80% of SHA with the remainder being owned by Insurers
Administrative Corporation (“IAC”) which THC acquired in January 2006 as described in Note 21. Standard
Security Life, Madison National Life and Independence American Insurance Company (a subsidiary of
AMIC) write STM products administered by HPA.

Through its ownership of SHA,\ THC acquired its interest in HPA for $10,200,000 which includes
$600,000 of direct costs associated’ w1th the acquisition. In addition, IHC loaned $1,800,000 to IAC in the
form of a note receivable to fund the acqulsltlon The loan has a 5% interest rate, and is payable in six equal
annual installments, the first of Wthh was paid in January 2006. IHC recorded $7,071,000 of goodwill and
$2,960,000 of other intangible assets 1n connection with the acquisition. The other intangible assets are being
amortized over a period of five years.

(C) Majesu'c Underwriters LLC

Effective July 1, 2004, THC acquired a 52% controlling interest in Majestic Underwriters LLC
(“Majestic”’), a medical stop-loss Managing General Underwriter (“MGU”). AMIC acquired a 23% interest -
and the current senior management of Majestic owns 25% of the MGU. The purchase of IHC’s share was paid
for with both net cash of $1,540,000 and the issuance of 129,808 shares of IHC common stock (the “Shares”)
with a fair value of $2,100,000 (See Notc 13). THC recorded goodwill of $2,800,000 and other intangible
assets of $936,000 in connection with tﬁe acquisition of its 52% controlling interest. The other intangible assets

are being amortized over a period of n‘ine years.
|

IHC issued a stock put on all IHC\‘ shares issued in the acquisition which vested on July 1, 2005 at a price
of $17.15 per share (“Put”). IHC was granted a corresponding stock call on the same IHC shares which
vested on July 1, 2005 at a price of $20l 00 per share (“Call”’). The put and call were recorded at fair value at
the acquisition date. In August 2005, the Call was canceled and the Put was amended such that (i) the price
on all shares will remain $17.15 per shafc through July 18, 2006, and (ii} from July 18, 2006 through July 18,
2007, the Put remains in effect on up to 61,086 shares at a price of $18.55 per share. For the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004, IHC wrecorded an unrealized (loss) gain of $(125,000) and $236,000,
respectively, in the Consolidated Statements of Operations representing the net change in fair value of the Put
and Call. Under certain circumstances set forth in the Limited Liability Agreement of Majestic, the Company
has the right and/or obligation to purchase some or all of the minority interest in Majestic.

Note 10. Insurance Policy Claims and Reserves

The liabilities for unpaid claims and claim adjustment expenses and insurance reserves-health represent
amounts necessary to provide for the estimated cost of settling claims relating to insured events that have been
incurred prior to the balance sheet date% which have not yet been settied.

Changes in the liability for reserves, unpaid claims and claim adjustment expenses for the Insurance
Group’s health and disability coverages for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 are
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summarized below. The current year and prior years’ amounts incurred for December 31, 2004 have been
revised by an immaterial amount.

2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)
Balance at beginning of year .............. .. L, $168,582  $175,692  $156,380
Less: reinsurance recoverable . ........... .. .. .. ... .. ..., 104,564 113,181 105,932
Net balance at beginning of year ...................... .. 64,018 62,511 50,448
Reserves acquired . ...t 1,847 — —
Amount incurred:
CUITENT YEAT . ..ttt i e e e i e 124,981 85,589 70,653
Prior years . ... 602 2,545 1,578
Total .o 125,583 88,134 72,231
Amount paid, related to:
CUTTENT VAT . vttt e et e e i it 72,964 44,147 28,233
Prioryears . ... 37,971 42,480 31,935
Total ..o 110,935 86,627 60,168
Net balance atend of year ............................. 80,513 64,018 62,511
Plus: reinsurance recoverable . . ....... ... ... . L 83,926 104,564 113,181
Balance atend of year ........ ... .. ... ... i $164,439 $168,582 $175,692

The preceding schedule reflects (i) the due and unpaid; (ii) claims in the course of settlement;
(iii) estimated incurred but not reported reserves; and (iv) the present value of amounts not yet due on
claims. The incurred and paid data above reflects all activity for the year. The amount incurred in 2005 for
prior years of $602,000 is primarily a result of re-estimation of unpaid losses on Medical Stop-Loss reserves.
This increase in reserve estimates is generally the result of on-going analysis of recent loss development trends.
The amount incurred in 2004 of $2,545,000 primarily relates to an increase in Medical Stop-Loss and LTD
reserves. The amount incurred of $1,578,000 in 2003 primarily relates to an increase in credit accident and
health reserves.

Note 11. Debt and Junior Subordinated Debt Securities
(A) Debt

A subsidiary of [HC entered into a $12,500,000 line of credit with a commercial bank in September 2003.
As to such subsidiary, the line of credit (i) contains restrictions with respect to, among other things, the
creation of additional indebtedness, the consolidation or merger with or into certain corporations, the payment
of dividends and the retirement of capital stock; (ii) requires the maintenance of minimum amounts of net
worth, as defined, certain financial ratios, and certain investment restrictions; and (iii) is secured by the stock
of Madison National Life and the assets of such subsidiary of IHC. At both December 31, 2005 and 2004,
there was $12,500,000 outstanding under the line of credit. The debt matures in full on September 1, 2006.
The line of credit bears interest at a variable interest rate equal to LIBOR plus 1.25%. The Company has
entered into an interest rate swap, with the commercial bank lender, under which the Company receives a
variable rate equal to the rate on the debt and pays a fixed rate of 3.96%. There was no hedge ineffectiveness
on this swap which is accounted for as a cash flow hedge. The fair value of the swap and the related after-tax
adjustment recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) were insignificant at December 31,
2005 and 2004.
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(B) Junior Subordinated Debt I;sued to Trust Preferred Subsidiaries

Junior subordinated debt consisted of the following at both December 31, 2005 and 2004 (in thousands):

Independence Preferred Trust T — Trust Preferred. .. .......ooovveeeeeinenenn... $10,000
Independence Preferred Trust I — Common Stock ....... ... . i, 310
Junior subordinated debt security — Trust I ............ ... ... ... .............. _10,310
Independence Preferred Trust IT — Trust Preferred........... ... ... . ... .. ... 12,000
Independence Preferred Trust II — Common Stock ........ ... ... o i, 372
Junior subordinated debt security — Trust IT ...... ... .. ... .. ... . ... ... ... .. 12,372
Independence Preferred Trust III — Trust Preferred .. ....... ... ... .. ... .. .... 15,000
Independence Preferred Trust III — Common Stock.............. .. ... ... .. ... 464
Junior subordinated debt sequrity —Trust I . ... 15,464
Total junior subordinated hebt SECUTTEIES v\ttt et et e e $38,146

The Company has three statu‘;\tory business trusts that were formed for the purpose of issuing trust
preferred securities, totaling $37,0001000, to institutional investors in pooled issuances. Although the Company
owns all of the trusts’ common secunties, it is not the primary beneficiary for purposes of FIN 46R,
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,” and, accordingly, the trusts are unconsolidated subsidiaries for
financial reporting purposes. This resulted in the recognition of liabilities of $38,146,000 for junior subordi-
nated debt and assets of $1,146,000 3‘for the investments in trust subsidiaries at both December 31, 2005 and
2004. The Company’s subordinated debt securities, which are the sole assets of the subsidiary trusts, are
unsecured obligations of the Company and are subordinate and junior in right of payment to all present and
future senior indebtedness of the Company The Company has provided a full and unconditional guarantee of
amounts due on the trust preferred securities. The terms of the j junior subordinated debt securities, including
interest rates and maturities, are the same as the related trust preferred securities.

The distributions payable on the capital securities are cumulative and payable quarterly in arrears. The
Company has the right, subject to events of default, to defer payments of interest for a period not to exceed
20 consecutive quarters, provided that no extension period may extend beyond the maturity dates which range
from April 2033 to December 2034“\. The Company has no current intention to exercise its right to defer
interest payments. The rates on the capital securities are as follows: Independence Preferred Trust I, fixed at
7.4% for the first five years and 400 basis points over the three month LIBOR thereafter; Independence
Preferred Trust II, 390 basis points oyer the three-month LIBOR, or 8.05% and 5.97% at December 31, 2005
and 2004, respectively; and Independence Preferred Trust 111, fixed at 7.2% for the first five years and
350 basis points over the three month LIBOR thereafter.

The capital securities are mandaltorily redeemable upon maturity. The Company has the right to redeemn
the capital securities, in whole or 1nw\ part and with certain prepayment penalties, on certain dates prior to
April 7, 2008, January 8, 2009 and {December 15, 2009, with respect to Independence Preferred Trust I,
Independence Preferred Trust II and:Independence Preferred Trust II1, respectively. If the capital securities
were redeemed on or after those dates, the redemption price would be 100% (without penalty) of the principal
amount plus accrued and unpaid interest.

Cash payments for interest on debt and junior subordinated debt securities were $3,378,000, $1,796,000
and $673,000 for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
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Note 12. Preferred Stock
IHC has 100,000 authorized shares of preferred stock, par value $1.00 per share.

Note 13. Common Stock

On July 29, 2004, THC filed an amendment to its Restated Certificate of Incorporation with the
Secretary of State of the State of Delaware to reflect an increase in the number of shares of common stock,
$1.00 par value per share, which THC has authority to issue by 5,000,000 from 15,000,000 to 20,000,000, and
consequently, to increase the total number of shares of all classes of stock which IHC shall have authority to
issue by 5,000,000, from 15,100,000 to 20,100,000. The amendment was approved by the written consent of
stockholders pursuant to a consent solicitation commenced on July 12, 2004. IHC has reserved
1,218,411 shares of common stock for issuance under its stock option plans at December 31, 2005.

In 1991, THC initiated a program of repurchasing shares of its common stock. From January 1, 1991
through December 31, 2005, THC repurchased 5,882,852 common shares, or 35.9% of the number of shares
outstanding on January 1, 1991, at a cumulative cost of $36,256,000. This total includes repurchases of
310,200 shares, 300,780 shares, and 387,463 shares in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. All of the
repurchased shares have either been retired, reissued, or become treasury shares. At December 31, 2005, there
were 109,837 shares still authorized to be repurchased under a plan authorized by the Board of Directors in
June 2004. ‘

During the third quarter of 2004, the Company issued 129,808 shares of its common stock in connection
with the acquisition of Majestic. The shares were issued at a fair value of $16.18 per share in reliance upon the
exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities
Act”), as a private placement of unregistered securities under Section 4(2) thereof. Accordingly, the shares
will be “restricted securities”, subject to a legend and will not be freely tradable in the United States until the
shares are registered for resale under the Securities Act, or to the extent they are tradable under Rule 144
promulgated under the Securities Act or any other available exemption. Any resale or other disposition of the
securities in the United States must be made either under a registration statement filed by IHC with the
Securities and Exchange Commission or under an exemption from the registration requirements of the
Securities Act.

During 2005, the Company purchased an aggregate 687,085 additional shares of AMIC common stock
(See Note 2) in both open market and private transactions. The purchases were paid for with cash and the
issuance of 239,122 shares of IHC common stock. The shares were issued at a fair value of $17.50 per share in
reliance upon the exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act, as a private placement
of unregistered securities under Section 4(2) thereof. Accordingly, the shares will be “restricted securities”,
subject to a legend and will not be freely tradable in the United States until the shares are registered for resale
under the Securities Act, or to the extent they are tradable under Rule 144 promulgated under the Securities
Act or any other available exemption. Any resale or other disposition of the securities in the United States
must be made either under a registration statement filed by [HC with the Securities and Exchange
Commission or under an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act.

Note 14. Stock-Based Compensation

In May 1988, the stockholders approved the amended and restated Stock Option and Incentive Stock
Option Plan (the “1988 Plan”) under which 1,584,000 shares of common stock were reserved for options and
other common stock awards. Under the terms of the 1988 Plan, option exercise prices are equal to the quoted
market price of the shares at the date of grant. Further, the options have expiration dates ranging from five to
ten years from the date of grant. With regard to ITHC employees, options vest ratably over a three year period
beginning on the first or second anniversary of the date of grant, and with regard to directors, options vest six
months from the date of grant. The final option grants under the 1988 Plan were made during 2003.
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In June 2003, the stockholderg approved the Independence Holding Company 2003 Stock Incentive Plan
(‘2003 Plan”) under which 630,000 shares of common stock were reserved for options and other common
stock awards. Under the terms of the 2003 Plan, option exercise prices will not be less than the fair market

value of a share of stock on the date of grant.

At December 31, 20085, 2004 and 2003, options to purchase 107,790, 134,640 and 392,580 shares,

respectively, were available for fut{ﬁre grants under both Plans.
N
During 1999, the Company granted 44,550 Stock Appreciation Rights (“Rights”) with a base price of
$6.39. At the date of grant, the base price equaled the quoted market price of the shares. During 2004, all of
the Rights were exercised and the ‘difference between the base price of the Rights and then-current market
price was paid in cash.

In the first quarter of 2003, the Company granted 238,410 Rights with a base price of $§11.08. At the date
of grant, the base price equaled the quoted market price of the shares. In the second quarter of 2003, these
Rights were immediately vested and terminated; a like number of non-qualified stock options were issued
under the 2003 Plan at the then-current market price to the employees whose Rights were terminated; and the
difference between the base price of the Rights and the then-current market price was paid to such employees
in cash.

|

The following table summarizes information with respect to stock options granted under the 1988 Plan

and the 2003 Plan for the years en{ied December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003:

; 2005 2004 2003
' Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise
Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price
OQutstanding at beginning :
ofyear .............. 1,184,232 §$11.31 1,296,211 $ 7.88 1,334,790  § 5.99
Granted ............... * 30,000 17.99 257,940 20.73 315,810 11.30
Exercised .............. (100,461) 650  (369,919) 586 (348,449) 376
Forfeited. . ... .......... - (5,400)  17.70 — — (4,950) 6.00
Expired................ L — — — — (990)  13.19
Outstanding at end of “
Year. . ... ... 1,108,371 $11.89 1,184,232 $11.31 1,296,211 $ 7.88

Exercisable at end of year %98,051 $ 9.92 645,672 $ 7.75 720,475 $ 6.08
= —_ s

The following table is a summary of stock options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2005:

Options Qutstanding Options Exercisable
Remaining
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Range of Number Contractual Exercise Number Exercise
Exercise Prices Outstanding Life Price Exercisable Price
From To {y (In years)
$ 3.88 $ 5.18 115,600 0.8 $ 4.04 115,600 $ 4.04
6.22 8.32 206,540 0.4 7.32 206,540 7.32
9.39 11.52 50L,891 - 2.0 10.73 385,971 10.61
13.19 20.89 284,340 3.6 20.45 89,940 20.48
$ 3.88 $20.89 1,108,371 2.0 $11.89 798,051 $ 9.92
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Note 15. Income Taxes

The Company and its 80% or more owned subsidiaries file a consolidated Federal income tax return on a
June 30 fiscal year. The provision for income tax expense (benefit) for the years ended December 31, 2005,
2004 and 2003 is as follows:

2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)
CURRENT:
US. Federal ... oot $3,764 $ 5907 $ 5,198
State and Local .. ....... .. i (48) 290 186
3,716 6,197 5,384
DEFERRED:
U.S. Federal .. ..oovor et 4865 4,226 4,659
State and Local . ... ... e SOT . (6) 268 106

4,859 4,494 4,765
$8,575 $10,691  $10,149

Taxes computed at the Federal statutory rate of 35% in 2005, 2004 and 2003, are reconciled to the
Company’s actual income tax expense as follows:

2005 2004 2003
] (In thousands)
Tax computed at the statutory rate........................... $9,056 $11,771  $10,060
Dividends received deduction and tax exempt interest........... (826) (252) (274)
State and local income taxes, net of Federal effect ............. (35) . 363 444
Policyholders’ surplus account tax. .. ..................o.o.o.. L= (1,122) —
Valuation allowance ......... .. ... i, — — (254)
Other, Bet. . ... 380 (69) 173
Income 1aX eXpense ............ccuiuiiiinr i $8,575 $10,691  $10,149

The income tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2005 allocated to stockholders’ equity
(principally for net unrealized losses on investment securities) was $3,570,000, representing the increase in the
related net deferred tax asset to $4,681,000 at December 31, 2005 from $1,111,000 at December 31, 2004.

Temporary differences between the Consolidated Financial Statement carrying amounts and tax bases of
assets and liabilities that give rise to the deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2005 and 2004 are
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summarized below. The net deferred tax liability is included in Other liabilities in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets.

2005 2004
(In thousands)

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS:

Deferred insurance policy acquisition Costs......................... $ 5280 $ 6,302
Unrealized losses on investment SECUTItIES .. .o vvvvrsrrrvrvenrennnss 5,662 1,316
[NSUrance IeSEIVES ...« ovvvnv i et tiiiiieee e P 143 309
Investment write-downs. ........ . ... L 29 257
OUhEr . ..o e e 2,747 2,824
Total gross deferred tax assets ........... ... ..., 13,861 11,008
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES: ‘ .
Deferred insurance policy acquisition costs......................... (14,870)  (10,469)
Insurance reserves . . P . (3,518) (3,149)
Investment in AMIC. . ... ... . .. . (1,630) (1,170)
Unrealized gains on investment securities.......................... (214) (39)
L 713111 .. (1,092) (2,284)
Total gross deferred tax liabilities ............................. (21,324)  (17,111)
Net deferred tax Hability. ... ... $ (7,463) $ (6,103)

Under provisions of the Life Insurance Company Tax Act of 1959, life insurance companies were allowed
certain special deductions for Federal income tax purposes that were accumulated in a memorandum tax
account designated as “policyholders’ surplus.” Distributions of the untaxed amounts in this account would
result in the Company incurring an additional tax. The Company provided tax expense of $1,122,000 in 1992
and prior years for taxes related to 'the policyholders’ surplus account. As a result of the October 2004
enactment of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004, the Company reduced 2004 income tax expense by
$1,122,000 for the reversal of the prior years’ income tax provisions. The Company has implemented the
distribution requirements of this tax law which will eliminate any future policyholders’ surplus account tax.

Net cash payments for income taxes were $4,050,000, $6,004,000 and $8,181,000 in 2005, 2004 and 2003,
respectively. '
Note 16. Commitments and Concentration of Credit Risk .

Certain subsidiaries of the Company are obligated under non-cancelable operating lease agreements for
office space. Total rental expense for the years 2005, 2004 and 2003 for operating leases was $1,259,000,
$1,218,000 and $1,287,000, respectively.
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The approximate minimum annual rental payments under operating leases that have remaining non-
cancelable lease terms in excess of one year at December 31, 2005 are as follows (in thousands):

2006 . $ 1,364
2007 L e 1,416
2008 e e 1,346
2000 L 1,315
2000 L 1,312
2011 and thereafter. .. ... 5,011

8 I} 21 R S AP PP $11,764

At December 31, 2005, the Company had no investment securities of any one issuer or in any one
industry which exceeded 10% of stockholders’ equity, except for investments in obligations of the
U.S. Government and its agencies, and mortgage-backed securities issued by GSEs, as summarized in Note 4.

Fixed maturities with a carrying value of $6,207,000 and $5,947,000 were on deposit with various state
insurance departments at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

At December 31, 2005, the Company had a net receivable of $43,172,000 from one reinsurer which is
rated A+ by AM. Best. This is the only reinsurer with a net receivable that individually exceeds 10% of the
stockholders’ equity of the Company. The Company believes that this receivable is fully collectible.

The Company is involved in legal proceedings and claims which arise in the ordinary course of its
businesses. The Company has established reserves that it believes are sufficient given information presently
available related to its outstanding legal proceedings and claims. The Company believes the results of pending
legal proceedings and claims are not expected to have a material adverse effect on its financial condition or
cash flows, although there could be such an effect on its results of operations for a particular period.

Note 17. Reinsurance
Acquisitions of Policy Blocks

During 2005, THC acquired a total of $168.7 million of reserves in the following transactions: (i) effective
January 1, 2005, Madison National Life entered into an agreement with an unaffiliated insurer to 100%
coinsure life insurance policies totaling approximately $10.2 million of reserves; (ii) in January 2005, Madison
National Life purchased certain credit policies totaling approximately $.6 million of reserves from an
unaffiliated insurance company; (iii) in June 2005, Madison National Life entered into a reinsurance and
assumption agreement with an unaffiliated insurance company to assume approximately $120 million of life
and annuity reserves; (iv) in September 2003, Madison National Life assumed approximately $1.7 million of
disability reserves from various state guaranty associations; and (v) in December 2005, Madison National Life
entered into a reinsurance and assumption agreement to assume approximately $36.2 million of life and
annuity reserves from an unaffiliated insurance company.

As of January 1, 2005, Standard Life reinsured, on a 100% quota basis, a $50 million block of employer-
sponsored group major medical business, and has received regulatory approval of the assumption certificates in
each state. Through December 31, 2005, IHC has recorded $13.0 million of net earned premiums on this
block.

In June 2004, the Company acquired a block of individual annuity and supplementary contracts and life
policies through an assumption reinsurance transaction. The block had reserves of $26.6 million. Madison
National Life assumed responsibility for administration of the block on September 1, 2004,

In December 2003, the Company acquired three blocks of annuity and life policies with reserves
approximating $93 million. Madison National Life acquired two of these blocks of business from active
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companies. These blocks primarily jconsisted of individual annuity contracts plus some supplementary
contracts with combined reserves approximating $72 million. Standard Security Life acquired the third block,
which primarily consisted of individual life insurance and some annuities. The reserves transferred to Standard
Security Life in this acquisition approximated $21 million. The business is being administered through
Madison National Life’s systems andiis partially reinsured to Madison National Life.

A summary of the amounts recorded by the Company as of the effective dates is as follows (in
thousands):

2005 2004 2003
Liabilities:
Insurance reserves — life . . . ........................... $121435 $ —  $12,485
Insurance reserves — health. .. .......................... 1,931 — —
Funds on deposit........... : ........................... 40,420 26,585 78,969
Other policyholders’ reserves . .......................... 4,920 — 1,518

168,706 26,585 92,972

Non-cash assets:

Deferred acquisition costs ........... oo 18,827 800 4,939
Other investments (policy loans) ........................ 12,734 — 1,107
Due and unpaid premiums. ... 2,642 — 650
Due from reinsSurers . ...t ittt 3,994 — 5,110

38,197 800 11,806

Cash received

e e i $130,509  $25,785  $81,166

Effect of Reinsurance

Standard Security Life and Madison National Life reinsure portions of certain business in order to limit
the assumption of disproportionate risks. Standard Security Life and Madison National Life retain varying
amounts of individual life or group life) insurance. Amounts not retained are ceded to other companies on an
automatic or facultative basis. In addition, Standard Security Life and Madison National Life participate in
various coinsurance treaties on a quota share basis. Standard Security Life and Madison National Life are
contingently liable with respect to reinsurance in the unlikely event that the assuming reinsurers are unable to

meet their obligations. The ceding of reinsurance does not discharge the primary liability of the original insurer
to the insured.
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The effect of reinsurance on life insurance in-force, benefits to policyholders and premiums earned is as
follows:

Percentage
Assumed Ceded to of Amount
Gross From Other Other Net Assumed
Amount Companies Companies Amount to Net
(In thousands)
Life Insurance In-Force:
December 31,2005 .............. $8,126,687 $1,860,143 $3,471,457 $6,515,373 28.6%
December 31,2004.............. 8,140,817 383,536 3,255,695 5,268,658 1.3%
December 31,2003 .............. 7,447,989 351,264 3,171,957 4,627,296 7.6%
Benefits to Policyholders:
December 31,2005 .............. $ 235087 $ 77,645 $ 165307 § 147425 52.7%
December 31,2004 .............. 233,325 36,264 158,958 110,631 32.8%
December 31,2003 .............. 170,401 32278 119,428 83,251 38.8%
Premiums Earned:
December 31, 2005
Life and annuity .............. $ 44474 § 9473 $ 12,033 $ 41914 22.6%
Health...... .. ... ... ... 291,580 103,596 200,053 195,123 53.1%

$ 336,054 § 113,069 $ 212,086 § 237,037 47.7%

December 31, 2004
Life and annuity .............. $ 39890 $§ 6,187 $§ 13,088 $§ 32989 18.7%
Health....................... 315,929 47,394 222,245 141,078 33.6%

$ 355819 § 53,581 $ 235333 $ 174,067 30.8%

December 31, 2003
Life and annuity .............. $ 38403 $ 2,293 § 11,218 $§ 29,478 7.8%
Health....................... 289,501 37,943 207,515 119,929 31.6%

$ 327904 $ 40,236 $ 218,733 $ 149,407 26.9%

Included in Ceded to Other Companies in 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively, are $55,536,000,
$49,082,000 and $28,146,000 of Premiums Earned and $39,682,000, $32,116,000 and $18,311,000 of Benefits
to Policyholders for business ceded to Independence American, a subsidiary of AMIC.

Note 18. Segment Reporting

The Insurance Group principally engages in the life and health insurance business. Interest expense,
taxes, and general expenses associated with parent company activities are included in Corporate. Identifiable
assets by segment are those assets that are utilized in each segment and are allocated based upon the mean
reserves of each such segment. Corporate assets are composed principally of cash equivalents, resale
agreements, fixed maturities, equity securities, partnership interests and certain other investments. The
Company has reclassified certain 2004 and 2003 segment information to conform with the manner in which
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management currently views the Company’s operations. Information by business segment for the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 is presented below.

2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)

REVENUES \ "
Medical Stop-Loss(A) ...t $141,376  $105,512 § 81,243
Fully-Insured (formerly Strategiﬂc Health) ................ 24,058 — —
Group disability; life, annuities énd DBL.................. 50,717 45,343 44,594
Individual life, annuities and otHer ....................... 55,101 48,344 39,458
Credit life and disability. ... ... ......................... 21,642 20,498 20,321
L0007 - 1 (= 1,446 3,578 11,949

: 294,340 223,275 187,565
Net realized and unrealized gains ... ..................... 2,077 2,394 313

$296,417  $225669  $187,878

INCOME BEFORE INCOME ;':fAXES

Medical Stop-Loss(A) ........ S $ 18,344 $ 17815 § 16,717
Fully-Insured Health ......... e (597) — —
Group disability; life, annuities a}ld DBL.................. 5,533 5,701 7,245
Individual life, annuities and othér ....................... 7,007 9,604 6,133
Credit life and disability . . . . . .. e (281) 632 577
COTPOTatE . ..ottt (2,711) (178) (1,345)

f 27,295 33,574 29,327
Interest eXpense. .. ...t (3,496) (2,338) (898)

Net realized and unrealized gains ........................ 2,077 2,394 313
‘ $ 25876 § 33,630 § 28,742

{A) The amount includes equity income on AMIC of $1,411,000, $2,334,000 and $2,292,000 for the
years 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

2005 2004
{In thousands)

IDENTIFIABLE ASSETS AT YffEAR END

Medical Stop-Loss(A)......... TSP $ 123,852 $117,218
Fully-Insured Health(B) ....... R 26,212 —
Group disability; life, annuities an‘j‘d DBL....... ... ... 230,426 215,000
Individual life, annuities and other . .. ............................. 716,113 577,085
Credit life and disability(C) .......... . o 23,224 22,187
COTPOrate . . 31,096 38,592

$1,150,923  $970,082

(A) The Medical Stop-Loss segment includes the investment in AMIC (including goodwill) of $43,637,000
and $33,334,000, and total allocated goodwill of $7,271,000 and $5,509,000 at December 31, 2005 and
2004, respectively. ‘

(B) The Fully-Insured Health segment|includes total allocated goodwill of $8,447,000 at December 31, 2005.
!
|
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(C) The Credit Life and Disability segment includes total allocated goodwill of $392,000 at both Decem-
ber 31, 2005 and 2004.

Note 19. Dividend Restrictions on Insurance Subsidiaries and IHC

Dividends from Madison National Life are subject to the prior notification to the Commissioner of
Insurance of the State of Wisconsin if such dividend distribution exceeds 115% of the distribution for the
corresponding period of the previous year. In addition, if such dividends, together with the fair market value of
other dividends paid or credited and distributions made within the preceding twelve months, exceed the lesser
of (i) total net gain from operations for the preceding calendar year minus realized capital gains for that
calendar year and (ii) 10% of surplus with regard to policyholders as of December 31 of the preceding year,
such dividends may be paid so long as such dividends have not been disapproved by the Wisconsin Insurance
Commissioner within 30 days of its receipt of notice thereof. Madison National Life declared and paid a
dividend of $4,500,000 in 2005. No dividends were declared or paid by Madison National Life in 2004 or 2003.

The payment of dividends by Standard Security Life to its parent, Madison National Life, is subject to
the prior notification to the New York State Insurance Department if such dividends, together with other
dividends, in such calendar year exceed the lesser of (i) 10% of surplus as regards policyholders as of the
immediately preceding calendar year and (ii) net gain from operations for the immediately preceding calendar
year, not including realized capital gains. Such dividends may be paid so long as they have not been
disapproved by the New York State Department of Insurance within 30 days of its receipt of notice thereof.
Standard Security Life declared and paid a dividend of $5,000,000 and $6,000,000 to Madison National Life
in 2005 and 2003, respectively. No dividends were declared or paid by Standard Security Life in 2004.

Under Delaware law, IHC is permitted to pay dividends from surplus or net profits for the fiscal year in
which the dividend is declared and/or the preceding fiscal year. IHC declared cash dividends of $701,000,
$704,000 and $386,000 in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Note 20. Comprehensive Income

The components of total comprehensive income include net income and certain amounts reported
directly in stockholders’ equity, principally the after-tax unrealized gains and losses on investment securities
available-for-sale.
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Amounts reported in stockholders’ equity and included in total comprehensive income for the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 ére as follows:

Before Tax Net of
Tax Effect Tax
(In thousands)

2005 :
Unrealized losses, arising dunng\ theyear .................... $(10,371) $2,799  $(7,572)
Reclassification of realized and unrealized gains included in net

ncome ..........o..innad L 2,077) 771 (1,306)
Allocation to deferred acquisition costs ...................... 2,440 — 2,440
Unrealized losses, net . .......... .o i $(10,008) $3,570  $(6,438)
2004
Unrealized losses, arising duringithe year .................... $ (2,319) § 690 $(1,629)
Reclassification of realized and unreahzcd gains included in net

INCOMIE L\ttt e e e (2,394) 763 {1,631)
Allocation to deferred acquisition costs ...................... 637 — 637
Unrealized losses, net......... 1‘ ............................ $ (4,076) $1,433 $(2,623)
2003 {
Unrealized losses, arising during‘lthe VEAT e $ (2,053) $ 508 $(1,545)
Reclassification of realized and unreahzed gains included in net

ICOMIE L.t i e (313) 107 (206)
Allocation to deferred acquisition costs ...................... 703 — 703
Unrealized losses, net......... P $ (1,663) $ 615 $(1,048)

Note 21. Subsequent Events
IAC Acquisition

In January 2006, the Company entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement to purchase all of the voting
and non-voting shares of the common! stock of Insurer’s Administrative Corporation (“IAC”) and Interlock
Corporation for a total purchase price of $21,360,000 in cash and 446,663 shares of IHC common stock, which
were issued at a value of $21.54 per share. A substantial portion of the net assets acquired will consist of
goodwill and other intangible assets. Pnor to entering into this agreement, IAC owned the minority interest in
Strategic Health Associates and admlnlstered IHC’s block of small group health insurance.

TAC, which is based in Phoemx, Arizona, is a leading administrator, manager and distributor of
Consumer Driven Health Plans (“CDHPs”). It currently administers approximately $220 million of
individual and group health and life premiums and premium-equivalents. Of this business, approximately 30%
is currently insured by Standard Security Life and Madison National Life. [AC, in combination with THC’s
other first dollar subsidiaries (HPA and GroupLink) will administer, manage and distribute a full range of
health products, including CDHPs, short-term medical, limited medical, dental and vision.

CAIS Acquisition

On March 1, 2006, CAIS merged with CA Insurance Services, LLC, an entity in which IHC had a 45%
ownership interest, with CAIS surviving. In March 2006, CAIS announced that is has entered into a definitive
agreement subject to certain closing conditions to acquire a block of approximately $50 million of small group
major medical business (including CDHPs and the key personnel of a marketing and administration
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company). It is anticipated that the acquired block of group major medical business will be transitioned to
Madison National Life as of August 1, 2006.
Note 22. Quarterly Data (Unaudited)

The quarterly results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 are summarized
below:

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
(In thousands, except per share data)
2005
Total revenues . . ...ov e $65,673 $68,982 $78,435  $83,327
Net INCOME . . . oo v ottt e e $ 5752 $ 586 $ 478 $§ 895
Net income per common share — basic ............ $ 41 § 42 § 34 § 06
Net income per common share — diluted. .......... $§ 40 $ 41 § 34 § .06
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
(In thousands, except per share data)
2004
Total TeVENUES . ..ottt e it $52,432  $58,113  $58,673  $56,451
Net INCOME . . vttt it $ 5500 $ 5550 § 5546 § 6,343
Net income per common share — basic ............ $ 39 $ 40 $ 39 § 45
Net income per common share — diluted. .. ........ $§ 39 § 39 § 38 § 44
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INDEPENDENCE HOLDING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

SCHEDULE 1

SUMMARY OF INVESTMENTS — OTHER THAN INVESTMENTS IN RELATED PARTIES

DECEMBER 31, 2005

Amount
Shown in
. Balance
Type of Investment Cost Value Sheet
‘ (In thousands)
FIXED MATURITIES:
United States Government and Government agencies and authorities $ 87,807 § 85811  § 85,811
GSES(L) © vttt ettt et 67,990 66,302 66,302
States, municipalities and political\i subdivisions .................. 99,556 99,006 99,006
All other corporate securities. . . . ............................. 444,648 431,889 431,889
TOTAL FIXED MATURITIES........................... 700,001 683,008 683,008
EQUITY SECURITIES: “
Industrial, miscellaneous and all oﬁhcr common stocks ............ 3,190 3,522 3,522
Non-redeemable preferred stocks .‘j ............................. 57,959 58,778 58,778
TOTAL EQUITY SECURITIES ............................ 61,149 62,300 62,300
Short-term investments ........... SRR 8,810 8,310 8,810
Securities purchased under agreements to resell .. .................. 44,399 44,399 44,399
Investment partnership interests . . . ‘ ............................. 20,519 20,519 20,519
Operating partnership interests . . ... ‘ ............................. 6,659 6,659 6,659
Policy loans ..................... T 28,861 28,861 28,861
I[nvestment in trust subsidiaries . . . .. RO 1,146 1,146 1,146
Other .......................... e 102 102 102
TOTAL INVESTMENTS ... .. .. i, $871,646  $855804  $855,804

(1) Government-sponsored enterpriseﬂ securities consist of Federal National Mortgage Association mortgage-

backed securities and other fixed maturity securities issued by the Federal Home Loan Mortgage

Corporation and Federal National Mortgage Association.
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SCHEDULE I

INDEPENDENCE HOLDING COMPANY

BALANCE SHEETS
(PARENT COMPANY ONLY)

December 31,
2005 2004
(In thousands)

ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents ...t $ 2621 $§ 589
Other INVEStMIEIES . . .\ttt e ettt e e et et e e 8,191 12,377
Investments in consolidated subsidiaries .......... ... ... i, 212,096 196,780
Investment in AMIC . . ... . e 10,640 5,589
Amounts due from consolidated subsidiaries, net.............. ... ... ... ... .. 1,875 12,772
Taxes recelvable . . ... ... e 3,170 1,666
GoodWill . . 3,503 1,711
Other assets .. ... T R 807 1,040

TOTAL ASSE TS ... e e $242903  $232,524

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable and other liabilities .. ............ ... ... .. . o i $ 5232 § 4722
Income taxes payable ........ ... . . . . .. 421 450
Junior subordinated debt securities .. ... ... 38,146 38,146
Dividends payable ... ... .. e 353 353
TOTAL LIABILITIES . . .. e 44,152 43,671

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:
Preferred stock (none issued) ...... ... .. ... . — —
Common stock, $1.00 par value, 20,000,000 shares authorized; 14,235,066 shares

issued; 14,132,149 and 14,102,766 shares outstanding, respectively ........... 14,235 14,235
Paid-in capital .. ... ... e 78,554 78,033
Accumulated other comprehensive 10SS. .. ... ... ... oo (8,414) (1,976)
Treasury stock, at cost; 102,917 and 132,300 shares, respectively .............. (1,829) (2,376)
Retained @armings. . . .. vt ittt ittt e 116,205 100,937

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY ........ ... ... 198,751 188,853

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY ............... $242903  $232,524

The financial information of Independence Holding Company (Parent Company Only) should be read in
conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto.




REVENUES:
Net investment income

Net realized gains . ... ....
Other income............

EXPENSES:

Interest expense on debt ..
General and administrative expené}es

(Loss) income before income
Income tax (benefit) expense

(Loss) income before equity in net 1ncome of subsidiaries

INDEPENDENCE HOLDING COMPANY

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(PARENT COMPANY ONLY)

I
*i
tax (benefit) expense

Equity in net income of sub51d1anes .................................

Net income

SCHEDULE 11
(Continued)

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)

$ 602 $ 1,735 §$ Lll16
85 — 42
2,896 2,870 1,863
3,583 4,605 3,021
2,994 1,817 604
3,372 2,852 1,822
6,366 4,669 2,426
(2,783) (64) 595
(1,077) . (298) 35
(1,706) 234 560
19,007 22,703 18,033
$17,301  $22,939  $18,593

The financial information of Indcpendcnce Holding Company (Parent Company Only) should be read in
conjunction with the Consolidated Fmanmal Statements and Notes thereto.

87




SCHEDULE II
(Continued)

INDEPENDENCE HOLDING COMPANY

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(PARENT COMPANY ONLY)

Year Ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)

CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY (USED BY) OPERATING
ACTIVITIES:

NEt INCOME . oottt et e e e $ 17,301 $ 22939 § 18,593

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net change in cash from
operating activities:

Equity in net income of subsidiaries........................ (19,007)  (22,705)  (18,033)
Other ... 375 21 (49)
Change in other assets and liabilities . ...................... (1,390) 539 (8,180) v
Net change in cash from operating activities................... (2,721) 794 (7,669)
CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY (USED BY) INVESTING
ACTIVITIES: !
Decrease (increase) in investments in and advances to consolidated
subsidiaries............. P 8,669 (12,314) 5,688
Sale of equity securities ........ ... .o i i — — 260
Net distributions (investments) for other investments............. 4,186 (3,410) (10,318)
Investment in AMIC . ... ... .. ... . (2,430) — (6,823)
Net change in cash from investing activities ................... 10,425 (15,724) (11,193)
CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY (USED BY) FINANCING
ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of treasury stock ...... ... oo (5,624) (5,667) (4,287)
Dividends paid. .. ...t e (701) (746) (387)
Exercise of common stock options ................. ... ... ..... 653 2,054 1,310
Proceeds of junior subordinated debt securities................... — 14,533 21,444
Net change in cash from financing activities. . ................. (5,672) 10,174 18,080
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents................. 2,032 (4,756) (782)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year .................... 589 5,345 6,127
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year ......................... $ 2621 §$ 589 $§ 5,345

The financial information of Independence Holding Company (Parent Company Only) should be read in
conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit

Number

3(3) Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Independence Holding Company.(b)

3(i)(a) Amendment to Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Independence Holding Company, filed
with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on July 29, 2004.(j)

3(ii) By-laws of Independence Holding Company.(a)

10(i) Stock Purchase Agreement — IAC

(iii) (A) Executive Compensation Plans and Agreements

.1 Independence Holding Company 1988 Stock Incentive Plan(c)

Form of Independence Holding Company Stock Option Agreement(d)

Deferred Compensation Agreement(e)

Retirement Benefit Agreements(e)

Amendment No. 1 to Retirement Benefit Agreement(i)

Amendment No. 2 to Retirement Benefit Agreement(l)

Amendment No. 1 to 1988 Stock Incentive Plan(f)

Form of Stock Appreciation Rights Agreement — Director(g)

Independence Holding Company 2003 Stock Incentive Plan(h)

Amendment No. 1 to IHC 2003 Stock Incentive Plan (k)

Form of Restricted Stock Grant Agreement — Director (k)

Form of Restricted Stock Grant Agreement

Deferred Compensation Agreement for Performance Bonus(1)

Deferred Compensation Agreement for Performance Bonus(l)

.10-1 Employment Agreement Dated January 31, 2006 between the Company and Scott M. Wood
10-2 Salary Continuation Agreement Dated January 31, 2006 between the Company and Scott M.

‘1))—-

1T
—_ R = =

Lo awOLERDWLP

1
[ 3]

Wood
A1 Employment Agreement Dated March 6, 2006 between the Company and Jeffrey Smedsrud

21 Subsidiaries of Independence Holding Company, as of March 1, 2006.

23 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and President Pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002

32.1 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

322 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the

(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)
(&)

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to the Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 1987, as amended, of Independence Holding Company.

Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to the Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
1996 of Independence Holding Company.

Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of
Stockholders held on May 23, 1989 of Independence Holding Company.

Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to the Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 1988 of Independence Holding Company.

Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to the Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 1993 of Independence Holding Company.

Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to the Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 1997 of Independence Holding Company.

Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to the Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
1999 of Independence Holding Company.
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(h)
(1)
(i)
(k)
)

Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of
Stockholders held on June 20, 2003 of Independence Holding Company.

Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to the Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2003 of Independence Holding Company.

Such exhibit is incorporated by; reference to the Report on Form 8-K dated July 29, 2004.
Such exhibit is incorporated by‘l} reference to the Report on Form 8-K dated April 11, 2005.
Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to the Report on Form 8-K dated June 17, 2005.

N
Exhibits will be furnished uponljrequest for a reasonable fee.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
Transfer Agent

Please direct communications regarding individual stock records and address changes to: Registrar and
Transfer Company, 10 Commerce Drive, Cranford, NJ 07016 (website: www.rtco.com). You can call our
transfer agent at (800) 368-5948.

Investor Relations

Securities analysts and investors should contact Investor Relations by writing to the Company’s
headquarters or by calling (212) 355-4141 x 3047

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

KPMG LLP, 345 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10154

Corporate Headquarters

Our corporate headquarters are located at 96 Cummings Point Road, Stamford, CT 06502

Corporate Governance

The Company maintains a website at www.independenceholding.com. Visitors to the Company website
can view and print copies of the Company’s SEC filings, including Forms 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K, as soon as
reasonably practicable after those filings are made with the SEC. Copies of the charters for the Audit
Committee and the Compensation Committee, and the Company’s Corporate Governance Guidelines, Code
of Ethics and Code of Conduct are all available through the Company website. Alternatively, shareholders
may obtain, without charge, copies of all of these documents, as well as additional copies of this report, by
writing to Investor Relations at the Company’s headquarters. Please note that the information contained on
Company’s website is not incorporated by reference in, or considered to be a part of, this document.

Management Certifications

The Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have provided certifications to the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) as required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, which certifications are included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2005. As required by NYSE regulations, in June 2003, the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer submitted to the NYSE its annual CEO certification, qualified by Exhibit H thereto, regarding the
Company’s compliance with the NYSE’s corporate governance listing standards. Exhibit H identified certain
inadvertent omissions from the Company’s 2005 proxy statement, as to: (1) name of the Presiding Director in
the non-management executive sessions; (2) the communication method with non-management directors;
and (3) the availability of Corporate Governance Guidelines online and by request. All omissions have been
remedied by adding the information promptly on the Company website and in the 2006 proxy statement.
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:LEADERSHIP INFORMATION

Board of Directors:

Larry R. Graber
President,

Madison National Life
Insurance Company, Inc.

Allan C. Kirkman
Retired

John L. Lahey (Director Nomlnee)
President,
Quinnipiac University

Steven B. Lapin (Vice Chairman)
President and Chief Operating Ofﬁcer,
The Aristotle Corporation

Edward Netter (Chairman)
Chairman,
Geneve Corporation

J
W

Robert P. Ross, Jr. (Not Standing for Reelection)
President,

The Starboard Capital

Management Corporation

James G. Tatum, C.F.A.
Investment Advisor

Roy T.K. Thung
Chief Executive Officer and President,
Independence Holding Company
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Executive Officers:

Roy T.K. Thung
Chief Executive Officer and
President

Teresa A. Herbert
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

David T. Kettig
Senior Vice President, Co-Chief Operating Officer,
Chief Legal Officer and Secretary

Scott M. Wood
Senior Vice President and Co-Chief Operating
Officer

Jeffrey C. Smedsrud
Senior Vice President and
Chief Strategic Development Officer

Larry R. Graber

Senior Vice President — Life and Annuities

Paul E. Bunning
Vice President and Controller

Alex Giordano
Vice President and
Chief Marketing Officer

Paul R. Janerico
Vice President — Internal Audit

Mark A. Musser
Vice President — Strategic Business Development

Brian R. Schlier
Vice President — Taxation

Henry B. Spencer
Vice President — Investments

C. Winfield Swarr
Vice President and
Chief Underwriting Officer







